
 

Please note: Electronic copies of this agenda and its related papers  
are available via the Council’s website www.maldon.gov.uk. 

APOLOGIES Committee Services  DIRECTOR OF STRATEGY, 
PERFORMANCE AND 
GOVERNANCE 
Paul Dodson  

Email: Committee.clerk@maldon.gov.uk  

    

   7 September 2022 

Dear Councillor 

 
You are summoned to attend the meeting of the; 
 

STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

 

on THURSDAY 15 SEPTEMBER 2022 at 7.30 pm 

 

in the Council Chamber, Maldon District Council Offices, Princes Road, Maldon. 

 
Please Note: All meetings will continue to be live streamed on the Council’s YouTube channel for 
those wishing to observe remotely.  Public participants wishing to speak remotely at a meeting can 
continue to do so via Microsoft Teams. 
 
To register your request to speak please submit a Public Access form (to be submitted by 12noon 
on the working day before the Committee meeting).  All requests will be considered on a first-come, 
first-served basis. 
 
A copy of the agenda is attached. 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Director of Strategy, Performance and Governance 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP:  

CHAIRMAN Councillor S White 

VICE-CHAIRMAN Councillor M F L Durham, CC 

COUNCILLORS M G Bassenger 
Mrs P A Channer 
A S Fluker 
K M H Lagan 
N G F Shaughnessy 
R H Siddall 
W Stamp, CC 
C Swain 
Mrs M E Thompson 

Unrestricted Document Pack

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/
https://www.maldon.gov.uk/watchlive
https://forms.office.com/Pages/ResponsePage.aspx?id=VH_RilQmuUumwvI0YlcqFJCd4KzoXBdDs1brNZU39TJUOVpCU0xQVlRWQlhHVU8wVThIMU03UjFLSC4u


 

Page 2 

For further information please see the Council's website. 

AGENDA 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

THURSDAY 15 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
1. Chairman's Notices   
 
2. Apologies for Absence   
 
3. Minutes of the Last meeting  (Pages 5 - 14) 
 
 To consider the Minutes of the Strategy and Resources Committee held on 14 July 

2022 (copy enclosed). 
 

4. Disclosure of Interest   
 
 To disclose the existence and nature of any Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, Other 

Registrable interests and Non-Registrable Interests relating to items of business on 
the agenda having regard to paragraph 9 and Appendix B of the Code of Conduct for 
Members.  
 
(Members are reminded that they are also required to disclose any such interests as 
soon as they become aware should the need arise throughout the meeting).  
 

5. Public Participation   
 
 To receive the views of members of the public, of which prior notification in writing has 

been received (no later than noon on the Tuesday prior to the day of the meeting).  
 
Should you wish to submit a question please complete the online form at: 
www.maldon.gov.uk/publicparticipation. 
 

6. Treasury Outturn 2021 / 22  (Pages 15 - 28) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of Resources, (copy enclosed). 

 
7. Budgetary Control 2022 / 23  (Pages 29 - 34) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of Resources, (copy enclosed). 

 
8. Fees and Charges Policy 2023 - 24  (Pages 35 - 40) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of Resources, (copy enclosed). 

 
9. Supplementary Estimates, Virements, Procurement Exemptions and Use of 

Reserves  (Pages 41 - 44) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of Resources, (copy enclosed). 

 
10. Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme  (Pages 45 - 54) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of Resources, (copy enclosed). 

 

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/
http://www.maldon.gov.uk/publicparticipation


Page 3 

For further information please see the Council's website. 

11. Street Naming and Numbering Policy  (Pages 55 - 72) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of Resources, (copy enclosed). 

 
12. Maldon District Council Homelessness and Housing Strategy Extension  (Pages 

73 - 142) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of Service Delivery, (copy enclosed). 

 
13. Any other items of business that the Chairman of the Committee decides are 

urgent   
 
14. Exclusion of the Public and Press   
 
 To resolve that under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public 

be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act, and that this satisfies the public interest test. 
 

15. Community Led Housing in Maldon  (Pages 143 - 170) 
 
 To consider the report of the Director of service Delivery, (copy enclosed). 

 
 

 
 

NOTICES 
 
Recording of Meeting 
Please note that the Council will be recording and publishing on the Council’s website any 
part of this meeting held in open session.   
 
Fire 
In the event of a fire, a siren will sound.  Please use the fire exits marked with the green 
running man.  The fire assembly point is outside the main entrance to the Council Offices.  
Please gather there and await further instruction. 
 
Health and Safety 
Please be advised of the different levels of flooring within the Council Chamber.  There are 
steps behind the main horseshoe as well as to the side of the room. 
 
Closed-Circuit Televisions (CCTV) 
Meetings held in the Council Chamber are being monitored and recorded by CCTV. 
 

Lift Access 
Lift access to the Council Chamber is currently unavailable.  Please contact 
committee.clerk@maldon.gov.uk for any queries. 

 
 

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/
mailto:committee.clerk@maldon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



MINUTES of 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
14 JULY 2022 

PRESENT 

Chairman Councillor S White 

Vice-Chairman Councillor M F L Durham, CC 

Councillors M G Bassenger, A S Fluker, K M H Lagan,  
N G F Shaughnessy, R H Siddall, W Stamp CC, C Swain and 
Mrs M E Thompson 

Substitute Member Councillor B B Heubner 

158. CHAIRMAN'S NOTICES

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting and went through some general
housekeeping arrangements for the meeting.

159. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

An apology for absence was received from Councillor Mrs P A Channer and in
accordance with notice duly given, Councillor B B Heubner was attending as a
substitute for Councillor Mrs Channer.

160. MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING

RESOLVED

(i) That the Minutes of the Strategy and Resources Committee held on 25 May
2022 be received.

Minute 4 – Disclosure of Absence 
Councillor W Stamp advised that reference to Mrs J L Fleming in this agenda item 
should actually be her.  The Chairman advised that this would be amended. 

RESOLVED 

(ii) That subject to the above amendment, the Minutes of the Strategy and
Resources Committee held on 25 May 2022 be approved.

161. DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST

Councillors M F L Durham and W Stamp declared non-pecuniary interested as a
Member of Essex County Council.

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Councillor A S Fluker declared a non-pecuniary interest as a Member of Southminster 
Parish Council. 

162. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

No requests had been received.

163. SUPPLEMENTARY ESTIMATES, VIREMENTS, PROCUREMENT EXEMPTIONS
AND USE OF RESERVES

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Resources reporting Virements
and Supplementary Estimates agreed under delegated powers.  The report also
informed on procurement exemptions granted and the use of reserves.

It was noted that there were no virements or use of reserves granted during this period.
The report detailed one supplementary estimate and two procurement exemptions
which had been agreed and these were noted.

RESOLVED

(i) that the supplementary estimate as set out in paragraph 3.4.1 of the report be
noted.

(ii) that the procurement exemptions as set out in paragraph 3.5.1 of the report be
noted.

164. PROVISIONAL OUTTURN

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Resources presenting the
provisional Outturn position for the year ended 31 March 2022.  Movements in relation
to the Council’s General Fund, Earmarked Reserves and Capital Commitments as 31
March 2022 were also detailed.

It was noted that the draft Statement of Accounts was due to be published by 31 July
2022 and the audit of this was due to conclude in November, therefore the figures
detailed in the outturn report were provisional as they were subject to change.  The
report provided detailed information regarding:

 Provisional Outturn – The report detailed budget variances which included
Covid-19 and other budgets.  Appendix 1 detailed movement in Earmarked
Reserves.  It was noted that the pandemic had financially impacted a number of
areas  A detailed breakdown of the variances was provided In Appendix 3.

 General Fund Balance - It was reported that this would remain above the
minimum recommended level of £2.6m.

 Earmarked Reserves - Appendix 1 to the report provided a breakdown of
Earmarked Reserves and it was noted that there had been a net decrease of
£1.0m from 1 April 2021.  Appendix 2 detailed a number of revenue
commitments carried forward to spending 2022 / 23.

 Capital Commitments – The report highlighted a number of capital projects that
were still ongoing and sought approval to carry these over into 2022 / 23.

Page 6



RESOLVED 

(i) That the provisional outturn position for the 2021 / 22 financial year be noted;

(ii) That the movement in Earmarked Reserves as set out in Appendix 1 to the
report be approved;

(iii) That Revenue Commitments set out in Appendix 2 to the report be approved to
be brought forward to 2022 / 23;

(iv) That the Capital Commitments set out in the report roll forwards into 2022 / 23
be approved.

165. UK SHARED PROSPERITY AND LEVELLING UP FUNDING UPDATE

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Strategy, Performance and
Governance updating Members on the progress of the Council’s UK Shared Prosperity
and Levelling Up funding opportunities.

Levelling Up Fund (LUF):
An addendum to the report was circulated prior to the meeting and provided Members
with further information in relation to the LUF.  Three recommendations to replace
recommendation (i) as detailed in the report were set out on the addendum.

The Committee received a presentation from the Strategy, Policy and Communications
Manager which outlined a number of areas including background to the LUF, how it
was to be delivered, the application process and investment priorities.  Members were
reminded that Maldon had recently been upgraded to Category 1 and the details of this
change were explained.  The LUF application process was complex with a high level of
detail that the Government expected to be provided when considering each stage.

A lengthy debate ensued and in response to a number of comments and questions
raised Officers provided Members with additional information which included:

 Officers had spent a large amount of time working on the contingency figure
and 20% was felt to be sufficient to put into the bid.

 A letter of support from Maldon Town Council could be submitted as part of the
process and if they were minded to Officers could make appropriate
arrangements outside of the meeting.

 The costs had been arrived at through detailed work with architects and had
been through independent economic appraisal.

 Full details, surveys etc. would be carried out if approval for the spend was
approved by Members.

 The Council had to overwrite the cost of any underruns, but a quantity surveyor
would be employed to drive value and ensure there was as little wastage from
the construction stage as possible.

 Whilst there were other locations that were also worthy of further investment
there had to be a degree of policy or strategy approval in place.  Without the
Central Area Master Plan (CAMP) the bid could not have been progressed in
six weeks.  Officers felt the proposed options gave the Council the best chance
of gaining funding.

 Planning permission was still required along with a lot of work on the final
design.

Page 7



 Under the terms of the LUF dredging could not be included as this was
considered a maintenance cost.  If Maldon was successful, this may provide
opportunity for discussions with barge owners and Heritage Harbour
Association and may open other opportunities to fund a more regular dredging
programme in the future.

Members commended Officers on the work they had done over a very short period of 
time to bring this proposal together.   

It was requested that recommendation (iv) be amended to include reference to the LUF 
and would be reporting to the Corporate Projects Working Group.  This was agreed. 

Councillor A S Fluker proposed that the recommendations, as amended be agreed and 
requested that Officers consider doing a soil search, commenting that he did not want 
this as a further recommendation.  This was duly seconded. 

In accordance with Procedure Rule No. 13 (3) Councillor K M H Lagan requested a 
recorded vote.  He subsequently advised he was happy to have his dissent recorded. 

Councillor Fluker raised a Point or Order and asked for a point of clarity in respect of 
Procedure Rule 4, advising that he had reviewed the Minutes of the Strategy and 
Resources Committee held on 25 May 2022 regarding the UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
and could see them mentioning the Maldon Hythe Quay.  Councillor Fluker advised he 
was happy for the Officer to confirm this outside of the meeting. 

The Chairman put the proposal including bringing forward updates to the Corporate 
Projects Working Group.  This was duly agreed.  Councillor Lagan asked that his 
dissent be noted. 

UK Shared Prosperity Fund 
It was noted that since the last meeting of the Committee the allocated preparatory 
fund had been utilized to support the development of the Council’s Investment Plan 
and capacity consultants had been appointed. 

The Committee received a presentation from the Lead Specialist: Prosperity providing 
detailed information on the Fund and work being undertaken. 

In response to comments, Members were advised by the Officer that initially 42 
interventions had been identified and these were reported to the Strategy and 
Resources Committee on 25 May 2022 along with further updates sent to Members via 
email during May and June 2022.  The number had since been reduced and although it 
was acknowledged this was ambitious it was hoped that some such as the Burnham-
on-Crouch pontoon would be brought forward early.  It was confirmed that projects 
would be prioritised and any changes would be done in consultation with the local 
partnership group. 

The Chairman thanked both Officers for their informative presentations. 

RESOLVED 

(i) that the progress made at compiling an application to the Government’s
Levelling-Up Fund Round 2 to invest in the Maldon Historic Waterfront Revival
Programme be noted;

(ii) That Members agree to commit the Council’s land and property assets of Hythe
Quay, the former River Bailiff Hut and the former River Bailiff Classroom, as a
match-contribution to the application;

Page 8



(iii) that the release of £49,200 from the Levelling-Up Fund Capacity Grant 2022 /
23 to be spent on advancing the Maldon Historic Waterfront Revival
Programme’s planning application between July and September 2022 be
approved.

(iv) That Members agree to commit 10% of the Council’s revenue allocation for
years two and three of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund to develop collaborative
interventions with the North Essex Economic Board where feasible and
appropriate;

(v) That Members agree to commit 10% of the Council’s revenue allocation for the
duration of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund to develop collaborative
interventions to address health inequalities with the Mid Essex Alliance where
feasible and appropriate;

(vi) That Members note the aggressive pace of work required to submit the
Council’s UK Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan and delegate the
authority to the Corporate Leadership Team for development and submission in
line with our corporate strategies and bring forward new opportunities to be
included.  Members will be provided with a written fortnightly update along with
the Corporate Projects Working Group in respect of both the LUF and UK
Shared Prosperity Fund.

166. LEAD SPECIALIST PROSPERITY RESOURCE OPTIONS

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Strategy, Performance and
Governance seeking Members’ support to extend the Lead Specialist Prosperity role to
enable the Council to continue delivering the work of the UK Shared Prosperity Fund
(UKSPF) and Levelling Up Fund 2 (LUF).

The report provided background information regarding the role which had commented
on 4 October 2021, including the development of the role to coordinate the Council’s
response the UKSPF and LUF.  As both funds presented a significant opportunity for
the District it was reported that the Council should consider investing resources to
make these opportunities successful.

Councillor M F L Durham supported this and proposed that the recommendations as
set out in the report be agreed.  This proposal was duly seconded.

Councillor R H Siddall spoke regarding making the role permanent, the security this
would give and how the resource would be able to focus more on projects and aspects
for the Council.  He then proposed that the position be make permanent now.  This
proposal was duly seconded.

In response to questions regarding funding, the Director of Resources advised that any
additional monies should be considered as part of the growth bids going forward
alongside other budget pressures coming forward at that time.  It was noted that the
funding would only be available for one year and the Council would have to fund the
post after this.

Members discussed the proposals and Councillor Siddall provided some further point
of clarification regarding his.

The Chairman then put the proposal in the name of Councillor Durham and following a
vote being taken this was duly agreed.

Page 9



RESOLVED 

(i) That Members support the recommendation of an initial nine-month extension
to the existing Lead Specialist Prosperity contract, retaining current resource
until October 2023;

(ii) That Members note that if appropriate, this role will be considered and included
in the Strategy, Performance and Governance Directorate 2023-2024 Growth
Bid as a permanent addition to the Council’s workforce structure.

167. APPROVAL IN PRINCIPLE TO APPLY FOR GRANT FUNDING FOR WOODFIELD
COTTAGES, HEYBRIDGE THROUGH HISTORIC ENGLAND'S PARTNERSHIP
SCHEMES IN CONSERVATION AREAS (PSICA)

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery seeking 
approval to apply for grant funding through Historic England’s Partnership Schemes in 
Conservations Areas (PSiCA) to support the restoration of Woodfield Cottages, 
Heybridge. 

Members received a detailed presentation from the Specialist: Conservation and 
Heritage which outlined how the Council had been encouraged by Historic England 
(HE) to apply for PSiCA funding to improve the condition and appearance of the 
Woodfield Cottages Conservation Area in Heybridge and the assessment undertaken 
by the Council in response to this.  Further information regarding Woodfield Cottages 
and the works required was set out the report.  Appendix 1 detailed the estimated cost 
of all enhancement opportunities to individual cottages identified in the Conservation 
Area Character Statement.  It was noted that the Woodfield Cottages Conservation 
Area was on the Council’s Heritage at Risk Register. 

During the debate that ensued and in response to questions raised the Officer provided 
the following clarifications: 

 Although the proposal was not without precedent since 2016 when the
Council’s annual historic buildings budget was disbanded no financial
assistance had been provided to owners of the cottages.  It was noted that
works related not only to repairs but the sustainability of the building stock.  If
approved the grant funding would require a delivery plan with clear criteria of
what was eligible.

 The priority level of the cottages was determined following the prominences of
the cottages, degree of difference the improvements would make and whether
the owners had expressed an interest in applying for grant funding if it became
available.  Financial hardship of the residents living in a cottage had not been
considered.

The Chairman moved the recommendations as set out in the report.  There being an 
equality of votes she used her casting vote against the proposal advising she had 
concern regarding funding some privately owned houses and not others. 

The Chairman thanked the Officer for his work and hoped the proposal would come 
forward in a different format where house owners put more into the scheme and tax 
payers and the rest of the district were not funding privately owned homes. 

RESOLVED that the request to apply for Partnership Schemes Partnership Schemes 
in Conservation Areas funding from Historic England to support the restoration of 
Woodfield Cottages, Heybridge and related match funding is not agreed. 

Page 10



168. MALDON DISTRICT COUNCIL ALLOCATIONS POLICY

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery seeking
approval to implement amendments made to the Gateway to Homechoice Allocations
Policy (the Policy) attached as Appendix 1 to the report.

Members were advised that within the Policy clarification had been made to wording
around Armed Forces to incorporate the term ‘Armed Forces of the Crown’.  Appendix
2 to the report provided a summary log of all other minor clarifications and changes
made.  These changes were also highlighted in the report.

In response to a question regarding whether authorities had sufficient accommodation
to avoid the need for people to be placed in other authorities areas, it was agreed that
the Lead Specialist: Community would provide a response outside of the meeting.

RESOLVED that the revised Allocations Policy (attached as Appendix 1 to the report)
be adopted.

169. CUSTOMER STRATEGY - KEY PRINCIPLES

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery seeking
endorsement of the key principles to enable the development of a new Customer
Strategy.

The report detailed the Customer Strategy agreed by the Council in 2016 and how a
move to Digital by default was at the core of the Strategy.  It was noted that due to the
following the Council’s transformation project in 2018 and then the pandemic which
required staff to work from home the Council had achieved high levels of channel shift.
However it was essential that any future Customer Strategy had a change in emphasis
from delivering channel shift to one of maintaining and building on the channel shift that
had been achieved, with a greater emphasis on customer who may be digitally
excluded.

The report set out eight principles from the original Customer Strategy, however
Officers were proposing a strong focus to enable the Council to explore the most
effective options for delivering customer service to residents and businesses.

Officers responded to comments raised by Members, providing various updates
including the following information:

 Members were advised of the current process in place for reaching customers,
especially those identified as vulnerable.  Officers advised that the Council was
looking to work in partnership with Parish and Town Councils to assist with
identifying residents who may need additional support.

 The Council was working with partners and the Community Voluntary Service
regarding digital inclusion and this included a weekly drop in service.  This
provided a number of benefits to residents including allowing them access
digital services.

 The Council was developing a new website which would allow greater flexibility
in terms of content and layout.  Members were advised that this was an ongoing
project and a workshop would be organised for all Members.

Page 11



 As a result of the pandemic there had been an acceleration in the shift to self-
serve in terms of transactions and it was recognised that some of these may
shift back to for example, face to face.  However, as part of the new Strategy
options would be brought back to Members for consideration along with facts
and figures and the impact each would have such as a need to increase
resources.

RESOLVED that the proposed Key Principles detailed at paragraphs 4.1.1 – 4.1.9 of 
the report to inform a full Customer Strategy be noted. 

170. PLANNING POLICY WORKING GROUP ANNUAL REPORT 2021 / 22

The Committee considered the report of the Chairman of the Planning Policy Working
Group providing Members with an update on the work carried out by the Planning
Policy Working Group during 2021 / 22.

The report reminded Members of the Council’s decision to review its Local
Development Plan and that to support this work in March 2021 it established a
Planning Policy Working Group.  The Working Groups Terms of Reference were
detailed in the report.

A table within the report set out the work that the Working Group had carried out during
2021 / 22.  It was noted that this work was assisting in the process of moving forward
with the Local Development Plan Review.

During the debate and in response to questions the Strategic Policies and
Communications Manager clarified that the report reflected on the work that had been
undertaken and not future work.  It was noted that all Members were now invited to
Working Groups.  The Officer provided Members on the reasons behind a recent
meeting of the Working Group having to be cancelled and he explained that a forward
plan would be brought to the next meeting to help provide more structure to the
Working Group in the future.

RESOLVED that the contents of the report be noted.

171. ANY OTHER ITEMS OF BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMITTEE
DECIDES ARE URGENT

The Chairman of the Committee advised that she had agreed for an urgent item of
business to be brought forward to provide an update on the Burnham-on-Crouch
pontoon.  She handed over to the Director of Service Delivery who provided the
following short statement.

“I can confirm the pontoon was identified for replacement and £60K sum was included
within estimates for this year.

Unfortunately, in February the pontoon was damaged by storm Eunice resulting in its
premature closure.

Officers have reviewed the necessary works to replace the pontoon and identified
additional issues to resolve including

 The need to replace the existing steel locating piles

 The need to increase the physical size of the pontoon to cope with the public
use (not just for boats landing alongside)

Page 12



 The need to resolve structural movement (not connected to storm Eunice) in the
sea wall (old steps under the jetty) with the owners (Environment Agency).

The additional work identified will exceed the available budget, other costs including 
the removal and disposal of the existing jetty were not included in the budget estimate 
for its replacement and add to cost pressures.  Material prices have also increased 
dramatically since the estimate was prepared. 

To resolve the matter the replacement of the pontoon has been included within Maldon 
District Council’s UK Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF) investment plan in the sum of 
£240k.  As UKSPF is a guaranteed allocation, this provides assurance that works can 
commence.  However, due to the funding profile provided by Gov, this may not be until 
2023/2024 and completion in 2024/2025 when the majority of our funding is provided 

Finally, whist the storm ended the use of the pontoon prematurely it is also recognised 
a more robust maintenance programme will be needed to maximise the life of any 
replacement.  The council has been undertaking statutory safety inspections but will 
now fully cost a plan for Members consideration. 

An options paper will be presented to Members in due course for consideration relating 
to this project.” 

172. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

RESOLVED that under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the grounds that
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of
Part 1of Schedule 12A to the Act, and that this satisfies the public interest test.

173. BURNHAM-ON-CROUCH - LONG LEASE AGREEMENT

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery seeking
Members’ agreement of a new 99 year lease for an electricity substation.

The report outlined a request received for a new electricity substation on land at
Burnham-on-Crouch as identified in Appendix 1 to the report.

RESOLVED

(i) That the Council agrees a new lease for 99 years;

(ii) That the Director of Service Delivery be given delegated authority to agree the
terms of the lease in consultation with the Legal Services Specialist.

174. SUPPLEMENTARY ESTIMATE REQUEST - SERVICE DELIVERY

The Committee considered the report of the Director of Service Delivery seeking
Members’ approval for the provision of additional funding to finance short term staffing
capacity issues within the Service Delivery directorate as well as making permanent
improvements to customer access to the related team.

The report provided detailed background to the request and a copy of a presentation
received by the Performance, Governance and Audit Committee at its last meeting was

Page 13



attached as Appendix 1 to the report.  Specific roles identified and related costs were 
set out in Appendix 2.  It was noted that a future report would be brought to Members in 
September 2022 on future measures to ensure the Service was resilient. 

Following the debate that following Officers provided Members with additional 
information and responded to questions raised.  The Director of Resources highlighted 
the Council’s current financial position and existing requirement to use reserves. 

Councillor A S Fluker proposed that the Committee accept the recommendations as set 
out in the report.  This was duly agreed. 

RESOLVED 

(i) That Members approve a supplementary estimate in the sum of £111,500 for an
8-month period (August 2022 - March 2023 inclusive) to fund additional
identified resources to support service delivery as set out in the report;

(ii) That Members approve the addition of two Technical Support Officers to the
establishment at an ongoing cost of £79,800 per annum;

(iii) That Members approve a sum of £12,000 to fund ecology expertise associated
with the service identified;

(iv) That Officers continue to update the Performance, Governance and Audit
Committee on service performance.

There being no other items of business the Chairman closed the meeting at 10.20 pm. 

S WHITE 
CHAIRMAN 

Page 14



 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

to 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
15 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
TREASURY OUTTURN 2021 / 22 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
 To report on the Council’s investment activity for the financial year of 2021 / 22 in 1.1

accordance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy Treasury 
Management Code (CIPFA’s TM Code) and the Council’s Treasury Management 
Policy and Treasury Management Practices (TMPs). 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Members review the Treasury Outturn report for compliance purposes. 

 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

 
 The Council has adopted the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 3.1

Accountancy’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice (the 
CIPFA Code) which requires that authorities report on the performance of the 
treasury management function at least twice yearly (mid-year and at year end). 
 

 The Council’s Treasury Management Strategy for 2021 / 22 was presented to the 3.2
Strategy and Resources Committee on 28 January 2021 and subsequently approved 
by the Council on 23 February 2021.  

 
 During 2021 / 22, the Council had an average of £30.4m invested and was therefore 3.3

exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect 
of changing interest rates.  This report covers treasury activity and the associated 
monitoring and control of risk.  
 

 The 2017 Prudential Code includes a requirement for local authorities to provide a 3.4
Capital Strategy, a summary document approved by the Council covering capital 
expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-treasury investments.  The 
Councils Capital Strategy, complying with CIPFA’s requirement, was approved by the 
Council on 24 February 2022.  
 

 External Context  3.5
 
3.5.1 The Council currently engages Arlingclose to provide treasury management 

consultancy and advice services.  Attached at APPENDIX 1 is information prepared 
by Arlingclose providing an overview of the external economic environment. 

 
  

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



 Local context  3.6

 
3.6.1 The Council is currently debt-free and its capital expenditure did not include 

borrowing during 2021 / 22.  However, as investment becomes necessary for 
commercial projects, additional funds will be required, and borrowing may then be 
needed.  Investments are forecast to fall, as capital receipts are used to finance 
capital expenditure and reserves are used to finance any revenue budget gaps. 
 

3.6.2 The consultation titled “Future Lending Terms”, which closed in July 2020, invited 
local authorities and key stakeholders to contribute to developing a system whereby 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) loans can be made available at improved margins 
to support qualifying projects.  Proposals include: 

(i) allowing authorities that are not involved in “debt for yield” activity to borrow at 
lower rates,  

(ii) stopping local authorities using PWLB loans to buy commercial assets 
primarily for yield without impeding their ability to pursue their core policy 
objectives of service delivery, housing and regeneration, and  

(iii) the possibility of slowing, or stopping, individual authorities from borrowing 
large sums in specific circumstances. 

 
3.6.3 The outcome of the consultation resulted in guidance being circulated by HM 

Treasury in August 2021 bringing the above proposals into force and being 
implemented for all PWLB loans from 26 November 2020. 

  
 Investment Activity (April 2021 – March 2022) 3.7

 
3.7.1 Both the CIPFA Code and government guidance require the Council to invest its 

funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its treasury 
investments before seeking the optimum rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s 
objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and 
return, minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults, and the risk of receiving 
unsuitably low investment returns. 

 
3.7.2 The Council holds significant invested funds, representing income received in 

advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves held.  Over the period from April 
2021 to March 2022, the level of investments held by the Council has seen an 
increase of £14,460,000 with a total of investments held on 31 March 2022 of 
£35,279,000.  
 

3.7.3 These are comprised of: 

 
Balance on 
31/03/2021 

£000 

Movement 
£000 

Balance on 
31/03/2022

£000 

Short term Investments  

Banks and 
Building societies    

2,819 2,960 5,779 

Money Market 
Funds  

3,000 7,500 10,500 

Certificates of 
Deposit 

0 0 0 

Local Authorities 10,000 4,000 14,000 

Page 16



 
Balance on 
31/03/2021 

£000 

Movement 
£000 

Balance on 
31/03/2022

£000 

Long Term 
Investments  

5,000* 0 5,000* 

TOTAL  20,819 14,460 35,279 

*The 31/3/2022 Balance Sheet figure for long-term investments is recorded at fair 
value, £5,176. 

 
3.7.4 Over a relatively short period, following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the 

global economic fallout was sharp and large.  Market reaction was extreme with large 
falls in equities, corporate bond markets and, to some extent, real estate.  This 
reaction was a result of the lockdown-induced paralysis and the uncharted 
challenges for governments, businesses and individuals.  The Council has £3m 
invested in the CCLA (Churches, Charities and Local Authorities) Local Authorities 
Property Fund and £2m in the Ninety One (previously Investec) Diversified Income 
Fund, which is a multi-asset fund.  The falls in the capital values of the underlying 
assets were reflected in 31 March 2022 valuations of both funds.  

 
3.7.5 The Council is using the alternative Fair Value through Profit and Loss (FVPL) 

accounting and must defer the funds’ fair value gains and losses to the Financial 
Instruments Adjustment Account (which is an unusable reserve until 2023 / 24) and 
reflected in the movement in reserves statement. 

 
3.7.6 The Council’s £5m of externally managed pooled and property funds generated a 

total income return of £177,000 during 2021 / 22.  Because these funds have no 
defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a notice period, their 
performance and continued suitability in meeting the Council’s investment objectives 
are regularly reviewed.  Strategic fund investments are made in the knowledge that 
capital values will move both up and down on months, quarters and even years; but 
with the confidence that over a three to five-year period total returns will exceed cash 
interest rates.  In the light of their performance over the medium / long-term and the 
Council’s latest cash flow forecasts, investment in these funds has been maintained. 

 
3.7.7 Coronavirus:  

 
3.7.7.1 During 2021 / 22 Government imposed restrictions were still in place to although they 

were gradually phased out. The ongoing reduction in income to the Council, 
businesses and other organisations, meant the Government continued issuing grant 
payments for Maldon District Council (MDC) to distribute in support of these 
organisations.  
 

3.7.7.2 For example, £6.1m of grants were received by MDC during 2021 / 22 for businesses 
coping with restrictions and restarting as restrictions were lifted.  These funds were 
stored with Money Market Funds and Local Authorities then transferred to 
businesses throughout the following few months.  Various other grants followed for 
distribution of financial assistance to businesses, residents, and the Council itself to 
mitigate financial hardship encountered due to Government restrictions. 
 

 Performance – Budgeted Income and Outturn 3.8
 
3.8.1 Below are the average income returns obtained on the Authority’s investments: 

 Short Term investments - 0.09%; 

 Investments in the Ninety One Diversified Income fund – 3.48%; 

Page 17



 Investment in the Property Fund – 3.58%; 

 All investments – 0.67%. 
 

3.8.2 The Authority’s budgeted investment income for the year was £132,900.  The actual 
investment income for the year was £200,400.  This income overachievement was 
due to interest rates beginning to recover as the effects of the pandemic began to 
ease throughout the financial year. 
 

 Compliance with Prudential Indicators and Treasury Management Strategy 3.9
 
3.9.1 All Prudential Indicators for 2021 / 22, have been complied with to date, except for 

some breached bank limits that occurred on the Council’s current account, disclosed 
below. 
 
Table 2 – Counterparty Limit Breaches 
 

Date in 
Excess 

Amount in 
Excess 

Reason 
Date 

Resolved 
How Resolved 

01/10/2021 £4,105,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after 
large Council Tax 
receipts which were not 
reinvested until next 
working day. 

04/10/21 

£2m invested in 
Nationwide 
Building Society 
and £2.5m 
invested in Debt 
Management 
Office (DMO). 

01/11/2021 £3,145,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after 
large Council Tax 
receipts which were not 
reinvested until 02/11. 

02/11/2021 

£2.5m invested 
in Federated 
money market 
fund & £2.0m 
invested in DMO. 

16/11/2021 
to 
18/11/2021 

£13,000 to 
£130,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after no 
payments arranged until 
later in the week. 

19/11/21 
£132k Pensions 
payment. 

01/12/2021 £4,552,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after 
large Council Tax 
receipts which were not 
reinvested until 02/12. 

02/12/2021 

£1m invested in 
Federated 
money market 
fund & £4m 
invested in DMO. 

08/12/21 to 
09/12/21 

£124,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after no 
payments arranged this 
week. 

10/12/21 
£2m invested in  
DMO 

15/12/21 £250,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after no 
payments arranged this 
week. 

16/12/21 
£1m invested in  
money market 
fund 

04/01/2022 
to 
05/01/2022 

£4,467,000 
to 

£2,145,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after 
large Council Tax 

06/01/22 
£4.5m invested 
in MMF’s & £1m 
invested in DMO. 

Page 18



Date in 
Excess 

Amount in 
Excess 

Reason 
Date 

Resolved 
How Resolved 

receipts which were not 
reinvested until 06/01. 

11/01/2022 £570,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after 
low amount in payments 
arranged this week. 

12/01/22 
£2m invested in 
DMO. 

04/02/2022 £74,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after 
low amount in payments 
arranged this week. 

07/02/22 
£1m invested in 
money market 
fund. 

15/02/2022 £337,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after 
low amount in payments 
arranged this week. 

16/02/22 
£1m invested in 
money market 
fund. 

01/03/2022 £548,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after 
Council Tax receipts 
which were not 
reinvested until 02/03 

02/03/22 
£1.5m invested 
in money market 
fund. 

10/03/2022 260,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after 
£0.9m in unanticipated 
grants were received. 

11/03/22 
£1.5m invested 
in money market 
fund. 

17/03/2022 
to 
18/03/2022 

£4,000 to 
£221,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after 
£0.6m in unanticipated 
grants were received. 

21/03/22 
Payments made 
of £1.8m.  

30/03/2022 £1,537,000 

Net balance exceeded 
the £2m bank 
counterparty limit after 
investment returned and 
not reinvested until the 
next day. 

31/03/22 
£2m invested in 
money market 
fund. 

 
3.9.2 To reduce the occurrence of these breaches in 2022 / 23 the finance team has added 

additional bank account checks and bank balance alerts so that money can be 
moved in a more timely way to ensure compliance.  The Council has also approved 
higher Counterparty limits for the bank account (from £2m to £3m) and Money 
Market Funds (£12m to £20m) effective from 1 April 2022 to make compliance more 
manageable. 

 
3.9.3 APPENDIX 2 reports on the Council’s compliance with Prudential Indicators. 

 
3.9.4 The Section 151 Officer reports that all treasury management activities undertaken 

during the second half of the year in review complied fully with the CIPFA Code of 
Practice and the Authority’s approved Treasury Management Strategy, the above 
items excepted.  
 

Page 19



 Outlook for 2022 / 23 (Summary of advice from Arlingclose.)  3.10
 

 The global economy has entered a higher inflationary phase, driven by a 
combination of resurgent demand and supply bottlenecks in goods and 
energy markets.  Tighter labour markets have prompted concerns about 
wage-driven inflation, leading central banks to tighten policy to ensure 
inflation expectations remain anchored. 

 

 The invasion of Ukraine is exacerbating the commodity price pressures facing 
businesses and consumers and will push inflation above prior expectations.  
The sanctions on Russia have prompted a rise in various commodity prices.  
 
In the UK, the Ofgem price cap has risen around 50% in April and a further 
rise is due in October.  (We now know that the UK energy regulator has 
increased the energy price cap by 80%.)  

 

 The labour market appears tight despite steady employment levels due to a 
smaller available labour pool.  Wage growth is running above pre-COVID 
levels and will be a contributory factor to sustained above-target inflation this 
year, although real wage growth (i.e. wage growth minus inflation) is unlikely 
for most workers and this will weigh on consumers’ disposable income, 
ultimately leading to slower growth and even recessionary fears. 

 
3.10.1 The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) will raise Bank Rate further to dampen 

aggregate demand and reduce the risk of sustained higher inflation.  Markets have 
priced in a significant rise in Bank Rate, but Arlingclose believes the MPC will be 
more cautious given the soft medium-term outlook. 

 

4. CONCLUSION 

 
 In compliance with the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice this report 4.1

provides Members with a summary of the treasury management activity for the 
financial year of 2021 / 22.  As indicated in this report, none of the Prudential 
Indicators have been breached and a prudent approach has been taken in relation to 
investment activity with priority being given to security and liquidity over yield. 

 

5. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 

 
5.1 The report links to the Maldon District Council’s Strategic Theme of Effective use of 

Financial Resources.  
 

6. IMPLICATIONS 

 
(i) Impact on Customers – None directly. 

(ii) Impact on Equalities – None identified. 

(iii) Impact on Risk – This report is mainly about managing credit risk.  A prudent 
approach continues to be taken in relation to investment activity with priority 
being given to security and liquidity over yield.  

(iv) Impact on Resources (financial) – Income exceeded the Council’s 
budgeted figure (£132,900) by £67,500 in 2021 / 22.   

Page 20



(v) Impact on Resources (human) - None directly. 

(vi) Impact on the Environment – None. 
 

(vii) Impact on Strengthening Communities – None. 
 
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Enquiries to: Lance Porteous, Lead Finance Specialist. 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1 

External Context 
 
Economic background: The continuing economic recovery from coronavirus pandemic, 
together with the war in Ukraine, higher inflation, and higher interest rates were major 
issues over the period.   

Bank Rate was 0.1% at the beginning of the reporting period.  April and May saw the 
economy gathering momentum as the shackles of the pandemic restrictions were eased.  
Despite the improving outlook, market expectations were that the Bank of England would 
delay rate rises until 2022.  Rising, persistent inflation changed that. 
 
UK Consumer Price Index (CPI) was 0.7% in March 2021 but thereafter began to steadily 
increase.  Initially driven by energy price effects and by inflation in sectors such as retail 
and hospitality which were re-opening after the pandemic lockdowns, inflation then was 
believed to be temporary.  Thereafter price rises slowly became more widespread, as a 
combination of rising global costs and strong demand was exacerbated by supply 
shortages and transport dislocations.  The surge in wholesale gas and electricity prices led 
to elevated inflation expectations.  CPI for February 2022 registered 6.2% year on year, up 
from 5.5% in the previous month and the highest reading in the National Statistic series.  
Core inflation, which excludes the more volatile components, rose to 5.2% y/y from 4.4%. 
 
The government’s jobs furlough scheme insulated the labour market from the worst effects 
of the pandemic.  The labour market began to tighten and demand for workers grew 
strongly as employers found it increasingly difficult to find workers to fill vacant jobs.   
Having peaked at 5.2% in December 2020, unemployment continued to fall and the most 
recent labour market data for the three months to January 2022 showed the 
unemployment rate at 3.9% while the employment rate rose to 75.6%.  Headline 3-month 
average annual growth rate for wages were 4.8% for total pay and 3.8% for regular pay.  In 
real terms, after adjusting for inflation, total pay growth was up 0.1% while regular pay fell 
by 1.0%. 
 
With the fading of lockdown – and, briefly, the ‘pingdemic’ – restraints, activity in 
consumer-facing sectors improved substantially as did sectors such as oil and mining with 
the reopening of oil rigs but materials shortages and the reduction in the real spending 
power of households and businesses dampened some of the growth momentum.  Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP) grew by an upwardly revised 1.3% in the fourth calendar quarter 
of 2021 according to the final estimate (initial estimate 1.0%) and took UK GDP to just 
0.1% below where it was before the pandemic.  The annual growth rate was revised down 
slightly to 7.4% (from 7.5%) following a revised 9.3% fall in 2020. 
 
Having increased Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25% in December, the Bank of England 
hiked it further to 0.50% in February and 0.75% in March.  At the meeting in February, the 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted unanimously to start reducing the stock of its 
asset purchase scheme by ceasing to reinvest the proceeds from maturing bonds as well 
as starting a programme of selling its corporate bonds. 
 
In its March interest rate announcement, the MPC noted that the invasion of Ukraine had 
caused further large increases in energy and other commodity prices, with the expectation 
that the conflict will worsen supply chain disruptions around the world and push CPI 
inflation to around 8% later in 2022, even higher than forecast only a month before in the 
February Monetary Policy Report.  The Committee also noted that although GDP in 
January was stronger than expected with business confidence holding up and the labour 
market remaining robust, consumer confidence had fallen due to the squeeze in real 
household incomes. 
 

Page 23



APPENDIX 1 

GDP growth in the euro zone increased by 0.3% in calendar Q4 2021 following a gain of 
2.3% in the third quarter and 2.2% in the second. Headline inflation remains high, with CPI 
registering a record 7.5% year-on-year in March, the ninth successive month of rising 
inflation. Core CPI inflation was 3.0% y/y in March, was well above the European Central 
Bank’s target of ‘below, but close to 2%’, putting further pressure on its long-term stance of 
holding its main interest rate of 0%. 
 
The US economy expanded at a downwardly revised annualised rate of 6.9% in Q4 2021, 
a sharp in increase from a gain of 2.3% in the previous quarter.  In its March 2022 interest 
rate announcement, the Federal Reserve raised the Fed Funds rate to between 0.25% and 
0.50% and outlined further increases should be expected in the coming months.  The Fed 
also repeated it plan to reduce its asset purchase programme which could start by May 
2022. 
 
Financial markets: The conflict in Ukraine added further volatility to the already uncertain 
inflation and interest rate outlook over the period.  The Dow Jones started to decline in 
January but remained above its pre-pandemic level by the end of the period while the 
FTSE 250 and FTSE 100 also fell and ended the quarter below their pre-March 2020 
levels. 

Bond yields were similarly volatile as the tension between higher inflation and flight to 
quality from the war pushed and pulled yields, but with a general upward trend from higher 
interest rates dominating as yields generally climbed. 

The 5-year UK benchmark gilt yield began the quarter at 0.82% before rising to 1.41%.  
Over the same period the 10-year gilt yield rose from 0.97% to 1.61% and the 20-year 
yield from 1.20% to 1.82%. 

The Sterling Overnight Rate (SONIA) averaged 0.39% over the quarter. 

Credit review: In the first half of FY 2021-22 Credit Default Swap (CDS) spreads were flat 
over most of period and are broadly in line with their pre-pandemic levels.  In September 
spreads rose by a few basis points due to concerns around Chinese property developer 
Evergrande defaulting but then fell back.  Fitch and Moody’s revised upward the outlook on 
a number of UK banks and building societies on the Authority’s counterparty to ‘stable’, 
recognising their improved capital positions compared to 2020 and better economic growth 
prospects in the UK. 

Fitch also revised the outlook for Nordea, Svenska Handelsbanken and Handelsbanken 
plc to stable. The agency considered the improved economic prospects in the Nordic 
region to have reduced the baseline downside risks it previously assigned to the lenders. 

The successful vaccine rollout programme was credit positive for the financial services 
sector in general and the improved economic outlook meant some institutions were able to 
reduce provisions for bad loans.  However, in 2022, the uncertainty engendered by 
Russia’s invasion of Ukraine pushed CDS prices modestly higher over the first calendar 
quarter, but only to levels slightly above their 2021 averages, illustrating the general 
resilience of the banking sector. 

Having completed its full review of its credit advice on unsecured deposits, in September 
Arlingclose extended the maximum duration limit for UK bank entities on its recommended 
lending list from 35 days to 100 days; a similar extension was advised in December for the 
non-UK banks on this list.  As ever, the institutions and durations on the Authority’s 
counterparty list recommended by Arlingclose remains under constant review. 

Page 24



APPENDIX 1 

 
 
Externally Managed Pooled Funds: £5m of the Authority’s investments is invested in 
externally managed strategic pooled (bond, equity, multi-asset and property) funds where 
short-term security and liquidity are lesser considerations, and the objectives instead are 
regular revenue income and long-term price stability.  These funds generated an average 
total return of (£582k (11.6%), comprising a £177k (3.54%) income return which is used to 
support services in year, and £405k (8.1%) of capital growth.  
 
In the nine months to December improved market sentiment was reflected in equity, 
property and multi-asset fund valuations and, in turn, in the capital values of the Authority’s 
property, equity and multi-asset income funds in the Authority’s portfolio.  The prospect of 
higher inflation and rising bond yields did however result in muted bond fund performance.  
In the January- March quarter the two dominant themes were tighter UK and US monetary 
policy and higher interest rates, and the military invasion of Ukraine by Russia in February, 
the latter triggering significant volatility and uncertainty in financial markets.   

In light of Russia’s invasion, Arlingclose contacted the fund managers of our Money Market 
Fund (MMF), cash plus and strategic funds and confirmed no direct exposure to Russian 
or Belarusian assets had been identified. Indirect exposures were immaterial.  It should be 
noted that that any assets held by banks and financial institutions (e.g. from loans to 
companies with links to those countries) within MMFs and other pooled funds cannot be 
identified easily or with any certainty as that level of granular detail is unlikely to be 
available to the fund managers or Arlingclose in the short-term, if at all. 
 
Because these funds have no defined maturity date, but are available for withdrawal after a 
notice period, their performance and continued suitability in meeting the Authority’s 
medium- to long-term investment objectives are regularly reviewed.  Strategic fund 
investments are made in the knowledge that capital values will move both up and down on 
months, quarters and even years; but with the confidence that over a three- to five-year 
period total returns will exceed cash interest rates.  The Council’s level of managed pooled 
funds have not been altered during due to the large amounts of cash in the form of grants 
coming into and going out of the Council’s bank accounts on a weekly basis. 
 
The Authority had budgeted £104,000 income from these investments in 2021 / 22.  
Income received was £177,000. 
 
Non-Treasury Investments 
 
The definition of investments in CIPFA’s revised 2021 Treasury Management Code covers 
all the financial assets of the Authority as well as other non-financial assets which the 
Authority holds primarily for financial return.  Investments that do not meet the definition of 
treasury management investments (i.e. management of surplus cash) are categorised as 
either for service purposes (made explicitly to further service objectives) and or for 
commercial purposes (made primarily for financial return). 
 
Investment Guidance issued by the Department for Levelling Up Housing and 
Communities (DLUHC) and Welsh Government also broadens the definition of investments 
to include all such assets held partially or wholly for financial return.  
 
The Authority held £3.1m of such investments in investment properties. 
 
These investments generated £0.5m of investment income for the Authority after taking 
account of direct costs, representing a rate of return of 16.1%. 
 

Page 25



APPENDIX 1 

 
 
Other 
 
IFRS 16: The implementation of the new IFRS 16 Leases accounting standard was due to 
come into for force for local authorities from 1st April 2022.  Following a consultation 
CIFPA/LASAAC announced an optional two year delay to the implementation of this 
standard a decision which was confirmed by the Financial Reporting Advisory Board in 
early April 2022. Authorities can now choose to adopt the new standard on 1st April 2022, 
1st April 2023 or 1st April 2024.  The Authority has adopted the new standard on 1st April 
2022. 
 

Page 26



APPENDIX 2 

ANNUAL TREASURY MANAGEMENT UPDATE 2021 / 22 
 
Compliance with Prudential Indicators 
  
(a) Estimates of Capital Expenditure  
 

The Council’s planned capital expenditure and financing may be summarised as 
follows: 
 

Capital Expenditure 
and Financing  

2021 / 22 
Actual 
£000 

2022 / 23 
Estimate 

£000 

2023 / 24 
Estimate 

£000 

2024 / 25 
Estimate 

£000 

Total Expenditure 861 957 759 489 

Capital Receipts 303 537 339 69 

Government Grants 558 420 420 420 

Contributions 0 0 0 0 

Total Financing 861 957 759 489 

Supported borrowing 0 0 0 0 

Unsupported 
borrowing 

0 0 0 0 

Total Funding 0 0 0 0 

Total Financing and 
Funding 

861 957 759 489 

 
The table above shows that the capital expenditure plans of the council can be 
funded entirely from sources other than external borrowing. 

 
(b) Operational Boundary for External Debt and Authorised Limit for External Debt  

 
The Council is currently debt free and currently has had no need to borrow. 

 
(c) Incremental Impact of Capital Investment Decisions  
 

This is an indicator of affordability that shows the impact of capital investment 
decisions on Council Tax. The incremental impact is calculated by comparing the 
total revenue budget requirement of the current approved capital programme with an 
equivalent calculation of the revenue budget requirement arising from the proposed 
capital programme. 

 

Incremental 
Impact of 
Capital 

Investment 
Decisions 

2020/21 
Estimate 

£ 

2021/22 
Estimate 

£ 

2022/23 
Estimate 

£ 

2023/24 
Estimate 

£ 

Increase in 
Band D 

Council Tax 
0 0 0 0 

 
The impact on Band D Council Tax highlighted above is NIL as the capital 
Programme is fully financed by Capital Receipts and Government Grants. 

 
  

Page 27



APPENDIX 2 

(d) Treasury Management Indicators  
 

The Council measures and manages its exposures to treasury management risks 
using the following indicators.  

 
Security  
 
The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to credit risk by monitoring the 
value-weighted average [credit rating] or [credit score] of its investment portfolio. This is 
calculated by applying a score to each investment (AAA = 1, AA+ = 2, AA = 3, AA- = 4, A+ = 
5 A = 6, etc.) and taking the arithmetic average, weighted by the size of each investment.  
The below table shows Maldon District Council (MDC) is exceeding its target credit score. 
 

 Target Actual 

Portfolio average credit 
score 

4.6 4.3 

 
 
Liquidity  
 
The Council has adopted a voluntary measure of its exposure to liquidity risk by monitoring 
the amount of cash available to meet unexpected payments within a rolling 3-month period, 
without additional borrowing. 
 

 Target Actual 

Total cash available within 3 
months 

£14.0m £24.3m 

 
 
 

Page 28



 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

to 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
15 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
BUDGETARY CONTROL REPORT AS AT 31 JULY 2022 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
 To provide the Strategy and Resources Committee (the Committee) with information 1.1

in relation to financial performance over the period 1 April 2021 to 31 July 2022. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

 
That the Committee notes the forecasted 2022 / 23 financial position as at 31 July of 
this financial year. 

 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

 
 This report sets out the financial position and performance of some of the key areas 3.1

of the Council’s services/activities for the first four months of the financial year. 
 

 The basis of identifying the variance is against the forecast budgets based on budget 3.2
manager’s knowledge of expenditure and income patterns over the financial year. 
 

4. REVENUE BUDGETS  

 
 The following table is an overview of current service forecast budget variances for the 4.1

whole Council against the revised budget.  It shows that employee costs make up 
just over half of Maldon District Council’s (MDC’s) gross expenditure and that there is 
a total current service forecast expenditure overspend of £286k.  Non-employee 
costs are expected to be close to budget, however, there is an income 
overachievement forecast of £70k. 
 
Table 1 – Gross Service Income and Expenditure  

Spend Type Original 
Budget 

£000 

Revised 
Budget 

£000 

% of 
Gross 
Exp 

  Forecast 
Variance 

£000 

Employee Costs 9,678  9,877  52.1   367 

Non-Employee Costs 8,718  9,095  47.9   (11) 

Gross Expenditure 18,396  18,972  100.0   356 

Income (7,738) (7,738)     (70) 

Net Service Expenditure 10,658 11,234     286 

 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



 The Original Budget is the budget approved by Council on 24 February 2022, 4.2
excluding Housing Benefit payments, Covid Grants, and capital and pension fund 
charges.  The Revised Budget is the current budget after the approved amendments 
since then.  The following table shows this reconciliation: 
 
Table 2 – Budget Reconciliation 

Description 
Amount 

£000 

Original budget 13,736 

Revenue commitments 350 

Supplementary estimates 229 

Revised budget 14,315 

 
Expenditure 

 
4.2.1 The next table shows the top 74% of expenditure areas for MDC, along with their 

respective percentages of total expenditure and forecast variances.  An explanation 
for the variances is explained further below. 

 
Table 3 – Top Expenditure Areas 

Expenditure 
Budget 

£000 
% of 
Exp  

Forecast  
£000 

Forecast 
Variance 

£000 
 

Actuals 
@ 31 
July 
£000 

1. Refuse & Recycling 3,996  40.5%   3,958  (38)    685  

2. IT Software & Hardware 688 7.0%  689  1   (82)  

3. Street Cleansing 550  5.6%   587  37    146  

4. Property & Equipment 
Maintenance 

454 4.6%  473  19   113  

5. Planning Policy and Local 
Development Plan (LDP) 

397 4.0%  397  0   57  

6. Parks Operations 289 2.9%  315  26   73  

7. Business Rates 275 2.8%  275  0  267  

8.  Professional Services (incl. 
Audit) 

267 2.7%  267  0  (81)  

9. Homeless Accommodation 186 1.9%  186  0  19  

10. Insurance 132 1.3%  132  0  0  

11. Leisure Management Fee 113 1.1%  57 (56)  0 

Total 7,348 74.4   7,337  11    1,207  

 
Variance Analysis 

 
4.2.2 Refuse & Recycling – A number of changes have taken place with waste 

management so far this financial year, resulting in a small forecast underspend 
against budget overall; (i) plastic recycling sacks increased in cost due to a supplier 
pulling out and a subsequent new contract needing to be signed, (ii) garden waste 
costs increased due to a change in legislation for the use of red diesel,  

Page 30



(iii) household dry recyclable costs decreased due to additional properties being 
removed in July, (iv) food and garden waste costs also reduced due to volumes 
falling during the long hot summer. 
 

4.2.3 IT Software & Hardware – These costs should break even with budget because, 
although licences will increase by RPI, the apps are also being rationalised for 
offsetting efficiency savings. 
 

4.2.4 Street Cleansing – Contracted street cleansing costs are expected to increase by 
8%. 

 
4.2.5 Property & Equipment Maintenance – All operational repairs and maintenance costs 

are expected to increase by 10%, except for office maintenance costs, which will be 
offset by lower wear and tear due to lower levels of occupation. 

 
4.2.6 Parks Operations – This is expected to overspend due the high increase in fuel 

costs, currently estimated at 50%. 
 

4.2.7 Leisure Management Fee – Users of leisure facilities are still lower than pre 
pandemic so costs associated are lower. 
 
Income 

 
4.2.8 The table below shows the top 80% of income areas for MDC, along with their 

respective percentages of total income and forecast variances.  Although income 
levels are looking better than last year, some budgets are still forecast to 
underachieve.  These variances are also explained further below. 
 
Table 4 – Top Income Areas 

Income Area 
Budget 

£000 
% of 
Inc  

Forecast 
£000 

Variance 
£000  

Actuals 
@ 31 
July 
£000 

1. Refuse & 
Recycling 

(2,463)  31.8 
 

(2,666)  (203) 
 

(518) 

2. Car Parking (1,294)  16.7 
 

(1,294)  0  
 

(509) 

3. Development 
Control 

(773)  10.0 
 

(773)  0  
 

(341) 

4. Blackwater Leisure 
Centre 

(319)  4.1 
 

(159)  160  
 

(0) 

5. Properties/Leases (311)  4.0 
 

(338)  (27) 
 

(156) 

6. Revs & Bens 
Admin Grant 

(262)  3.4 
 

(262)  0 
 

(163) 

7. Building Control (199)  2.6 
 

(199)  0  
 

(59) 

8. Attractions (152)  2.0 
 

(152)  0 
 

(8) 

9. Homelessness 
Grant 

(143)  1.8 
 

(143)  0 
 

(212) 

10. ECC Council Tax 
Sharing 

(142)  1.8 
 

(142)  0  
 

142 

 Total 
(6,059) 

 
78.3 

  
(6,129) 

 
(70) 

 
(1,824) 

 
 

Page 31



 
Variance Analysis 

 
4.2.9 Refuse and Recycling income is expected to overachieve its budget by £203k due to 

the ongoing higher levels of recycling credit payments, although this has been 
tempered by lower garden waste income due to the long dry summer. 

 
4.2.10 Income from car parking in the town centres has not recovered to the levels seen 

before the pandemic, although the Promenade Park car park has recovered well so 
the overall impact is forecast to be on budget at this stage. 

 
4.2.11 The Blackwater Leisure Centre is managed by Places for Leisure and their forecasts 

only show them turning a very small profit so far this financial year so only half of the 
budgeted management fee is expected to be received for the full financial year. 

 
4.2.12 There have been a couple of new tenants occupy the council offices this financial 

year so this will result in higher than budgeted lease income. 
 

5. SALARY MONITORING AS AT 31/07/22 

  
 The proposed national pay award would give each of the current 194.7 FTE staff 5.1

members a flat pay-rise of £1,925 plus oncosts, totalling £506k (5.25%).  This is 
being forecast here, against a budgeted pay rise of £234k (2.5%).  There are a 
number of in-year vacancies, some of which have been filled by temporary staff, but 
this is currently less than the budgeted 3% vacancy factor.  This is causing the £367k 
salary budget pressure. 
 

 The table below gives an analysis of MDC’s salary variances by directorate. 5.2
 
Table 5 – Employee Variances 

Directorate Revised 
Budget  

£000 

 Forecast  
£000 

Variance 
£000 

 Actuals to  
31 July  

£000 

Service Delivery 6,142  6,346 204  1,751 

Strategy Performance 
& Governance 

1,749  1,689 (60)  558 

Resources 1,986  1,964 (22)  662 

Total Employees 9,877  9,999 122  2,971 

 

Members Allowances 234  244 10  72 

Total Remuneration 10,111  10,243 132  3,043 

       

Vacancy Factor (235)  0 235  0 

       

Net Total Employees 9,876  10,243 367  3,043 

 

6. INFLATIONARY IMPACT 

 

 The cost-of-living crisis is one of the biggest challenges currently facing households 6.1
and organisations this financial year and beyond.  Inflation reached 8.8% in July and 
some forecasts say this could double over the coming year.  This particularly impacts 
the Council in fuel, energy and maintenance supplies costs.  The knock-on effect is 
rising, contract costs and salaries. 

Page 32



 

 Forecasts have been reviewed with these budget pressures in mind.  The below 6.2
table sets out the current assumptions that have gone into these forecasts. 
 

Table 6 – Inflationary Assumptions 

Cost Type Inflation Explanation 

Fuel 50% High increases in oil prices since war in 
Ukraine commenced. 

Gas & Electricity 50% Lifting of energy price cap, although 
current Council Offices energy contract 
protects the Council until March 2023. 

Maintenance 10% Ongoing supply chain pressures. 

Waste Contract 8% Current RPIX which contract prices are 
tied to. 

Salary 5.25% The percentage impact of £1,925 + 
oncosts per FTE as per proposed national 
pay award. 

7. IMPACT ON GENERAL FUND BALANCE 
 

 The next table sets out the Council’s total anticipated overspend, less mitigating 7.1
Covid-19 grants from Central Government. 

 
Table 7 – Total Budget Variance 

  Variance 
£000 

Net Service Expenditure 286 

Plus Investment Income Variance (39) 

Total Budget Variance 247 
 

 Collection rates from local taxation finished higher at the end of 2021 / 22 than 7.2
budgeted for in 2022 / 23, and have almost recovered to pre pandemic levels. 
Despite various reliefs being distributed, the cost of living crisis is still expected to put 
pressure on these rates as the year progresses.  Current Council Tax and Business 
Rates collection rates are performing better than last financial year, so prudently 
using last year’s rates the Council can still expect to overachieve local taxation 
budget this year, as follows: 
 

Table 8 – Local Taxation Collection Rate and Impact 

 Budget 
£000 

Actual 21/22 
£000 

Impact 
£000 

Council Tax 97.3% 97.6% 15 

Business Rates 93.3% 97.6% 124 

Total   139 
 

 Investment income is also performing better than predicted before this financial year 7.3
due to increasing interest rates.  Shares and bonds are also performing above 
budget expectations, although property dividends look to be cooling.  

 

Table 9 – Predicted General Fund Balance 

 £000 

Opening General Fund Balance 5,796 

Less 2022/23 MTFS Funding Gap (452) 

Less Supplementary Estimates (229) 

Less Net Cost of Services Variance (247) 

Plus Impact of Collection Rates 139 

Page 33



Closing General Fund Balance 5,007 

 In total an amount of £789k is estimated to be required from the general fund 7.4
balance.  This is £337k more than budgeted for in February mainly due to 
supplementary estimates approved (£229k) and the expected pay award (£272k over 
budget). 
 

 This table shows that the general fund balance would remain above the minimum 7.5
recommended level of £2.6m.  A minimum level of reserve is set to ensure the 
Council has the financial resilience to respond to emergencies and unforeseen 
events such as the current pandemic.  However, if it did fall below the minimum level 
it would need to be replenished in future years. 

8. CONCLUSION 

 
 Although we have emerged from the Coronavirus pandemic, the ensuing cost of 8.1

living crisis characterised by high inflation (driven by supply shortages in food, fuel 
and energy sources), and resulting rising interest rates means a significant 
percentage of residents may be facing financial difficulty and more so as the winter 
approaches.  This could create pressure on local tax collection rates.  National pay 
awards are yet to be agreed but salary inflation will also place a pressure on the 
Council’s budgets. 
 

 Ongoing responsible Budget Control is required to manage this situation.  This 8.2
continues to require the conscientious pursuit of income and spending discipline to 
mitigate these pressures. 

 
 It is also important to note that some expenditure and income items are accounted 8.3

for at the end of the year, whilst not all income due to the Council for chargeable 
work or services performed by the Council or payments by the Council for work or 
services it has purchased/received as at 31 July 2022 will be included in the figures 
above due to process lags.  The information within this report is that which is 
recorded in the Council’s financial management system up to 30 September 2021.  

9. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 

 
 This report links to the corporate strategic theme of ‘delivering good quality, cost 9.1

effective and valued services. 

10. IMPLICATIONS 

 
(i) Impact on Customers – None directly. 

(ii) Impact on Equalities – None identified. 

(iii) Impact on Risk – No corporate risk issues associated with this report. 

(iv) Impact on Resources (financial) – Variances from the budget will impact 
upon the level of balances and/or reserves available in the future.   

(v) Impact on Resources (human) – None. 

(vi) Impact on the Environment – None.  
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Enquiries to: Lance Porteous, Lead Finance Specialist, lance.porteous@maldon.gov.uk  

Page 34

mailto:lance.porteous@maldon.gov.uk


 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

to 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
15 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 

FEES AND CHARGES POLICY 2023 / 24 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

 The purpose of this report is to review the fees and charges policies that have been 1.1
put forward by officers: prior to the approval of the 2023 / 24 budget and updated 
Medium Term Financial Strategy. 
 

 The detailed schedule of Fees and Charges will be reviewed based on the policy 1.2
decisions and the Committee will recommend the actual 2023 / 24 fees and charges 
to Council during the next cycle of meetings.  The 2023 / 24 income budgets will be 
based on the recommended policy. 

 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

To the Council: 
 

That the 2023 / 24 fees and charges policies at APPENDIX A be approved.  
 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 
 

 Fees and Charges 3.1
 

3.1.1 Fees and charges set by the Council are one area where the Council may have the 
ability to generate increased resources, however each area is subject to different 
constraints.  In looking at these policies, the following factors need to be considered: 

 Corporate and service objectives / priorities; 

 Seeking to make services self-financing, where there is scope to do so; 

 The level of charges levied by commercial competitors and other local 
authorities; 

 The introduction of new charges, where appropriate; 

 Whether concessions in fees and charges for specific users of the service(s) 
would apply or, where they already apply, should they continue to apply. 

 

 Current Position 3.2
 

3.2.1 The position with each policy is set out in APPENDIX A including any new or 
amended proposed policies, or any proposed concessions. 

 
  

Page 35

Agenda Item 8



 Summary of proposed changes to Fees and Charge Policy 3.3
 

River Wharfage 
Concessions to be phased out over 
three financial years. 

Off-street car parking – Maldon Town 
Concessions to be reduced to remove 
free parking on bank holidays. 

Car Parking – events 
Suspend normal parking and charge 
specific parking rates for events. 

Car Parking – Promenade Park Increase to maximum cost recovery. 

Green Bin Waste Collection 
Amend to ensure these are charged at 
a market rate but also ensure it is a 
minimum of cost recovery. 

Chargeable street cleaning 
Concessions to be delegated to Director 
of Service Delivery. 

Court Costs 
Increase to full cost recovery or 
maximum magistrate courts allow. 

Pest control 
Amend to reflect market rates as well as 
cost recovery. 

Pre-Application for Tree Preservation 
Order advise 

Simplify to reflect full cost recovery. 

 

3.3.1 No new Fees and Charges policies have been added.  
 

4. CONCLUSION 

 
 The fees and charges policy will inform the setting of the 2022 / 23 fees and charges, 4.1

which will be brought to a subsequent Committee. 
 

5. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 
 

 The Strategic and Financial Planning process contributes towards our Corporate 5.1
Goal “Delivering good quality, cost effective and valuable services”. 

 

6. IMPLICATIONS 
 

(i) Impact on Customers – The fees and charges are for services and therefore 
impact on service users. 

 

(ii) Impact on Equalities – None. 

(iii) Impact on Risk – The implementation of the budget setting process is 
designed to minimise the risk of not having a robust Medium-Term Financial 
Strategy.  

 

(iv) Impact on resources (financial) – Fees and Charges set by the Council are 
a key financial resource.  The Council needs to consider additional income 
generation as part of the set of actions to balance its annual and future 
revenue budget.   

 

(v) Impact on Resources (human) – As well as financial factors, availability of 
staff has been considered for each of the policies in terms of implementation, 
monitoring and enforcement. 

(vi) Impact on the Environment – None. 
 

Enquiries to: Lance Porteous, Lead Finance Specialist. 

Page 36



Fees & Charges Policies Appendix A

Directorate Policy Area Current Policy Existing Concessions Policy 22/23 Proposed Policy for 2023/24 Proposed concessions

Service Delivery River Moorings
Charge for moorings  (not aligned with any other 
clubs)

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery River Wharfage
Set fees to compete with alternative berthing 
facilities on the east coast

Quarterly charges discount daily 
fee by 50%. Discounts available 
to charitable trusts.

Retain Existing Policy. 
Amend Concessions.

Discount phased out over 3 
years. 40% 2023/24, 20% 
2024/25.

Service Delivery Off Street Car Parking (Maldon Town)
Maximise income, but take into account the 
need to support local businesses. No free 
school drop off permits.

Disabled Badge holders - Free 
parking. Season Ticket discounts 
for Public Sector Partners, 
Residents and Bulk Purchases. 
Free parking on bank holidays in 
Town Centre car parks. 

Retain Existing Policy. 
Amend Concessions.

remove free parking on bank 
holidays

Service Delivery
Off Street Car Parking (Outside Maldon 
Town)

Free entry Not Applicable Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Car Parking/Events

Suspend car parking and introduce a set fee for 
specific events.  Charges will be dependent on 
the event size and entrance fee.  To be 
determined by the Head of Service Delivery.

None Amend Existing Policy

Suspend car parking and 
introduce a set fee for 
specific events.  Charges will 
be dependent on the event 
size and entrance fee.  To be 
determined by the Director of 
Service Delivery.

Service Delivery Maldon Promenade - Car Parking
Aim for overall 60% cost recovery for 
Promenade Park - with Car Parking being the 
key contributor

Maldon District Residents Season 
Tickets at reduced price. 
Disabled Badge Holders 

Amend Existing Policy

Aim for overall maximum cost 
recovery for Promenade Park 
- with Car Parking being the 
key contributor

Service Delivery Maldon Promenade - Splash Park
Charge to as far as possible to recover all costs 
of operation and in line with comparable  
facilities

None Retain -Existing Policy

Service Delivery Use of Council Land for events

All Council Land. Use of a minimum events day 
rate charge on council owned land determined 
by the scale of event size to maximise income 
for all events.

Charity Organisations with under 
100 people in attendance receive 
a concession ensuring full cost 
recovery.  

Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Council owned Land (inc Prom)
Charges to be for all council owned land as well 
as Prom Park to maximise income

Prices to be agreed by the 
Director of Service Delivery in 
Conjunction with the Chairman of 
Community Services Committee.

Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Maldon Promenade - Beach Huts
Charges based on competative  Market rates, 
and should aim as a minumum to recover all 
costs of operation

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Cemeteries
Charges at levels comparable to facilities 
provided by other local authorities

Local Residents receive 
discounted rates. Under 18's 
Free

Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Green Waste Bin Service Charge for Service
Charge  in line with other 
authorities. Charge for Bin for 
new subscribers

Retain Existing Policy. 
Amend Concessions.

Minimum of full cost recovery, 
and in line with other 
authorities. Charge  for bin for  
new subscribers and 
replacement bins

Service Delivery
Chargeable Household Waste 
Collection

Charges made for residential homes,  with 
limited collections from villages halls equivalent 
to domestic property. Charges based on cost 
recovery for additional collections

Free Clinical waste collection Retain Existing Policy

P
age 37



Fees & Charges Policies Appendix A

Directorate Policy Area Current Policy Existing Concessions Policy 22/23 Proposed Policy for 2023/24 Proposed concessions

Service Delivery
Chargeable Bulky Household Waste 
Collection

Charge subject to annual adjustment to reflect 
contract costs.  Fee is collected by Maldon 
District Council (MDC) and an agreed sum paid 
to the contractor for each collection

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Chargeable Street Cleaning
Charges based on competitive  Market rates, 
and should aim as a minimum to recover all 
costs of operation.

Charitable events and some 
specific commercial events are 
free

Retain Existing Policy. 
Amend Concessions.

Concesession at discretion of 
Director of service delivery for 
charitable/ community events.

Service Delivery Maldon Promenade - Pop Up Trading
Charges based on competative  Market rates, 
and should aim as a minumum to recover all 
costs of operation

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Parks & Open Spaces - Advertising
charges based on competative  Market rates, 
and should aim as a minumum to recover all 
costs of operation

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery
Court Costs - Council Tax and Business 
Rates

Charges set to maximum level agreed by Essex 
Magistrates Courts

None Amend Existing Policy
Full cost recovery up  to 
maximum level agreed by 
Essex Magistrates Courts

Service Delivery

CCTV footage requested by individuals, 
insurance companies or any 
organisations other than the Police 
(subject to data protection)

Chargeable services None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery
Refuse and recycling containers for 
new build properties

Developers to fund the cost of provision of 
containers for new properties if the development 
is more than five properties.

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Parking Permits for Schools Chargeable Services
Charges made to Schools for 
parking in MDC owned car parks 

Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Road Closures
To reclaim costs plus statutory administration 
charge.

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Promenade Park Concessions
 To Charge for concessions on the Prom.  
Prices set on negotiation with the Director of 
Service Delivery.

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Grounds Maintenance Contracts
Charges for contracts based on competitive 
market rates ensuring full cost recovery.

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery
Commercial team – Commercial 
Services - Box Office

 Box office services commission rate set by 
officers – Standard 10% commission for all 
events. Concession  Director of Service Delivery 
in conjunction with the Chairman of Community 
Services Committee be granted discretion to 
vary this rate to support the corporate goals of 
the Council.

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery
Commercial team – Commercial 
Services - Marketing 

Commercial team to charge a competitive hourly 
rate for its marketing and promotional services 
ensuring full cost recovery

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery
Commercial team – Commercial 
Services - Sponsorship

charges based on competative  Market rates, 
and should aim as a minumum to recover all 
costs of operation

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Land Charges Self Financing Service subject to regulations None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery
Public Hire Vehicle & Hackney Carriage 
Licensing

Self financing service None Retain Existing Policy

P
age 38



Fees & Charges Policies Appendix A

Directorate Policy Area Current Policy Existing Concessions Policy 22/23 Proposed Policy for 2023/24 Proposed concessions

Service Delivery Building Control - Chargeable Services
Self financing service (by regulation) Break even 
over a five year period

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery
Development Control and Conservation - 
Pre Application Advice

Charge for advice Not Applicable Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery
Development Control - Planning 
Performance Agreements (PPA)

Charge based on generic officer cost rates to 
complete the tasks in the PPA. 

Not Applicable Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery
Planning Fees (Development control 
fees)

No Policy - no powers at present Not Applicable Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Licensing Act 2003
Set fees in line with the costs incurred in 
providing the service

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Gambling Act 2005
Set fees in line with the costs incurred in 
providing the service

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013
Recover reasonable costs of administration in 
accordance with statutory guidance

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Pest Control
Charges should aim as a minumum to recover 
all costs of operation

None Amend Existing Policy

charges based on 
competative  Market rates, 
and should aim as a 
minumum to  recover all costs 
of operation

Service Delivery Animal Licensing
Set fees in line with the costs incurred in 
providing the service

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Mobile Homes Act 2013
Set fees in line with the costs incurred in 
providing the service

Exempt those sites that have 8 or 
less units (Band 1)

Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery
Pre Application for Tree Preservation 
Order advise

Charge for advice previous a free service. 
Charge to be based full recovery of Officer time

Not Applicable Amend Existing Policy
Charge to be based full 
recovery of Officer time

Service Delivery Street Naming and numbering
Charges to developers and property owners 
based on cost recovery

Not Applicable Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Revisit to rescore food hygiene ratings

Set fees in line with the costs incurred in 
providing the service. New legislation is 
expected but it is not clear if fees will be set 
nationally or locally

Not Applicable Retain Existing Policy

Resources External Printing To be charged per copy. Not Applicable Retain Existing Policy

Resources
Administration of Parish Elections  & 
Neighbourhood Referendums 

Levy an administration charge based on 
recovery of Officer time

Not Applicable Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Markets
charges based on competative  Market rates, 
and should aim as a minumum to  recover all 
costs of operation

None Retain Existing Policy

SPG RAMS
To charge a monitoring fee alongside all Essex 
Coastal Recreational Avoidance Mitigation 
Strategy (RAMS) payments

None Retain Existing Policy

SPG S106
To charge a monitoring fee based on individual 
cases

None Retain Existing Policy

Service Delivery Hythe Quay Parking None
To charge for parking on hythe 
Quay 

Retain Existing Policy

P
age 39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

to 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
15 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
SUPPLEMENTARY ESTIMATES, VIREMENTS, PROCUREMENT EXEMPTIONS AND 
USE OF RESERVES: 1 JUNE - 31 JULY 2022 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
 To report Virements and Supplementary Estimates agreed under delegated powers 1.1

where they are below the levels requiring approval by the Strategy and Resources 
Committee and seek approval where they are above the levels requiring approval by 
this Committee. 

 
 To inform the Committee of procurement exemptions that have been granted in the 1.2

period. 
 

 To report on the use of Reserves during the period. 1.3
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
(i) That the virements as detailed in paragraph 3.3.1 be noted; 
 
(ii) that the supplementary estimate as detailed in paragraph 3.4.1 be noted; 
 
(iii) that the procurement exemptions as detailed in paragraph 3.5.1 be noted. 

 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

 
 Rules and Regulations 3.1

 
3.1.1 The approval and reporting arrangements in relation to virements and supplementary 

estimates are set out in the Financial Regulations and Financial Procedures.  These 
are as follows: 

 
Virements (movements) within the same directorate: 

 Agreed by the relevant Director and the Director of Resources. 
 
Virements between different directorate: 

 Up to £20,000 – Director and Director of Resources; 

 Over £20,000 up to £50,000 - Director, Director of Resources in consultation 
with relevant Programme Committee Chairman; and reported to the next 
Strategy and Resources Committee; 

 Over £50,000 - the Strategy and Resources Committee; 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 9



In addition, for the purposes of virements, salaries budgets are to be considered as a 
separate Directorate. 
 
Supplementary Estimates  

 Up to £20,000 – Director and Director of Resources in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Strategy and Resources Committee and the Leader and 
reported to the next Strategy and Resources Committee. 

 Over £20,000 –Strategy and Resources Committee. 
 

 Procurement Exemptions and Use of Reserves 3.2
 
3.2.1 The Contract Procedure Rules provide information in relation to procurement 

exemptions.  The exemption enables the Council to waive any requirements within 
the contract procedure rules for specific projects. 

 
3.2.2 Procurement exemptions should be signed by the Officer and countersigned by the 

Director of Resources and where appropriate the Chairman of the Strategy and 
Resources Committee. 

 
3.2.3 Delegation around the use of the reserves was prescribed by the Council in June 

2019.  It stated that the Director of Strategy, Performance and Governance be 
authorised, in consultation with the Commercial Projects Board (superseded by the 
Corporate Projects Working Group) to approve any spend up to £10,000, subject to 
the details being reported to the Strategy and Resources Committee. 

 
 Virements 3.3

 
3.3.1 The following reportable virements were agreed during this period. 
 

Cost 
Centre To 

Directorate / 
Service 

Cost 
Centre 
From 

Directorate/ 
Service 

Budget 
Amount 

Description 

555 1040 Service Delivery 
Cemeteries – 
general parks 
maintenance 

170 0010 Service 
Delivery 
Salaries 

£3,000 Weeding at Maldon 
cemetery 

501 4310 Service Delivery 
Blackwater 
Leisure Centre 
(LC) Consultancy 

171 4310 Resources 
Consultancy 

£8,400 Essential 
consultancy work on 
Blackwater LC 
contract 

155 1010 Service Delivery 
Prom Depot 
Maintenance 

256 4835 Resources 
Corporate 
Management 
Repairs and 
Renewals 
Contingency 

£9,500 Health and Safety 
Work at Promenade 
Park Depot 

501 1010 Service Delivery 
Blackwater 
Leisure Centre 
Property 
Maintenance  

256 4835 Resources 
Corporate 
Management 
Repairs and 
Renewals 
Contingency 

£8,400 Blackwater Leisure 
Centre Roof Access 
and Safety System 

 
  

Page 42



 Supplementary Estimates 3.4
 
3.4.1 The following supplementary estimate was agreed during this period. 
 

Cost 
Centre 

Directorate/ 
Service 

Budget 
Amount 

Description 
Capital 

or 
Revenue 

121 Resources 
Council Offices 

£20,000 Additional budget required for 
essential Legionella water 
assessments and testing  

Revenue 

 
 Procurement Exemptions  3.5

 
3.5.1 The following Procurement Exemptions have been agreed. 
 

Item Amount Description Reason Lead Officer 

1 £48,300 
Data Protection 
Software 

A three year contract was awarded 
to Egress to strengthen the 
Council’s on line security and protect 
it against cyber attacks. A search on 
the digital marketplace revealed that 
only Egress could provide the data 
protection software required. 

Senior 
Specialist: 
Legal 

2 £15,000 
U Fest and 
Queen’s Batton 
Relay 

This is for the creation of a free 
community festival and the Maldon 
leg of the Queen’s Batton relay on 
8th July to be delivered by Amphora 
Trading Ltd, owned by Colchester 
City Council. MDC has a long 
relationship with Amphora which has 
successfully delivered other events 
in Prom Park. Timescales involved 
would not allow safe delivery of the 
event by another inexperienced 
operator. 

Strategy 
Theme Lead: 
Prosperity 
and Strategy 
Theme Lead: 
Community 

 
 Use of Reserves 3.6

 
3.6.1 There were no drawdowns from Reserves during this period. 
 

4. CONCLUSION 

 
 The Committee is invited to: 4.1

 note the virements in paragraph 3.3.1; 

 note the supplementary estimate in paragraph 3.4.1 and; 

 note the procurement exemptions in paragraph 3.5.1 of this report. 
 

5. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 

 
 The adherence to the Financial Regulations and Financial Procedures contributes 5.1

towards the corporate core values of being open and transparent, and accountable 
for our actions. 

Page 43



6. IMPLICATIONS 

 
(i) Impact on Customers – None identified. 

(ii) Impact on Equalities – None identified. 

(iii) Impact on Risk – None identified. 

(iv) Impact on Resources (financial) – As detailed in the report. 

(v) Impact on Resources (human) – None identified. 

(vi) Impact on the Environment – None identified. 
 
(vii) Impact on Strengthening Communities - None identified. 

 
 
Background Papers: None. 
 
Enquiries to: Lance Porteous, Lead Finance Specialist. 

Page 44



 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

to 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES  
15 SEPEMBER 2022  
 
 
DISCRETIONARY COUNCIL TAX REBATE SCHEME 
 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
For Members to approve the Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme at 
APPENDIX 1.  The scheme is fully funded by Central Government. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 

 
That the proposed Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme at APPENDIX 1 
be approved. 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

 
 In addition to a mandatory rebate scheme to help provide support for rising energy 3.1

bills, the government has also allocated funds for a discretionary scheme.  The use 
of these funds is to be determined by individual Councils in line with national 
guidance. 
 

 Funding allocations have been calculated based on the index of multiple deprivation 3.2
and an estimated number of local council tax support claimants in bands E to H.  This 
has resulted in Maldon being allocated £132k. 

 
 The mandatory scheme covered homes in bands A-D, providing a payment of £150. 3.3

The discretionary scheme proposes allocations of £150 to those homes in bands A-H 
who are in receipt of Council Tax reduction.  
 

 In addition we are proposing that the balance of the funding is dispersed by way of a 3.4
one off, equal value ‘top up’ payment to all recipients of the £150 payment 
(mandatory and discretionary schemes) 

4. CONCLUSION 

 
 The proposed Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme at APPENDIX 1 will enable 4.1

additional financial support for eligible residents. 

5. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 

 
 The Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme will enable the granting 5.1

of additional money to residents which will support the Council’s goal of “prosperity”. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 10



6. IMPLICATIONS 

 
Impact on Customers – Eligible residents will receive a rebate.  

Impact on Equalities – None. 

Impact on Risk –The schemes should provide financial support to local 
residents. 

Impact on Resources (financial) – None.  The additional scheme is fully 
funded by Central Government. 

Impact on Resources (human) – None.  The additional schemes will be 
delivered within existing resources. 

Impact on the Environment – None. 
 

Impact on Strengthening Communities – None. 
 
Background Papers: None 
 
Enquiries to: Michelle Lamarre, Lead Specialist, Service Delivery 

Page 46



 
 
 

            

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

   
 

 
 
 
  

The Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 
2022-23 

Maldon District Council - Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 1 
Page 47



 
 
 

            

 
 

   

         

    

      

    

          

    

           

   

            

         

      

      

      

              
   

        

        

        

 
  

Contents 

Definitions ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.0 Purpose of the scheme and background. ............................................................................ 4 

2.0 Funding................................................................................................................................ 4 

3.0 Eligibility criteria and awards............................................................................................... 4 

Effective date ............................................................................................................................... 4 

Alterations to liability or the Council Tax Band............................................................................ 5 

Eligibility Disputes........................................................................................................................ 5 

4.0 How the Council Tax Rebate will be paid ............................................................................ 5 

Direct Debit payers ...................................................................................................................... 5 

Where the Council does not hold current a direct debit instruction for an eligible household .. 6 

5.0 Provision of information to the Council .............................................................................. 6 

6.0 Scheme of Delegation.......................................................................................................... 6 

7.0 Notification of Decisions...................................................................................................... 6 

8.0 Reviews of Decisions ........................................................................................................... 7 

9.0 Taxation and the provision of information to Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs 
(HMRC) ............................................................................................................................................ 7 

10.0 Managing the risk of fraud .................................................................................................. 7 

11.0 Recovery of amounts incorrectly paid................................................................................. 7 

12.0 Data Protection and use of data.......................................................................................... 7 

Maldon District Council - Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 2 
Page 48



 
 
 

            

 
 

        
 

          
    

 
          

              
    

 
           

              
      

 
              

            
 

            
    

 
               

            
  

 
                

          
 

             
      

 
              

             
 

            
             
 

 
               

               
      

 
                

   
 
  

Definitions 

The following definitions are used within this document: 

‘Chargeable Dwelling’; means any dwelling that appears on the Council’s Council Tax Valuation 
List on 1 April 2022; 

‘Council Tax Exemption or Exempt Dwelling’; means any chargeable dwelling which is determined 
by the Council as exempt from Council Tax as prescribed by the Council Tax (Exempt Dwellings) 
Order 1992 as amended; 

‘Council Tax Rebate Scheme or Mandatory Scheme; means the scheme announced by the 
Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 3 February 2022 as part of a 
package of support for rising energy costs; 

‘Council Tax Payer or Liable Person’ means the liable person determined by the Council as being 
responsible for Council Tax under section 6 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

‘Council Tax Reduction (or Support)’ means any entitlement awarded under section 13A 1(A) of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 

‘Discretionary Scheme or Fund’; means the scheme determined by the Council in line with the 
guidance issued by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities announced on 3 
February 2022; 

‘Effective Date ; means the effective date of this scheme. The effective date shall be the situation 
as at the end of the day on 1 April 2022 

‘Empty Dwelling (or premises)’ means any dwelling that is not deemed to be the sole or main 
residence of a person and are substantially unfurnished; 

‘Liability for Owner’; means any dwelling determined to fall within the Council Tax (Liability for 
Owners) Regulations 1992, for example, House in Multiple Occupation or Residential Care homes; 

‘Mandatory Scheme’; means the scheme determined by Government in line with the guidance 
issued by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities announced on 3 February 
2022; 

‘Second Home’ means any dwelling not deemed to be the sole or main residence of the liable 
person and which is furnished as defined by the Council Tax (Prescribed Class of Dwellings) 
(England) Regulations 2003 as amended; and 

‘Sole or main residence’ means the dwelling determined by the Council to be the sole or main 
residence of a person. 

Maldon District Council - Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 3 
Page 49



 
 
 

            

       
 

             
         

 
                

            
             

 
         

   
 

            
             

          
            

               
            

          
 

  
 

              
               
 

   
 

               
            

              
                 

  
                

        
               

  
 

              
             

             
 

  
 

                
         

 

1.0 Purpose of the scheme and background. 

1.1 The purpose of this policy is to determine eligibility for a payment under the Council’s 
Discretionary Council Tax Rebate scheme (the ‘Discretionary Scheme’). 

1.2 The scheme has been designed based on general guidance issued by the Secretary of State 
for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities on 3rd February 2022. However, it is separate 
to the mandatory Council Tax Rebate scheme which is largely determined by Government 

1.3 The Council’s Discretionary Scheme is part of a package of support for households in 
respect of rising energy costs. 

1.4 Government has determined that Councils can decide locally how best to make use of the 
discretionary funding to provide payments to other households who are energy bill payers 
but not covered by the mandatory Council Tax Rebate. However, Government has stated 
that occupants of class M (student halls) are unlikely to be eligible for discretionary support, 
unless they are exposed to rising energy prices in a similar way to other households and 
discretionary support should not be offered to occupants of property in exemption class O, 
where the Ministry of Defence will provide cost of living support. 

2.0 Funding 

2.1 Government has provided funding to the Council; however, all payments will have to be 
made prior to the 30 November 2022 which is the deadline for this scheme. 

3.0 Eligibility criteria and awards 

3.1 The Council has decided that the payments will be made provided the household has their 
sole or main residence in a dwelling and the following conditions are met: 
(a) A single one-off payment of £150 will be awarded to any household who resides in a 

dwelling with a Council Tax band E to H and is in receipt of any award of Council Tax 
Reduction; and 

(b) In addition to (a) above, a single ‘top up’ award (to be determined) may be made to any 
household who receives a payment under this scheme or the Government’s mandatory 
scheme. The level of this award will be determined on the basis of funds available to 
the Council. 

3.2 For the purpose of the discretionary scheme, a household is a person or group of persons 
occupying a single dwelling, as defined in section 3 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992. No award will be made for any unoccupied premises or second homes. 

Effective date 

3.3 The effective date for this scheme is 1 April 2022. The Council will determine eligibility 
based on the position at the end of that day. 

Maldon District Council - Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 4 
Page 50



 
 
 

            

     
 

             
              
            
 

             
               
          
 

               
              

            
           

 
 

 
                  

             
         

 
        

 
             

               
            

    
 

   
 

         
           
        

 
                

             
             

             
 

 
              

             
            
              

        
 

Alterations to liability or the Council Tax Band 

3.4 Where the Council has reason to believe that the information they hold about the valuation 
list, liable taxpayer(s) or residents’ circumstances in respect of 1 April 2022 is inaccurate, it 
will withhold the payment and take reasonable steps to determine the correct information. 

3.5 Where records relating to the liable taxpayer(s) or the residents’ circumstances in respect 
of 1 April 2022 are retrospectively updated, the Council will take reasonable steps to either 
pay the discretionary award or potentially reclaim any payment made. 

3.6 In any case, where the Council Tax band of the chargeable dwelling is amended 
retrospectively after 1 April 2022, for example where a successful appeal is made to the 
Valuation Office Agency (VOA) that concluded after this date, the Council is not required 
either to pay any discretionary award or to reclaim any payment made. 

Eligibility Disputes 

3.7 The decision of the Council on any eligibility matter will be final. Should any tax payer feel 
aggrieved by any decision, then matters will be dealt with through the Council’s complaints 
procedure. Full details are available on the Council’s website. 

4.0 How the Council Tax Rebate will be paid 

4.1 Where the Council determines that all of the eligibility criteria are met in full, payment will 
be made to the household as defined within section 3 above. It should be noted that only 
one discretionary payment will be made per household, regardless of the number of 
occupants or liable Council Taxpayers. 

Direct Debit payers 

4.2 Where the Council holds a current direct debit instruction for a liable Council Taxpayer of 
an eligible household, payment will be made using the bank account details held. Payments 
will be made as soon as practicable. 

4.3 The Council is required to verify that the bank details held are those of the eligible 
household and where multiple residents of an eligible household are jointly and severally 
liable for Council Tax, the full payment will be made to the account for which the direct 
debit is held only. Payment of the award, however, is for the benefit of the household as a 
whole. 

4.4 No payment will be made where the name on the bank details does not match a liable 
party. Should the Council require additional information in order to establish the correct 
person to receive the payment, it is expected that the household provides all necessary 
details as soon as possible. Further details of how this request will be made and 
responsibilities to supply such information are detailed below. 

Maldon District Council - Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 5 
Page 51



 
 
 

            

               
             

               
 

 
        

 
 

          
            

  
 

               
             

    
 

             
           

               
      

 
      

 
             

            
          

            
    

 
             

            
        

 
    

 
               

            
   

 
    

 
               

 
                  

 

4.5 It should be noted that the award will be paid on the assumption that the person receiving 
the payment is the liable Council Taxpayer (or would have been if the property were not 
exempt) and that the property meets the criteria on 1 April 2022 as defined with section 3 
above. 

Where the Council does not hold current a direct debit instruction for an eligible 
household 

4.6 Where the Council does not hold a current direct debit instruction for an eligible household, 
it will make reasonable efforts to contact the household and obtain the necessary bank 
details. 

4.7 Where the Council is unsuccessful in contacting the household but where it is of the opinion 
that the household meets the eligibility criteria, the discretionary award will be credited to 
the Council Tax account. 

4.8 In all cases, the Council must ensure that payments are made correctly and where 
appropriate, require households to verify that that they are eligible for the payment. Where 
no such verification can be made or where a household fails to respond to the Council’s 
request, no payment whatsoever shall be made. 

5.0 Provision of information to the Council 

5.1 Residents, owners and managing agents should note that the Council has powers available 
to it under Regulation 3 (1) (c) of the Council Tax (Administration and Enforcement) 
Regulations 1992, to request such information to determine the correct liable person for 
Council Tax purposes. Government has stated that these powers may also be used for 
Council Tax Rebate purposes. 

5.2 Failure to respond to such a request, without a reasonable excuse, within 21 days could 
lead to penalties being imposed. The Council therefore encourages all such persons to 
provide any requested information as soon as possible. 

6.0 Scheme of Delegation 

6.1 The Council has approved this scheme. The Council’s Section 151 Officer is authorised to 
make technical policy amendments to ensure the scheme meets the criteria set by the 
Government and the Council. 

7.0 Notification of Decisions 

7.1 All Council Tax Rebate payments shall be made by the Revenues and Benefits Service. 

7.2 All decisions made shall be notified to the liable person either in writing or by email. 

Maldon District Council - Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 6 
Page 52



 
 
 

            

    
 

             
     

 
                  

              
        

 
               

              
 

          
     
 

             
              
  
 

      
 

          
           

     
 

      
 

              
            
             
 

    
 

             
             
   

8.0 Reviews of Decisions 

8.1 The Council will operate an internal review process and will accept a taxpayer’s request for 
a review of its decision. 

8.2 All such requests must be made in writing to the Council and should state the reasons why 
the taxpayer is aggrieved with the decision of the Council. New information may be 
submitted at this stage to support the taxpayer’s review 

8.3 The case will be reconsidered by a senior officer as soon as practicable, and the taxpayer 
informed in writing or by email of the decision. That decision shall be final. 

9.0 Taxation and the provision of information to Her Majesty’s 
Revenue and Customs (HMRC) 

9.1 The Council does not accept any responsibility in relation to a taxpayer’s HMRC tax 
liabilities and all taxpayers should make their own enquiries to establish any tax 
position. 

10.0 Managing the risk of fraud 

10.1 The Council will not accept deliberate manipulation of this policy or fraud. Any person 
caught falsifying information to gain a discretionary payment will face prosecution and any 
amount awarded will be recovered from them. 

11.0 Recovery of amounts incorrectly paid 

11.1 If it is established that any payment has been made incorrectly due to error, 
misrepresentation or incorrect information provided to the Council by a taxpayer or 
any other person, the Council will look to recover the amount in full. 

12.0 Data Protection and use of data 

12.1 All information and data provided by applicants shall be dealt with in accordance with 
the Council’s Data Protection policy and Privacy Notices which are available on the 
Council’s website. 

Maldon District Council - Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme 1st April 2022 7 
Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
DIRECTOR OF RESOURCES 

to 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
15 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
STREET NAMING AND NUMBERING POLICY 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
 To review, amend if required, and approve Maldon District Council’s (MDC) local 1.1

policy and due diligence measures with regard to Section 3.1 of the Street Naming 
and Numbering Policy - Naming Streets after People attached as APPENDIX A. 

 
 To approve adoption of the full Street Naming and Numbering policy. 1.2

 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
To the Council 

 
(i) That the Street Naming and Numbering Policy (APPENDIX A) is approved: 

 
(ii) That a comprehensive, accessible policy for use by Residents, Developers, 

Officers and Council, Town and Parish Councillors is agreed which 
demonstrates and clarifies the criteria applied to current Street Naming and 
Numbering decisions; 

 
(iii) That the Council agree on the local policy for the use (or not) of peoples’ 

names, including a due diligence stage undertaken via Ward Members on the 
suitable use of any names submitted by Residents, Officers or Councillors 
(Ward or Parish) prior to them being submitted for wider consultation when 
naming new Streets. 

 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

 
 Challenges are sometimes received from Residents or Developers when their 3.1

suggested house names or numbering schemes cannot be adopted, which can lead 
to Member or Senior Officer involvement.  Adoption and publication of the policy will 
mitigate some of these challenges. 
 

 The policy advises of the criteria that must be met and followed by the Council when 3.2
allocating Street Naming and Numbering under Sections 17, 18 and 19 of the Public 
Health Act 1925 and to comply with National data conventions under British Standard 
BS7666:2006 (spatial data-sets for geographical referencing) and the soon to be 
published National Street Naming and Numbering Code of Practice. 
 

 The review of Section 3.1 is proposed due to a Nationally seen increase in requests 3.3
by members of the public to remove street names associated with current or 

Page 55

Agenda Item 11



 

historical figures due to a change in public perception of the individual in question.  
These changes can prove costly for residents, businesses and the Council if it is 
agreed that renaming is required. 
 

 National guidelines allow for local policy in this area although they strongly 3.4
recommend that local authorities do not allow the use of names of living individuals 
as there is increased potential for perception to change during the course of their 
remaining life due to actions they may take.  MDC however has previously allowed 
the use of surnames, and in exceptional circumstances full names, of both living and 
deceased individuals recognised for significant service or contribution to the local 
community or a local resident who has made a national or global contribution. 
 

 Section 3.1 in the Policy presented gives the current process used by Officers when 3.5
asked to consider peoples’ names and includes an updated due diligence process 
used recently whereby the relevant Ward Members have been pre consulted to 
determine whether suggested names should be put forward or excluded from 
consideration before wider consultation. 
 

 This is an opportunity to review this current process to determine whether, given the 3.6
National issues previously highlighted, Council agrees this is still the correct 
approach for MDC or whether amendments need to be made e.g. agree to non - use 
of names of living individuals, prior to the adoption and publication of the full policy. 

 

4. CONCLUSION 

 
 Adoption of the policy will provide comprehensive guidance on the current criteria for 4.1

Street Naming and Numbering and will reduce the number of queries, questions and 
challenges received. 

 
 Requests to name after individuals are not common currently but having a reviewed 4.2

and agreed policy on naming after people will help Officers when faced with 
challenges from the public.  The addition of the due diligence stage is not expected to 
significantly impact the Ward Members’ time but when needed will provide the 
Council with an additional step towards identifying and reducing future potential 
costs. 
 

5. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 

 
 An accessible Street Naming and Numbering Policy will provide transparency to our 5.1

decision-making process when providing addressing for all properties and 
businesses in the area and will demonstrate our commitment to the themes of Place 
and Prosperity by providing clear addressing. 

 

6. IMPLICATIONS 

 
(i) Impact on Customers – Clear addressing enabling effective delivery of 

Utilities, Deliveries and quick attendance by Emergency Services. 

(ii) Impact on Equalities – None. 

Page 56



 

(iii) Impact on Risk – Identification and mitigation of risk of future financial costs 
which may be incurred through the renaming and replacement of an 
undesirable Street Name. 

(iv) Impact on Resources (financial) – No additional finance required to 
implement the policy. 

(v) Impact on Resources (human) – Additional time required with relevant 
Ward Members as and when Naming nominations have been put forward for 
consideration (Teams meeting or email consultation – minimal time impact). 

(vi) Impact on the Environment – None. 
 
(vii) Impact on Strengthening Communities – None. 

 
 
Background Papers:  
 
Enquiries to:  Al Morrell, Resources Casework Manager. 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

Maldon District Council 
Street Naming and Numbering 
Policy and Guidelines 

APPENDIX A

Page 59



Development of Policy 
The Policy and Guidelines have been developed utilising best practice guidance 
from Local Authorities, guidance from the National Land and Property Gazetteer, 
Legislation relevant to the Council’s Statutory Duties and existing polices of 
Maldon District Council 

Last updated: 17.08.22 

APPENDIX A

Page 60



Introduction 

The address of a property is continuing to become a very important area. Organisations and 
the general public need an efficient means of locating and referencing properties. The purpose 
of this guidance is to provide advice to Councillors, Developers, Residents and Business 
owners of the naming and numbering procedure of Maldon District Council 

For the purposes of this Policy the Address Management Team consists of: 
Local Land and Property Gazetteer (LLPG) Custodian (Resources) 
Street Naming and Numbering Administration Team (Service Delivery) 

1. POLICY STATEMENT

a. The naming and numbering of streets and buildings within the Maldon District is

controlled by Maldon District Council under Sections 17, 18 and 19 of the

Public Health Act 1925.

b. We will name and number streets and dwellings in line with the Local Land and

Property Gazetteer and Street Naming and Numbering data entry conventions

and best practice for the National Land and Property Gazetteer.

c. This power extends to commercial as well as domestic property.

d. Following these conventions will ensure our practices are compliant with the
British Standard BS7666:2006 (spatial data-sets for geographical referencing)
and by having a comprehensive Street Naming and Numbering policy will
ensure that:

i. Emergency Services can find a property quickly – delays can cost lives

ii. Mail is delivered efficiently and effectively

iii. Visitors can easily find where they want to go

iv. There is a reliable delivery of services and products

v. Service providers have up to date and accurate records.

vi. We bill the right person, in the right property, at the right time for Council

Tax and Non-Domestic Rates (NDR)

e. It is our responsibility to ensure all new commercial or residential properties are
addressed, named and numbered correctly.   To aid the emergency services,
all properties, where possible, will be numbered within an officially named
street, and street signs will be erected as recommended by the Department of
Transport (Ref: Circular Roads 3/93)

f. Where street names or previous numbers have been established without
reference to us, we have the authority to issue Renaming or Renumbering
Orders, under the relevant Act.

Note: 

Guidelines and Data Conventions are subject to change over time. 

Some existing naming and numbering used within the District may no longer be 

applicable to new properties under the latest guidance and should not be used as a 

precedence argument if challenging a given address. 

APPENDIX A

Page 61



Anyone seeking an address for a new/replacement property or development or wishing 

to add/change the name of their property, should apply by completing the relevant form 

from: www.maldon.gov.uk/streetnaming.  

2. STREET NAMING – PROPOSAL AND AGREEMENT

a. The naming of a street includes any road, square, court, alley or thoroughfare

which when named will be included in an official postal address.

b. When making an application for a new property or development, the Owner /

Developer must provide the following information:

i. Planning Application Number – without planning approval no address

will be allocated.

ii. Plans clearly showing plot numbers, location in relation to existing land

and property, and the placement of front doors or primary access on

each plot.

iii. Internal layout plans, if appropriate, for a development that is sub-

divided at unit or floor level.

c. As standard, a new named Street will only be considered for developments of 5

or more properties.

d. A new named Street may be considered for less than 5 properties if it is clearly

a separate thoroughfare connecting adjoining Streets i.e. is not a cul-de-sac or

private driveway and cannot be considered an extension of either adjoining

Street.

e. If a number of properties are situated on a private driveway then a “sub Street”

naming convention may be used at the discretion of the Council if the

properties cannot be sensibly incorporated into the current number sequencing

for the main Street (see Section 6)

f. Developers, local residents and the relevant Parish or Town Council are

welcome to propose street names for consideration in the consultation process.

It is recommended that more names are suggested than required for the

number of roads within the development in case one or more fail to meet the

required acceptance criteria.

g. If names are not provided or provided names are not suitable, the Address

Management Team will research the site and provide alternative suggestions.

Preference will be given to names that refer to the history and heritage of the

local area.

h. The proposed names will be checked against existing records to ensure that

the name meets the latest criteria (see Section 3).

i. The relevant Ward Councillors, Parish/Town Council and Royal Mail will be

consulted and asked for their comments on the suggested names. If the

consultees have additional suggestions or an objection to the name(s)

APPENDIX A

Page 62

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/streetnaming


provided, then another name will be chosen and the consultation process 

repeated.  

j. Once a suitable suggestion has been selected, agreement will be sought with

the Developer.

k. If agreement cannot be reached, the Council has the final say, however the

Developer may appeal to the Magistrates Court within 21 days of notification.

l. For large developments to be built in phases, where possible a full list of road

names will be approved in advance to be allocated as the development

progresses.

m. Once a numbering scheme has been implemented, Royal Mail will allocate

postcodes to any new streets and a letter from the Council is sent to the

Developer or owner confirming the new official address(es). A notification is

then sent to statutory authorities such as Royal Mail and other Council

departments.

3. STREET NAMING – NAMING CRITERIA AND GUIDELINES

The Address Management Team will use the latest National guidelines when
addressing properties.

Developers, Residents, Ward, Parish and Town Councillors must also follow these
guidelines for any suggested street names as set out below:

a. New street names must not duplicate or be similar to an existing street name
already in use in the Town/Village or adjacent postcode area.

b. A variation in the terminal word e.g. “Street”, “Road” will not be accepted as
sufficient reason to duplicate a name e.g. Sparrow Close off Sparrow Way.
Duplication may have a detrimental effect in an emergency response situation
and could cause unnecessary delays in identification of the correct property.

c. Street names should not be difficult to pronounce or awkward to spell.

d. Street names must not cause offense and will be verified by the Address
Management Team to ensure that they do not cause offence, having particular
regard to the Council's Equality Policy covering race, disability, gender, age,
faith & belief and sexual orientation.

e. The Council will not name streets after any “marketing” titles used by
Developers in the sale of new properties.

f. Names based on a Developer’s or Owner’s trading name are seen as
advertising and are not acceptable.

g. An exception to this may be made for a company that no longer exists, if used
solely in an historical context and the claim of advertising cannot be made.

APPENDIX A

Page 63



h. Street names must not begin with “The” or end with an “s” if this can be
construed as a possessive or plural e.g “The Saltings”

i. Abbreviations will not be used; the only exception is “St” for Saint.

j. All punctuation, including apostrophes, hyphens and full stops will be avoided,
even if grammatically correct.

k. All new street names should end, where possible, with one of the following
suffixes: NOTE: This list is subject to be extended as part of the national
consultation and will be updated prior to publishing.

Street (for any thoroughfare)
Road (for any thoroughfare)
Way (for major roads)
Avenue (for residential roads)
Drive (for residential roads)
Grove (for residential roads)
Lane (for residential roads)
Gardens (for residential roads) subject to no confusion with open space.
Place (for residential roads)
Crescent (for a crescent shaped road only)
Court/ Close (for a cul-de-sac only)
Square (for a square only)
Hill (for a hillside road only)
Circus (for large roundabouts with residential properties)
Vale (for residential roads, in appropriate circumstances)
Rise (for residential roads, in appropriate circumstances)
Row (for residential roads, in appropriate circumstances)
Croft (for residential roads, in appropriate circumstances)
Mews(for residential roads, in appropriate circumstances)

End, Cross, Meadow, Park, View, Field and Ley are not acceptable suffixes
however these may be incorporated into a street name provided it terminates
with an appropriate suffix e.g. Grangewood Park Avenue

All pedestrian ways should end with one of the following suffixes:
Walk
Path
Way

l. The use of North, South, East or West at the end of a street name (e.g Maldon
Road North, Maldon Road South) is only acceptable if a road is continuous and
passes over a major junction.  It is not acceptable if the road is in two separate
parts with no vehicular access between the two.

m. The Council will avoid having two phonetically similar names within a
Town/Village or in close proximity to a similar name within another
Town/Village.

e.g. Churchill Road and Birch Hill Road.

n. The Council will not consider the use of a street name which includes numbers
as this may cause confusion for emergency services and deliveries.

APPENDIX A

Page 64



e.g. 20 Seven Foot Lane which sounds the same as 27 Foot Lane

o. The consent of the Lord Chamberlain’s Office must be obtained if a name with
any reference to the Royal Family or use of the word “Royal” is suggested.

3.1 Naming Streets after People 
Maldon District Council currently has historically allowed the suggestion of 
Surnames with local significance for consideration. This could be significant 
service or contribution to the local community or a local resident who has made a 
national or global contribution. 

Names of those still living or the suggested use of a full name should be avoided 
but may be allowed in exceptional circumstances. 

Maldon District Council will conduct a due diligence process with the relevant Ward 
Members to ensure that suggestions received meet the Councils criteria, assess 
any current or future issues, including cost implications that may arise from using 
the name and to approve or decline inclusion in the consultation process. 

Due diligence will include but may not be limited to: 

• Reviewing the reasons why the suggested name has been submitted by the
applicant and confirm the local significance.

• Determine whether any remaining family (if the figure is deceased) or the
individual in question have given permission for the use of the name.

• Confirm that there are no other considerations to take into account or known
reasons for exclusion.

• Agree whether the proposal should be accepted or declined for inclusion in
the consultation and inform the Street Naming and Numbering Team.

Please note that agreement for inclusion in the consultation does not guarantee 
approval through the consultation process or final use. 

4. POSTCODE & POST TOWN PROVISION

a. Maldon District Council is not responsible for allocating the postal town or the
issuing of new postcodes to the address.

b. Once new addressing is agreed via the consultation process, Royal Mail will
provide the postal town and postcodes for the approved new streets when
requested to do so by the Council.  The maintenance of, and any future
changes to post towns and postcodes are the sole responsibility of Royal Mail.

c. If a resident disagrees with the post town within their postal address, the
resident should contact Royal Mail who has a procedure laid down in their code
of practice by the Postal Services Commission for these queries.

5. ADDRESS LOCALITY – OFFICAL VS POSTAL ADDRESS

5.1 Official Address

The council must where possible address properties based on their physical 
geographical location in line with National data entry conventions i.e. within the 
correct parish and ward boundaries. This ensures that the property and residents 

APPENDIX A

Page 65



8 

are placed within the correct Council Tax and Electoral areas. This geographical 
location will be provided as the official address for any new properties.   

The official address consists of: 
The House number and/or name 
The Street 
The geographical Town or Village 

Royal Mail will be provided with the official address by the Council. 

In some instances a new property may be addressed to the nearest settlement 
rather than to the geographical parish settlement, although for Council Tax and 
Electoral purposes the parish boundaries will still apply. 

This is mainly applicable to new developments which cross a number of parish 
boundaries but may also apply to individual properties that lie on the outskirts of 
parish boundaries far from the main settlement.  

For example: 
A new property may be built on the Lower Burnham Road that geographically sits 
within the Purleigh Parish, but which is physically closer to North Fambridge. 

In this instance the property will be addressed as North Fambridge but it’s council 
tax and electoral registration would sit with Purleigh.  

5.2 Postal Address 

This takes the official address provided by the Council and adds the postal town 
and postcode information. 

The postal town and post code are effectively just routing instructions for postal 
staff to enable timely delivery of post. 

Historically the postal address has sometimes contained a different Town or Village 
to the official address which can cause confusion. 
All new official addressing provided by the Council will be adopted by Royal Mail 
for postal purposes. 

The Council may keep a record of an historic postal address should it differ from 
the official address, if necessary. 

Within the District there are a number of postcodes that historically do not have a 
street name held by Royal Mail within the postal address. This can cause issues for 
both emergency services and delivery drivers. 

If such an address is queried with Royal Mail by a resident, Royal Mail will contact 
the Council who will provide confirmation of the correct official address so that a 
street name can be added. 

6. PROPERTY ADDRESSING – CRITERIA AND GUIDELINES

General
All properties (commercial or residential) resulting from new build, rebuild
following demolition, conversion or splitting / merging of existing property must

APPENDIX A

Page 66



apply to the Address Management Team via the Street Naming and Numbering 
application form before an official address will be allocated  
www.maldon.gov.uk/streetnaming  

6.1 Numbering & Naming 

a. All properties on a new named street will be allocated numbers.

b. A new street will be numbered with odd on the left and evens on the right
commencing from the junction nearest the centre of the main town or village.

c. New properties on an existing street will be numbered unless the street does
not have a numbering scheme.  If this is the case the Developer / Owner will be
required to provide naming suggestions which will then be checked against
naming convention criteria to ensure suitability and confirm there is no
duplication with current or similar sounding property names in the area. The
suggested name must not repeat the name of the street.

d. Business names shall not take the place of a number or building name.

e. Company/Owner names will not be accepted if naming an Industrial / Business
/ Trade Park.

f. Where a property has a number, it must be used and displayed.  Where a
name has been given to a property as well as its official number, the number
must always be included for addressing purposes. The name cannot be
regarded as an alternative for the number.

g. When a property is demolished its address is retired.  If a single new property
replaces a single demolished property then the new property will be assigned
the previous property’s number however a street naming and numbering
application must be made to reinstate the retired address.

h. When new properties are built on an existing street and there are no available
numbers a letter will be used as a suffix e.g. 3A

i. If two or more houses are merged then the “new” number must include the
numbers of the merged properties.
e.g. if 76 & 78 High Street are merged to one property the new number would
be 76 -78 High Street.

j. Should a new development be accessed via a private driveway the Address
Management Team may consider, in agreement with the Developer, the use of
a sub-street identifier off the main road to reduce the use of suffixes
e.g. 1-4 Bishops Place, The Street, Wickham Bishops.

k. If the new development consists of 5 or more properties, creation of a new
street may be determined to be more appropriate by the Address Management
Team, depending on the length of the private driveway and proximity of the
properties to the main street.

l. Consecutive numbering may be used in a cul-de-sac where there is no scope
for future development.  Consecutive numbering in a clockwise direction is
preferred.

APPENDIX A

Page 67

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/streetnaming


m. Numbering sequences should be consecutive. No numbers will be excluded
due to superstition or personal preference.

n. Properties (including those on corners) will be numbered according to the street
from which the main entrance is situated.

o. Manipulation of numbering in order to secure a “prestige” address or to avoid
an address which is thought to have undesired associations will not be allowed.

p. Private garages, annexes (as defined in planning conditions as those that may
only be used for ancillary purposes to the main residence), Stables and other
buildings will not be allocated separate addresses or numbering to the main
dwelling to which they are associated.

q. Plots of land will not be provided with official addresses.

6.2 Multiple Occupancy Buildings 

a. For new build blocks, the building will be given a number associated to
the street on which the main entrance sits. All divisions within the
building will then be assigned an internal number prefixed by Flat,
Apartment or Unit as appropriate
e.g Flat 1, 24 New Street, Flat 2 24 New Street etc

b. Numbering will usually be applied in a clockwise direction from the main
entrance on each floor.

c. Should any of the ground floor Flats, Apartments or Units have access
via their own front door directly onto the main street (rather than being
accessed via the building foyer) then these should be allocated
numbering directly to the street.

d. Where new dwellings are within an already numbered building i.e. an
existing address is subdivided, then each new Flat, Apartment or Unit
will be addressed the same way as points a -c.

e. Geographically descriptive names for Flats, Apartments or Units must
not be used
e.g. Ground Floor Flat, 24 New Street; First Floor Flat, 24 New Street

f. If the Multiple Occupancy Building has entrances on more than one
street then each entrance may be addressed to the relevant road if
required, although consultation with Royal Mail and emergency services
may be taken prior to finalisation.

6.3 Infill Developments 

Where properties are built within the existing numbering sequence of a street, 
suffixes will be applied as follows: 

a. Single Properties:
The appropriate “missing” number will be allocated to the new property
e.g. if the property is built on land between 50 and 54 then the new
property will be assigned 52 if it is not already in use or has not been
used historically in a different location.

APPENDIX A

Page 68



If a property has been demolished to be replaced with a new property 
then the “old” number will be assigned to the new property (see 6.1.g) 

If all numbers are used then the property will be assigned the number of 
the lowest neighbour plus a suffix 
e.g. if built between 21 and 23 then the new property will be assigned
21A

b. Multiple Properties:
The appropriate “missing” number will be allocated plus a suffix to the
new properties
e.g. if 3 properties are built on land between 50 and 54 then the new
properties will be assigned 52, 52A and 52B if not already in use.

If multiple properties are built to replace a single demolished property 
then one new property will be assigned the original number and the rest 
will add a suffix. 
e.g if 25 New Street is demolished and replaced by two new properties
these will be assigned as 25 & 25A New Street.

c. Future Proofing Numbering
Where there is possibility of further infill development at a particular site,
numbers may be “missed” or “reserved” to allow for numbering of any
future properties.
e.g. if there is a large green space at the entrance to a new build cul de
sac that could potentially be used to add 2 more houses to the street,
the numbering of the current properties could start at “3” to reserve “1 &
2” for any future development.

In all instances above, even if it is likely a number will be reused, a Street 
Naming and Numbering application must be made to the Council to review and 
confirm the official address of the property. The Council will then advise Royal 
Mail and relevant agencies. 

7. ADDING, REMOVING OR CHANGING A PROPERTY NAME

If a property has a house number it is not possible to remove the number and
replace solely with a name

If you wish to add, remove or change a property name you must complete the Street
Naming and Numbering application form at www.maldon.gov.uk/streetnaming

Royal Mail will not accept notification of name changes unless advised by the Council.

a. Applications can only be made by the owner of the property, not tenants.

b. Name changes cannot be made if the property is in the process of being
purchased, however the prospective new owners may consult the Council on the
suitability of their preferred name in advance of exchange of contracts.

c. House names or similar sounding House names must not be replicated within the
same Town / Village – this includes different spellings, or variations of a name.

APPENDIX A

Page 69

http://www.maldon.gov.uk/streetnaming


d. In some instances, house names may not be allowed if the proposed name is
already in use on the same street name in a neighbouring Town / Village.  This is
to avoid confusion for emergency services and deliveries.

e.g. If someone on Southminster Road, Tillingham wanted to call their property
“Swallowtails” but there was already a “Swallowtails” on Southminster Road,
Asheldham then this would not be allowed due to their proximity and potential for
confusion.
However if the only other “Swallowtails” on a Southminster Road was in Mayland
then this may be allowed.

e. Under no circumstances will a house name be allowed that is offensive or
construed to be offensive

f. It is not possible to replace a number with a name.  You are allowed to apply to add
an “alias” name to the address which can be used in conjunction with the number
but not instead of it.  Royal Mail will hold the name on their “alias” file but it will not
replace the official number of the address.

8. STREET RENAMING AND PROPERTY RENUMBERING

On occasion it may be necessary for the Council to rename or renumber an existing
Street.  This may be at the request of residents, Councillors or Emergency Services.
The Council will endeavour to find an alternative solution to the issues raised and will
work with all residents and services involved.  Renaming and/or renumbering will only
be implemented as a last resort.

a. We will only renumber a property where it is shown that there are consistent
service delivery issues for the residents and with the agreement of the owner.
Alternative solutions would be investigated first.

b. The Council would only enforce the renumbering of a property in exceptional
circumstances.

c. Should a new street name be required for an existing street, it will be subject to the
usual consultation and selection criteria as other new street names.  In addition, all
residents / business owners on the street in question will be made aware of the
proposed change and potential costs involved.

d. Once agreed, a notice of the order will be placed in the street in question and in the
local newspaper. Anyone objecting to the name can appeal to the Magistrates
Court within 21 days of the posting.

e. The Council will notify Royal Mail and other Council Departments of the change.

f. It is the responsibility of the resident or business owner to notify personal and
business contacts and to pay any costs incurred.  These will not be reimbursed by
the Council if the change request has come from the residents.  An exception may
be made if the change is initiated by the Council.

g. All costs associated with providing and erecting name plates will be met by the
person or organisation requesting the change.  In exceptional circumstances these
costs may be met by the Council.  Once sited, nameplates will be maintained by
the Council.

APPENDIX A

Page 70



9. STREET NAMEPLATES

a. It is unlawful to erect a street nameplate until the street name has been
confirmed in writing by Maldon District Council.

b. New street nameplates will be provided and paid for by the Developer as a
requirement for adoption.

c. Nameplates should be in place prior to property occupation.

d. Maintenance of street nameplates will transfer to Maldon District Council once
a street has been adopted by Essex County Council as the Highways Authority.

10. CHARGING

Maldon District Council is not permitted to charge for the service of street naming and
numbering as the duty to provide this service is not discretionary.
There are a large number of interested parties, statutory undertakers etc. who wish to
be made aware of the existence of new addresses.  The Council charges for this
aspect of the street naming and numbering service.

For changing the address of an existing property or re-addressing a development
which has already been addressed, the authority reserves the right to make an
administrative charge under the Local Government Act 2003 (section 93)

A schedule of charges can be found here (will add link)

APPENDIX A

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Our Vision: Sustainable Council – Prosperous Future 

REPORT of 
DIRECTOR OF SERVICE DELIVERY 

to 
STRATEGY AND RESOURCES 
15 SEPTEMBER 2022 
 
MALDON DISTRICT COUNCIL HOMELESSNESS AND HOUSING STRATEGY 
EXTENSION 

1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

 
 to agree an extension to the Homelessness and Housing Strategy from 2018 - 2023 1.1

to 2018 - 2025. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
(i) That recommendations of the Councils Auditor BDO which advocated for the 

Council’s Homelessness and Housing Strategy to be extended, be noted;  
 
(ii) that the proposed amendment and two year extension to the Homelessness 

and Housing Strategy so that Officers can continue to deliver against the 
objectives therein, be agreed. 

 

3. SUMMARY OF KEY ISSUES 

 
 The Maldon District Council Homelessness and Housing Strategy (the Strategy) was 3.1

first drafted in 2018 and contains a number of Actions which are essential ongoing 
functions as well as Actions yet to be delivered 
 

 The Strategy (at APPENDIX 1) includes a minor amendment to align the Strategy 3.2
with the current Corporate Outcomes within the Councils Corporate Plan (page 8). 

 

4. CONCLUSION 

 
 Extending the Strategy will allow Officers to continuing delivering against the 4.1

corporate objectives of the Council as set out in the Strategy on pages 61 – 66. 
 

5. IMPACT ON STRATEGIC THEMES 

 
 The Housing Strategy supports the Councils Core Values of: 5.1

 Having a Customer Focus; 

 Being Ambitious; 

 Collaborating to Deliver. 
  

 The Housing Strategy further supports the Councils Place Thematic Strategy: 5.2

Page 73

Agenda Item 12



 Deliver the Housing the District Needs. 
 
 The Housing Strategy further supports the Councils Community Thematic Strategy: 5.3

 Working with our communities and partners to improve the physical health 
and well-being of our residents; 

 Working with our communities and partners to improve the mental health and 
well-being of our residents; 

 Building on the strengths of our communities and what they can do to support 
themselves and help each other to thrive. 

6. IMPLICATIONS 

 
(i) Impact on Customers – The Housing Strategy continues to provide a 

framework within which Housing can shape and deliver services to Maldon 
and Burnham-on-Crouch residents. 

(ii) Impact on Equalities – None. 

(iii) Impact on Risk – Failure to have an active Homelessness and Housing 
Strategy could lead to the Housing delivering services inefficiently or against 
legislative policy. 

(iv) Impact on Resources (financial) – None. 

(v) Impact on Resources (human) – None. 

(vi) Impact on the Environment – None. 
 
(vii) Impact on Strengthening Communities - Successful delivery of Housing 

Strategy Projects will have positive outcomes for social/affordable housing 
delivery across the district. 

 
 
Enquiries to:  
Damien Ghela, Lead Specialist (Community) 
John Swords, Senior Housing Specialist 

Page 74



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Maldon District Council Draft Homelessness and Housing Strategy  
2018 - 2025 

Page 75



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Contents 

Forward ....................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

Statutory and Strategic Framework ........................................................................................................................ 6 

Maldon District Council Corporate Plan ............................................................................................................. 8 

Maldon District Council’s Local Development Plan ....................................................................................... 9 

Background to Housing in the Maldon District ........................................................................................................  

Managing Need and Demand ....................................................................................................................................  

Homelessness ..............................................................................................................................................................  

Review of Homelessness .......................................................................................................................................  

Causes and Prevention of Homelessness ...........................................................................................................  

Formulating Our Approach to Preventing Homelessness .................................................................................  

Preventing recurring homelessness ......................................................................................................................  

Partnership arrangements ......................................................................................................................................  

Providing more homes ............................................................................................................................................  

Housing for an Ageing Population .............................................................................................................................  

Background and Policy ...........................................................................................................................................  

Types of Housing For Older People ......................................................................................................................  

Our Requirements ...................................................................................................................................................  

Promoting Independence at Home .......................................................................................................................  

Planning and Providing Homes for Older People ...............................................................................................  

Fixing Our Broken Housing Market ...........................................................................................................................  

Managing Supply .....................................................................................................................................................  

Community Led Housing ............................................................................................................................................  

Action Plan ....................................................................................................................................................................  

Our wider aims - Homelessness ................................................................................................................................  

Older People .........................................................................................................................................................  

Fixing Our Broken Housing Market ...................................................................................................................  

Managing Supply .................................................................................................................................................  

Appendix – Housing Data ...................................................................................................................................  

Entry / Average Private Rent Costs pcm (district-wide) .................................................................................  

Entry House Prices (district-wide) .....................................................................................................................  

Homelessness (2017/18) ....................................................................................................................................  

Trends in homelessness 2008-17 .....................................................................................................................  

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 76



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Forward 

 
Executive Summary 

This strategy seeks to help explain the need for housing in the District, incorporating a review of 
homelessness and the Council’s Homelessness Strategy which is a statutory requirement with a 
broader Housing Strategy that then considers a number of ways we can improve the supply of 
housing to meet local need. 

 

This new strategy takes into account recent changes in legislation, in particular the 
Homelessness Reduction Act (2017) which places a new duty on local housing authorities to 
prevent homelessness wherever possible. This is something the Council has been doing for 
a number of years but the new Act extends the duty to provide assistance to a much broader 
group than those covered by the previous ‘main’ duty, anyone who is eligible and at risk of 
becoming homeless within 56 days can now expect help developing their own Personal 
Housing Plan, with help and advice to help prevent them from losing their accommodation. In 
cases 
where this is not possible, all councils now also have a duty to try and ‘relieve’ homelessness 
by providing temporary accommodation along with help and advice to move on to more settled 
housing. In practice this may not be too dissimilar to what the Council was doing in the past but 
in a more structured way, and possibly across a greater range of people including those who 
may not have a connection with the area. In seeking to meet the need for housing, the Council 
therefore welcomes the recognition that priority must first be given to prevention and there is 
now a stronger emphasis on this as part of the Homelessness Strategy. This includes: 
 

 Implementing new systems and ways of working so that everyone who is at risk of 
homelessness will have help developing their own Personal Housing Plan as the 
first stage of helping them; 

 Working with partners, such as local housing associations, social care and others, to 
see how we can work more closely on developing and commissioning services such as 
housing related supported and the new ‘duty to refer’ to help others identify and 
respond sooner to the possible threat of homelessness; and 

 Continuing to develop pathways and options for particular groups who we know will be 
at risk of becoming homeless, such as those at risk of eviction, domestic abuse, and 
street homelessness to help improve opportunities for prevention and relief. 

 

Consultation from previous strategies on homelessness tells us that whilst many people 
appreciate the need for prevention, we should also be looking at ways of improving supply and 
this is why we have brought both our strategies for homelessness and housing together into a 
single document, making it easier to understand the whole process from assessing need to 
managing supply. The largest source of supply will always come from homes that have already 
been built so we should never overlook this. Getting best use from the existing stock has to be 
the starting point and the final outcome of this strategy. This means tackling homes that are 
under-used such as empty properties and encouraging greater supply or ‘churn’ from the 
existing stock by helping those who want to move to do so, creating a better supply from what 
already exists and a sustainable way to help meet local housing need. Through this strategy 
we propose a number of actions including the following to improve the use of existing housing 
stock: 

 

 

 

Page 77



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 Monitoring and taking action against those empty homes that have been empty, 
especially those that are falling into disrepair; 

 Seeking closer working with local housing associations (Registered Providers) to see 
how much more we can do to help them make better use of their existing homes and 
sites; and 

 Continue to work with private landlords to help reduce the risk of homelessness and see 
how we can help local people access this sector. 

 Review of the Council’s Strategic Tenancy Strategy and Affordable Housing Allocations policy. 

 
With the approval of a new Local Development Plan, the Council is now in a position to give 
greater certainty to the local community on the development of new homes. The Local Plan 
includes a number of policies that seek to provide a better supply of new homes, in particular to 
this strategy, homes that are affordable and can be allocated to local people in housing need. 
We know that developing enough new homes of the right type will always be a challenge and 
one of the purposes of this strategy is to make sure that we have actions agreed that will ensure 
an adequate supply of the right type of homes, including the potential to increase this if needed. 
We see this as being in line with the government’s Housing White Paper “Fixing Our Broken 
Housing Market” (2017). The strategy has a section dedicated to this, complementing the 
section on managing supply and includes proposals such as: 
 

 Introducing more transparency and rigor into the assessment of financial viability for 
new developments to ensure the optimum level of affordable homes are provided; 

 Developing a framework for delivering Community Led Housing developments 
throughout the District; 

 Working with other public bodies who have land that could be developed to meet local 
housing need through the One Public Estate project; and 

 Working with partners to explore options for the Council to invest in new housing 
development, especially for homes that may not otherwise be delivered through other 
developments even though they are needed. 

Page 78



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Finally, this strategy also includes an update and replacement of the Council’s previous Older 
People’s Housing Strategy. This was innovative at the time and we now believe that it should 
also be incorporated within a broader strategic approach to housing, making sure it is not 
marginalized and is given the attention it deserves. A growing number of groups and public 
bodies can now see the opportunities that exist if local housing authorities can work more 
closely with health, social care and local voluntary organisations to bridge the gaps that exist 
between them. The District has a higher than average proportion of older people and previous 
studies have highlighted the need to begin to plan for the growing need for housing related 
support that will help older people retain their independence and risk the risks associated from 
poor or inadequate housing. Included in the proposed action plan are proposals to: 

 Enable the development of 150 units of Independent Living (extra care) housing; 

 Enable the development of a similar number of homes with low-levels of care; 
 Review and update the Council’s policies for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) including 

ways we can be more flexible, and 

 Provide a ‘home from hospital’ scheme. 

 
As the Council has no housing stock of its own it is very reliant on the help and support it 
receives from a number of partners such as local housing associations and other agencies 
who commission and provide housing related support, such as floating support. There are 
some things the Council would like to see but recognizes that these are beyond our immediate 
control so we have also included a list of our ‘wider aims’ at the end of this strategy as an 
addition to the proposed action plan. Our intention is that other partners may recognize some 
of these possible actions as tasks that they would either like to initiate or discuss with us ways 
of possibly implementing, through joint-working. 

Page 79



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Statutory and Strategic Framework 

The Council has a number of clearly defined legal duties that are dependent on an adequate 
supply of housing. Failing to discharge these duties can be costly for both those affected, 
including other agencies and the Council: 

 

Homelessness Acts (1996 and 2002) – place duties on all local housing authorities to secure 
temporary and settled accommodation for those who are homeless, in priority need (especially 
vulnerable) and have a local connection to the area. 

 

Homelessness Reduction Act (2017) – creates new duties to assess the housing needs of 
anyone who may be at risk of becoming homeless, providing them with advice and assistance 
to help prevent them from becoming homeless or where possible relieve them from being 
homeless, in addition to the duties of the Homelessness Acts. 

 

Housing Act (Part VI) (1996) – places a duty on local housing authorities to have in place 
policies for the allocation of housing through a housing register (waiting list) giving ‘reasonable 
preference’ to particular groups such as those who are homeless. 

 

Localism Act (2011) – gives local housing authorities greater discretion in setting policies for 
the allocation of housing, powers for local authorities and local communities to make better use 
of resources such as buildings to meet local needs, and a duty to produce a Strategic Tenancy 
Strategy that sets out it expectations and policies for the allocation and management of social 
housing in its district. 

 

Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act (1996) – requires local housing 
authorities to administer Disabled Facilities Grants, providing adaptations to the homes of those 
who are disabled. 

 

Care Act (2014) – requires an assessment of the suitability of housing for people needing help 
and support in their home, joint working and planning between health, housing and social care 
and the sharing of information to help patients and agencies make informed decisions about 
housing options. 

 

Homelessness Code of Guidance (2018) – although not legislation, local housing authorities 
are expected to deviate from this only where there are good reasons for doing so, requires joint 
working and commissioning of housing related support between district and county councils to 
prevent homelessness, specialist options for particular groups such as those at risk of domestic 
abuse, those leaving the armed services, young people. 

The combined effect of these and other legislation is to create a framework to ensure that help 
and ultimately housing is provided, in a regulated way, to those in housing need. In some cases, 
local housing authorities can discharge some of these duties by helping people access homes 
that are rented through private landlords but the most stable source of supply has always been 
social housing, i.e. homes that are owned and managed by district councils or housing 
associations. Maldon District Council transferred its housing stock to Moat Homes Limited 
(previously Plume Housing Association) in 1995 and has, since then, been almost entirely reliant 
on housing associations to meet the need for affordable and supported housing. 

Page 80



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

To meet both these statutory duties and the wider demand for affordable and supported housing, 
the Council is largely reliant on policy rather than legislation to provide an adequate supply. 
Policies can not be enforced to the same degree as laws and have to allow for discretion and at 
times deviation, consequently the powers that the Council has to ensure an adequate supply of 
homes are not as strong, nor as binding on others, as the duties we have to meet housing need. 
Goodwill, understanding and cooperation with partners is therefore an essential element of our 
strategic approach to meeting our housing need. 

 

Most of the existing supply of affordable homes and those planned for the future will be 
delivered through the policies in the Council’s Local Development Plan. These are based upon 
evidence on the local need and supply of homes provided by the Council’s Strategic Housing 
Market Assessment (SHMA) and its research into Objectively Assessed Need (OAN). The 
policies of the local plan reflect that National Planning Policy Framework and the approach 
taken to develop these is in accordance with National Planning Policy Guidance. 

Page 81



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Maldon District Council Corporate Plan 
 

The Council’s Corporate Plan 2021-2023 sets out the vision and strategic direction for the 
Council with some ‘flagship’ activities under the corporate outcomes. These are delivered as 
Key Corporate Activities with corporate support. The corporate outcomes specifically linked to 
this strategy are: 
 
Place 

 Deliver the housing the District needs 
 Deliver sustainable growth and new infrastructure through development 

 
Community 

 Working with our communities and partners to improve the physical health and well-
being of our residents 

 Working with our communities and partners to improve the mental health and well-
being of our residents 

 Ensuring the safety and wellbeing of our vulnerable children, adults and families 
 
Indicators which are used to track progress of these activities include: 
 

 The number of households whose living conditions have been improved through Council 
intervention (DFG/Bettercare funding); 

 The number of households who have been helped to avoid becoming homeless; 
 The number of new affordable homes provided; and 
 The number of empty homes brought back into use. 

 
This strategy therefore supports these aims and measures, with other actions being set as part 
of the Council’s Strategic Housing Service’s Service Plan. 
 

The Council’s decision-making process is through its Finance, Planning and Community 
Services Committees, to ensure consistent understanding of strategic housing issues and 
changes to national policy and legislation, the Council has created a Strategic Housing Board 
which is a Member and Officer group, meeting regularly, to consider progress with this strategy, 
changes and the need when it arises to review or change housing policy and priorities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 82



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Maldon District Council’s Local Development Plan 

The Council’s Local Development Plan sets out all the main policies for the development of new 
homes. The Plan identifies that a minimum of 4650 dwellings or 310 dwellings per annum is 
planned for in the District over the plan period (2014-2024). This includes market housing, 
affordable housing, housing for older people and those with other specialist needs. 

 

The majority of this housing is directed to the Garden Suburbs and strategic sites in Maldon, 
Heybridge and Burnham on Crouch. Section 5 is dedicated to housing and includes: 

 

 Affordable housing: sets out the requirements from market housing schemes for 
different parts of the District, and how the Council will secure affordable housing 
provision. Rural exception schemes, which allow for affordable housing in appropriate 
locations outside settlement boundaries are also discussed. 

 Housing mix: identifies that all developments should provide a suitable mix and range of 
housing in terms of size, type and tenure to reflect housing need and demand for market 
and affordable housing, including the needs of an ageing population 

 Specialist needs accommodation: the criteria against which schemes for 
specialist housing (housing for older people and those with disabilities) will be 
considered 

 Gypsy and travellers: the criteria against which schemes for gypsies, travellers 
and travelling showpeople will be assessed 

 

The Council also has two Supplementary Planning Documents which are at an advanced 
stage. These provide additional guidance to developers, providers and the community on 
Affordable Housing and Viability, including the Council’s approach to considering the viability of 
affordable housing within a market housing scheme; and on Specialist Needs Housing, 
primarily locational and design guidance relating to housing for older people and those with 
disabilities. 

Page 83



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Background to Housing in the Maldon District 

 
There are currently 25,800 households in the District according to the last census. There are 
lower than average levels of self-containment when looking at people moving, which means that 
when homes are sold or rented through the open market there is a greater chance that they will 
be bought or rented by people moving into the district rather than from within compared with 
most other districts including others in Essex, and only about half the working population both 
live and work in the district which is also lower than average. 
 

Part of the reason for this may be the difference between local incomes (many of which will 
inevitably be from working outside of the area) and local wages (how much those working in the 
district can expect to earn). Studies and surveys show that the difference between the two is 
about £150 per week, roughly about the average rent or until recently mortgage payment. 
Despite being very open and attractive to people moving into the area, the district has been 
accepted as being a distinctive district-based Housing Market Area because the area from 
which people move into the district from is so wide, ranging from nearby districts such as 
Basildon and Chelmsford to London and beyond. Many local people, especially those who work 
in the district, may find that they will struggle to afford to buy or rent a home compared to those 
who work elsewhere or are moving into the district from elsewhere. 

 

While the district is seen as a desirable location to move to, especially by older households, 
younger adults especially from late teens to early twenties are more likely to want to move out of 
the area, partly due to affordability and partly to be nearer to employment, education and other 
services. 

 

There is a predicted increase of about 3,000 additional households between the last census in 
2011 and the next in 2021. This is the basis for the growth of new homes in the Council’s 
Local Development Plan. The most significant proportion of growth is predicted to be in the 
older 
population, including some who are planning to move into the area from elsewhere to be closer 
to family. For this reason, our housing strategy gives particular attention to the housing need of 
older people, continuing on from our Older People’s Housing strategy, anticipating that for our 
district and the country as a whole, this is a housing issue that will become more and more 
important for housing authorities in the future. 
 

The district has a lower than average proportion of social or affordable housing and 50% more 
of the open market housing stock is larger detached or semi-detached homes compared to 
national and regional averages. There are about the same number of four-bedroom homes as 
two-bedroom homes, roughly 25% of each. Nearly half of all homes are under-occupied (larger 
than the household requires) and less than 2% of households are over-crowded (in homes too 
small for their need). Of those who feel their home is no longer suitable to their need, the largest 
proportion are home-owners with no mortgage, possibly indicating the issues of an ageing 
population and the profile of the local housing stock. The imbalance between the type of homes 
available to buy or rent and the difference between local incomes and wages also shows how 
important a better mix of market homes and an adequate supply of affordable homes is for local 
people. 

The levels of market activity have varied considerably over the last ten years, reflecting the 
wider economic trends but levels of sales are now just below where they were in 2007 just 
before the financial crisis. The majority of transactions are sales of existing homes, with new 
homes accounting for between 5% to 10% of overall annual sales. 

Page 84



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

During the last decade there has been a significant increase in the number of homes that are 
owned and managed by private landlords and this sector is now the second largest, after homes 
for sale, relegating social / affordable housing to the smallest proportion in line with many other 
parts of the country. This is not due to a significant reduction in the number of affordable homes 
but a shift in the balance between homes for sale and homes to rent in the open market, driven 
by cheaper borrowing for those with existing equity and higher levels of income, replacing 
potential first-time buyers unable to afford deposits or monthly repayments. 

 

The government sees the problems faced by younger households struggling to afford home- 
ownership as a sign of a ‘broken housing market’ although in some ways the change in tenure 
could be seen as a market response to the ability to purchase as an investment by some and 
the need for housing that they can afford by others. Amongst the aims of this strategy will be 
ways of helping people achieve home-ownership in ways that they can afford and also to 
promote good standards within the private rented sector as well as ensuring an adequate 
supply of affordable homes to meet local need. 

 

The Council’s Strategic Housing Market Assessment considered the need for households 
planning to move within both the market and affordable housing sectors, broken down between 
those who are existing households looking to move to somewhere that meets their needs, and 
those who are ‘concealed households’, i.e. those who need to move to a home of their own but 
unable to, usually because of cost. Of those looking to move within the open market, the main 
demand from existing households was for three-bedroom houses, for concealed households it 
was one-bedroom apartments. For those wanting or needing to move 
from affordable housing, the main need for existing households was for a one- or two-bedroom 
bungalow, for concealed households the need was for two-bedroom houses. In all cases, the 
most popular location was Maldon or Heybridge and this is reflected in the allocation of new 
development.

Page 85



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Managing Need and Demand 

 
Understanding the difference between housing need and housing demand is a vital element to 
understanding the issues that a housing strategy needs to deal with. 
 

Housing demand can be seen through the level of demand for homes that are available, usually 
within the open housing market to rent or to buy but can also include affordable homes that are 
offered through a choice-based lettings scheme such as that operated by the Council. For 
market housing, the obvious determinate is whether those who want to live somewhere can 
afford to do so, for most in the past this meant being able to buy through a mortgage but 
increasingly now this also means being able to afford to rent. Where there is competition, the 
offer is normally accepted by the person able to pay the highest price. We know that for the 
Maldon district this will often mean homes being bought or rented by a significant proportion of 
people from outside of the area which means a wider and more profitable market for those 
selling or renting but a more expensive market for some local residents, especially those who 
also work in the district who are likely to be on comparatively lower wages. In the same way 
that those living and working in the district may be displaced by demand from others, we have 
to recognise that some of this inward migration will be due to people from elsewhere who are 
also unable to afford to buy or rent in other areas that are even more expensive, and so 
movement from one area can trigger the same effect. The ‘housing market’ is unique in that it is 
the consumer rather than the product that is portable and for this reason, housing markets can 
be a greater determinate of the social and demographic profile of an area in the longer term 
than the existing profile of the local population. The ability of the local housing stock to meet 
local demand will therefore depend also on demand from other areas. 

 

Housing need is most evident where demand is driven by the need to be housed but without an 
adequate or affordable supply. The most obvious examples are concealed households (those 
having to live with others) who are unable to afford somewhere else, those who already have a 
home but cannot remain there because it is unsuitable and they can’t afford or manage a move 
elsewhere, and those who have to move (for example because their home is no longer 

available) but can’t find anything suitable or affordable. 

 

If demand was lower, housing costs and possibly supply would be better suited to local need. 
Conversely, if demand rises (often driven by demand and costs elsewhere) there is a growing 
risk that local demand will not be met by local supply and unless this also moves elsewhere, 
some of this demand will turn into local housing need including homelessness. 

 

By keeping a constant eye on demand, as indicated by supply through sales and new 
development, and costs in rents and house values, we can understand and plan to 
manage current and future levels of demand. 

Each year the Council’s Housing Service reviews the calculation of the planned need 
for affordable housing. This is calculated by taking into account: 

i. The number of newly forming households; 

ii. The proportion that are unable to afford to buy or rent on the open market (based on 
local incomes compared against lower levels of housing costs); 

iii. The numbers falling into housing need due to homelessness, no longer being able to 
remain in their current home or having to leave (based upon levels of homelessness and 
the use of emergency accommodation); 

Page 86



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

iv. Supply from the existing housing stock – lettings and allocation of homes; 

v. Planned new homes; and 

vi. Long-term empty homes and properties that are approved for demolition. 

 

By comparing this against the planned supply of new homes we can see if need is in line with 
what will be provided, if there is a shortfall is this due to supply falling below planned levels or 
need increasing to levels higher than expected. 

 

The Council now has its Local Development Plan in place and the majority of planned 
development is coming forward as planned, so although there is currently a shortfall we can see 
that this will be reducing as supply improves. If all other factors remain constant then it is 
reasonable to expect that during the period covered by this strategy the level of housing need 
will reduce but we know that wider demand can also have an impact on this, as can other local 
and individual circumstances, so just as important as managing the supply of homes is the 
Council’s ability to anticipate and manage need, whether this be through the prevention of 
homelessness, or meeting the requirements of an ageing population to manage living 
independently. 

 

The majority of housing supply will always come from the turnover or ‘churn’ from the existing 
stock so this strategy will also look at ways of making the best use of this supply to help manage 
the demand and need for new homes. 

Page 87



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Homelessness 

 
The Homelessness Act 2002 requires all local housing authorities to produce a new 
homelessness strategy no less than every five years, based upon a review of homelessness 
in their area. In developing this, we have taken account of the new Homelessness Reduction 
Act 2017 which extends the Council’s duties to prevent homelessness and the new Code of 
Guidance which provides guidance on carrying out the review and developing a new strategy. 

The new version of the Code of Guidance says that homelessness strategies should take 
account of other local strategies and plans, both of the Council and our partners. This includes, 
in particular, strategies for health and wellbeing (required by the Health and Social Care Act 
2012) and the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. Housing authorities can combine housing 
and homelessness strategies into a single document, as we are doing, in accordance with the 
Code of Guidance and feedback from consultation. 

Local Housing Authorities must undertake both a review of homelessness in their area and then 
provide a strategy that sets out how they plan to prevent and manage their duties to those who 
are at risk of, or become homeless. We have therefore combined both the review and our 
proposals within this section of the Housing Strategy. 

The Homelessness Reduction Act introduced a number of additional duties which now apply to 
all district councils, these include: 

 Extending the period when someone can be seen as being at risk of becoming 
homeless for 28 to 56 days, giving more time to help prevent homelessness; 

 Creating new duties to prevent homelessness (such as negotiating with landlords or 
families for them to continue offering accommodation) or to relieve homelessness (by 
helping people find alternative accommodation even if just for a short period) 

 Introducing Personal Housing Plans, so everyone has their own agreed plan to 
help them look at options for preventing and relieving homelessness, and 

 A duty for others such as hospitals, prisons and social care to refer people to the Council 
if they think that they may be at risk of becoming homeless within the next 56 days. 

For those cases where homelessness cannot be prevented, the previous legislation still applies 
and is now referred to as ‘the main duty’. This still means that after the 56 day period, people 
who are still without settled accommodation will need to be assessed to see if they are not only 
eligible (subject to immigration control with recourse to public funds) and homeless but also in 
priority need, not intentionally homeless and with a local connection. If so, then the Council 
would still have a duty to secure them settled accommodation and this is clearly where the link 
between need and supply (the homelessness review and strategy and the broader housing 
strategy) link together. 

 
There are many reasons why people need to move from their accommodation, in most cases 
this doesn’t mean that they will become homeless. For those who are at risk of becoming 
homeless, in most cases this is also due to the lack of suitable alternative accommodation, 
making a strong case we think to integrate our approach to responding to our duties to wider 
strategic housing issues. For this reason, many of the issues outlined in the Code of Guidance 
about increasing the supply of new housing, working with the private rented sector, the 
allocation of affordable housing, adaptations and supported housing are covered in other parts 
of this strategy. 

 
 
 
 

Page 88



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 
Review of Homelessness 

 
Having seen a fall in the number of households accepted as being homeless over the last 10 
years, the lowest level being in 2012/13, we are now seeing a gradual rise each year since 
that time. Comparing with other areas using just numbers is of little help as each district has a 
different population, for this reason a number of indicators are recorded as per thousand 
households. 

 

In 2016/17 the average proportion of households accepted as homeless per district in Essex 
was 2.33 per 1,000, with some districts above 4 per 1,000. The Maldon District had the second 
lowest level of homelessness at 0.93 per 1,000 which is also below the regional and national 
average. 

 

Table 1: Homelessness Indicators 2008 - 2017 

Year: 08/09 09/10 10/11 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 

Accepted as 
homeless 
(main 
duty) 

40 37 28 19 18 19 24 31 25 

Placed into Temp 

Accom 

(under 

s188)* 

24 15 13 13 8 11 13 15 15 

Prevention – 
helped to remain 
at current 
home. 

Nd 239 510 407 381 557 263 120 87 

Relief – unable to 

prevent but helped 

to find alternative 
housing 

Nd 50 108 40 28 63 32 17 6 

* Households who would have been homeless and reasonably thought to be in priority 
need so entitled to emergency accommodation. 

 
 

We can see from Table 1 that the number of cases of prevention and relief (prior to the 
Reduction Act, that were carried out as a discretion, have reduced over the last five years, the 
main reason being the increase in the cost of privately-rented accommodation and the 
reduction in welfare benefits for some households. The number of those accepted as homeless 
increased during this period but at a much lower rate. It is important to recognize that this was 
prior to the Homelessness Reduction Act so in most cases, although homelessness may not 
have been prevented or relieved to the same extent, it still did not justify a duty to 
accommodate. The new Act is likely to mean a higher number may need some form of relief 
from homelessness, especially if, despite the intention of the Act, the number of cases where 
homelessness can be prevented continues to reduce. 
 

 

 

 

Page 89



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 
Homelessness Indicators 2017/18 and county-wide comparisons 

 
By comparing our performance with the average number of cases of prevention, acceptances 
and placements into temporary accommodation we can get a better understanding of the 
prevalence of homelessness in this District and how well it is being managed over the last year. 
The number of households per 1,000 is often used as this takes into account the varying levels 
of overall population from one district to another, making it easier to compare. 

 

 Housing Enquiries for Maldon District: 502 (not including repeat visits from same 
applicant) 

 Homeless Preventions 82 achieved from the 502 above by Maldon District Council 

 Per 1,000 household 3.46 (Essex average = 4.5 per 1,000 hh) 

 Homeless approaches as homeless to Maldon District Council = 34 of 502 above 

 Homeless acceptances by Maldon District Council = 30 (0.93 per 1,000 hh, Essex average 

= 2.42) 

 Number placed into temporary accommodation by Maldon District Council = 32 

 Essex average 164 

 Number placed into B&B by Maldon District Council = 14 

 
The number of households in temporary accommodation has followed the same trend, peaking 
in 2008, falling to its lowest level in 2012/13 and rising gradually since then but still below the 
peak ten years ago. The proportion of households in temporary accommodation in 2016/17 was 
also one of the lowest in Essex, just 0.56 per 1,000 households compared to an average of 
2.69 for the whole of Essex and levels above 4 in 1,000 for some neighbouring areas. There 
is still some capacity within the existing supply of temporary accommodation which has not 
increased in the district during this period but time spent in this type of accommodation is 
increasing as households are having to wait longer for suitable alternative settled housing to 
move on to. 

 

Temporary accommodation covers a number of different types of accommodation, from bed and 
breakfast, to conventional properties allocated for this purpose, to purpose built or adapted 
units. In most cases the cost is greater than general needs affordable housing. As a 
comparison, a two-bedroom home let as social rent in the district may cost about £120 per week 
but the cost of temporary accommodation provided as B&B, or in privately provided housing, 
can cost up to £500 per week, of which only a proportion can be recovered through Local 
Housing Allowance, the remainder having to be met from local authorities’ General Funds. 
Ideally there will be just enough temporary accommodation to reduce the use (and cost) of B&B 
to make best use of funds but without risking a shortfall that increases costs and the length of 
time families may have to spend in B&B and / or accommodation away from their local 
community. Obviously, the better the supply of affordable housing in an area, the sooner 
families can move on from temporary accommodation and the sooner it becomes available to 
re-let to another family in need. 

 

Looking at recent trends for the District and across Essex as a whole, there is a growing 
concern that there are signs that the pressure that many London housing authorities have faced 
for the last decade are beginning to move to Essex. The Council has worked with other Local 
Housing Authorities in Essex and the East of England Local Government Association to 
improve the sharing of data. There has also been the development of agreements such as the 
use of a standardized way of reporting placements made by one authority (whether from 

Page 90



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

London or elsewhere in the east of England) to another area and a promise not to distort local 
housing markets by offering incentives to landlords that are disproportionately higher than the 
host local authority would consider offering. In some districts in Essex some local authorities 
are now seeing families staying in temporary accommodation in a year than they have 
accepted as homeless; a sign that supply is no longer keeping up with demand as a backlog 
begins to build up and families are spending more than a year waiting to be moved on. 

 

As already mentioned, the prevention of homelessness is a key aspect of the Homelessness 
Reduction Act 2017 and is something that the Council’s Housing Service has worked hard to 
achieve over the last 10 years, accounting for the reduction in homelessness and the use of 
temporary accommodation over this period. There are two elements to this: prevention which 
is work carried out to prevent a household from losing their accommodation or helping them 
find somewhere else before this happens, for example helping them to negotiate with a 
landlord or family member not to make them leave, and relief which occurs once the 
accommodation has been lost but before the Council has established a duty to secure them 
settled accommodation. 

 

Previously the Council had a very good record of preventing homelessness but this level of 
performance peaked in 2013/14 and has reduced each year since then as shown in Table 1 
above. In 2016/17 the proportion of prevention was 3.23 households per 1,000, higher than 
levels of homelessness and use of temporary accommodation but just below the county-wide 
average of 4.16 households per 1,000, illustrating the growing challenge of prevention of 
homelessness at a time when options such as private rent are become less affordable, 
especially to those on low incomes. 

 

Comparing with other districts in Essex, some of the highest levels of prevention are occurring 
in the same areas where there are also much higher levels of homelessness and temporary 
accommodation. One of the reasons for this may be that these areas are also allocating 
proportionately more resources to tackle what is a much greater problem in their own areas. 

 

Whilst the Council is still performing well, the direction of these trends is a concern, with rising 
homelessness, lengthening period in temporary accommodation reducing levels of prevention, 
we need to watch even more carefully in the future so we can spot when there is a need to 
allocate more resources to reduce the overall cost of homelessness, both to the Council in 
financial terms and more importantly the impact that this will have on local families. 

 

Two of the reasons why there has been a reduction in the prevention and relief of 
homelessness locally is due to: 

 Increasingly more difficult for those on low incomes to access the private rented sector, 
and 

 Changes to the way that supported housing is allocated 
 

We will look at ways that we can improve options with both of these through this strategy. 

Page 91



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Causes and Prevention of Homelessness 

 
The main causes of homelessness according to the Council’s records from cases dealt with, 
in decreasing order in 2016/17 were: 

 Eviction by landlord 

 Eviction by friend or relative 

 Relationship breakdown 

 NFA 

 Parental eviction 

This is very similar to the causes of homelessness across Essex as a whole. Parental 
eviction is slightly less prevalent in this district and may reflect a number of factors, including 
the ageing population and the higher than average number of larger homes that may make it 
easier to accommodate family. 

 

Termination or Eviction by Landlord 

In most cases this was by a private landlord (nearly 30% of all cases compared with 4% 
evictions by housing associations). About half of all cases had some rent arrears, although this 
was not always the reason given for ending the tenancy. Almost half involved tenancies which 
could otherwise have been extended or renewed if the tenant had been able to afford it. In some 
cases Discretionary Housing Payments (DHPs) were used to reduce the gap between rent and 
level of benefit that can be claimed to meet this cost. DHPs are an important option for many 
households who would struggle to bridge the gap between rent and the amount of money they 
receive either as earnings of welfare payments. Funding for DHPs is paid as a supplement to 
Housing Benefit or Local Housing Allowance and is a limited annual amount. For this reason, 
we need to try and ensure that it is used to bridge a gap as a temporary measure and not seen 
as something that could be available indefinitely. 

 

There is some flexibility as to what DHPs can be used for, for example helping to reduce or clear 
rent arrears and use as a way of paying rent in advance as well as meeting a shortfall in weekly 
or monthly rent costs. This is something that we can look at in more detail as a way of directing 
more resources towards the prevention and relief of homelessness. 

 

From discussions with landlords, we know that as well as financial certainty many see advice 
and support as something that can also help them manage a tenancy and reduce the risk of 
failure. The Trailblazer scheme, provided in partnership with Essex County Council, One 
Support and funding from government is an example of how this can be delivered, providing 
both landlords and tenants with a short but intensive period of support to help resolve any 
problems when they arise. A lower level of advice and support, either following on from this, or 
when first helping new tenants settle in to a tenancy, could also help reduce the risk of problems 
and extend the period of the tenancy. 

 

The Homelessness Reduction Act requires all applicants threatened with homelessness within 
56 days (extended from 28 days before) to be offered help through a Personal Housing Plan. 
This means that this can start at the same time as someone receives a mandatory two-month 
notice for a short-hold tenancy. This will help reduce delays in providing help including notifying 
landlords when they have not served proper notice. 

 

Page 92



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Over the lifetime of this strategy we aim to build stronger links with private landlords, helping 
them manage tenancies and reduce the risk of homelessness, whether through reducing the 
risk of tenancy failure or helping those who need to move find suitable alternate 
accommodation as quickly as possible. 

 
Eviction by Friend or Relative 

It seems that as more and more people struggle to find affordable housing, a growing number 
become reliant on family or friends to provide them with what may only be intended to be short-
term accommodation until they are able to find something. Often these arrangements go on for 
longer than expected until, for a number of reasons, they are asked to leave. In some ways, 
people in this situation have been at risk of becoming homeless since first moving in as few 
have a tenancy and are only accommodated under informal arrangements and it may have 
helped if advice and support was given much sooner to help them make a planned move. 

 

Sometimes the trigger for homeless is the relative or friend having to move and both being 
unaware, until it’s too late, of how difficult it can be to find affordable housing. Looking at some of 
these cases it is difficult to see straight away what can be done to prevent people in these 
situations from becoming homeless, especially if their ‘host’ also has to move. 

 

Providing easily accessible information about local housing options and promoting this as 
widely as possible would help people make informed plans sooner rather than later, managing 
expectations. 

Relationship Breakdown 

This also covers a wide range of scenarios, with differing options suiting different cases. 
There may be legal issues, sometimes quite complex, relating to the ending of a joint tenancy 
or the rights to occupy the matrimonial home. In some cases, there may be concerns about 
abuse by one partner to the other which may not always be disclosed or immediately noticed. 

 

If one party remains in the current home, this obviously reduces the number who are homeless 
but we have to be aware that this may not always be fair or reasonable; sometimes a partner 
may appear to be willing to leave, unaware of their rights or fearful of the consequences of 
challenging their ex-partner. 

 

Training and reviewing staff so that they are able to give appropriate advice, recognize when 
appropriate to sign post and refer people to more specialist services, and have access to a 
range of suitable services helps manage these cases to the best of our abilities. 

 

Incidence of domestic abuse as a cause of homelessness has remained fairly constant over 
the last 5 to 10 years. Although awareness of this problem is generally well promoted, it can 
be very difficult for those involved to seek help and support, in some cases where there are 
very high levels of control and coercion, offers of help may even be refused or the evidence of 
problems denied. This is an area where we believe there will always be a need for regular 
training to ensure staff are competent and able to engage appropriately. 

 

The Council currently contributes to a housing liaison post for MARAC (Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference) and also supports through government funding an outreach service 
provided by Colchester and Tendring Women’s Refuge to those at risk, including women from 

Page 93



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

hard to reach groups. Tackling domestic abuse requires joint working between statutory and 
voluntary agencies and we will continue to support and be part of this partnership approach at 
both strategic and operational levels. 

 

No Fixed Abode 

As mentioned above, a number of people rely on informal arrangements with family and 
friends, which sometimes breaks down resulting in homelessness. We have seen a growing 
number over the last few years of cases where people have moved on to an iterant lifestyle, 
especially single people. This will often involve ‘sofa surfing’, moving frequently between 
friends and family, sometimes with occasional periods of sleeping rough, in cars, empty 
buildings or on the streets. 

 

Some people in this situation only make contact when their health (physical or mental) makes it 
necessary or when being discharged from hospital, care or other institutions. Often the reason 
given for not previously engaging is an awareness of the limited options available and therefore 
thinking that there is nothing that can be offered to help. This may be due to a lack of 
knowledge of what the Council can do to help, or a perception that there is no point in asking, 
based upon some anecdotal feedback from those who have engaged. The new duty to refer will 
make options clearer for applicants and their supporting agencies. 

 

Since 2016 the Council has supported a local homelessness charity called CHESS to provide 
an outreach service to anyone reported to be sleeping rough. Annual counts of rough sleeping 
show that it is not as acute as it is in some other neighbouring districts but it has risen since 
2014 when there were no reported incidents to last year (2017) when there were four confirmed 
cases and possibly some others that were either not confirmed or not noticed. 

 

Often extended periods of homelessness and in particular rough sleeping are symptoms rather 
than causes of other problems, such as mental health, substance abuse or fleeing abuse. 
Identifying and meeting these support needs is just as important in these cases as providing 
accommodation and we welcome the introduction of Personal Housing Plans as a way of 
formalizing this assessment. 

 

To relieve homelessness in these cases will often mean providing both support and housing. 
There is a lack of supported housing in the District, especially for those with lower level mental 
illness and we shall work with partners to try and meet this need through this strategy. There is 
also a shortfall in smaller affordable homes, especially bedsits for younger people under 35 
(due to benefit restrictions). We will encourage both private landlords and Registered Providers 
to help improve the supply of smaller, more affordable housing as part of our broader Housing 
Strategy, ensuring that understanding of local housing need is up to date and that partners 
understand that this is a priority, whether through remodeling of existing housing or through 
new development.. We will also continue to identify and work with those who can provide 
support that helps single people secure and retain accommodation, especially for the following: 

 Young people under 21 

 People suffering with mental health 

 People with a history of substance abuse 

 Ex-Offenders 

 Ex-services 

Page 94



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Parental Eviction 

This was the most common cause of homelessness but has greatly reduced over the last 10 
years. One of the reasons may be a better understanding of the implications of evicting adult 
children during a housing crisis. Children under the age of 18 who become homeless should 
be assessed by social care and may be given help with accommodation and support under the 
Children Act. 

 

For those over 18, the duty to assess and assist will be with the Council as the local housing 
authority. Prevention in these cases usually involves working with families, understanding the 
reasons for asking their child to leave, seeing if situations can be resolved. This frequently 
leads on to explaining options, managing expectations and seeing if unplanned evictions can 
be turned into planned moves. 

 

For those cases which can’t be prevented, there is an inevitable concern about how well a 
young person without help or support from their family can be helped to manage a tenancy. If 
this fails, further homelessness with a history of rent arrears, can be even harder to resolve. 

 

There is very little housing with support for young people in the District, especially for those who 
have not been supported by social care as a child in need. We will work with landlords and 
especially Registered Providers to see if it is possible to provide more supported housing for 
young people and other services such as floating support that can help them move on to 
greater independence. Making links with organisations that provide assistance with training and 
employment will help with this process and further improve their housing options in the medium 
to longer term. 

Page 95



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Formulating Our Approach to Preventing Homelessness 

 
Advice and Information 

 
 

Advice and information is helpful for anyone seeking help to avoid becoming homeless. The 
Council’s Housing Options Team provides advice and information to help prevent 
homelessness. The new duty for other public bodies to identify and refer anyone at risk of 
homelessness and the introduction of Personal Housing Plans makes it appropriate to review 
how we share this information and make sure that partner agencies have a better level of 
knowledge about local housing options and ways of preventing homelessness. 

 

During the consultation of this strategy we will review all existing information and consult with all 
of our partners so that they are aware of the advice that the Council provides, engaged with the 
review of information and the ways that this is made available to individuals and agencies, as 
required by the Housing Act 1996 (s.179(1)). 

 

This will include details for different groups and those supporting them who may need more specialized 
information, in particular: 

 people released from prison or youth detention accommodation, 

 care leavers, 

 former members of the regular armed forces, 

 victims of domestic abuse, e. people leaving hospital, 

 people suffering from a mental illness or impairment, 

 older people, 

 people with physical disabilities, and 

 people at risk of harassment or discrimination due to their faith or sexuality 
 

The last three categories have been added to those recommended by the Code of Guidance, 
having been recognized as other groups for whom we believe there is also an additional risk of 
homelessness and following an equalities impact assessment. 

 

The range of information provided will cover: 

 tenants’ rights and rights of occupation – reviewing and updating our Tenants’ and 
Landlords’ information packs; 

 what to do about harassment and threats of illegal eviction – also included in our 
Tenants’ and Landlords’ information packs, also as part of our wider activities to 
promote awareness of homelessness and prevention through interviews, staff training, 
and work with partners; 

 rights to benefits including assistance with making claims as required – working in 
collaboration with the Council’s Benefits Team and Customer Services; 

 how to protect and retrieve rent deposits - Tenants’ and Landlords’ information packs; 

 rent and mortgage arrears – through signposting to local services that help with 
budgeting and debt advice such as CAB, and working in partnership to secure 

Page 96



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

funding and agreements for earlier identification and repayment; 

 how to manage debt – by indicating local and national services and agencies; 

 help available to people at risk of violence and abuse – working with agencies such 
as MARAC, MAPPA and local refuges to jointly promote and coordinate services to 
help those at risk; 

 grants available for housing repair and/or adaptation – working with stakeholders and 
voluntary organisations, we shall review and consult on our current policies and plan to 
expand these to cover a wider range of need; 

 how to obtain accommodation in the private rented sector – e.g. details of landlords 
and letting agents within the district, any accreditation schemes, and information on 
rent guarantee and deposit schemes, by establishing a local landlords’ forum and 
working more closely with this sector; 

 how to apply for social housing – by consulting with agencies and local groups to make 
sure that they are aware of the local choice-based lettings scheme, how to access it 
and information about supply and demand. 

 how to access shared-ownership or other low-cost home ownership schemes – as part 
of our renewed information on local housing options, renewing our booklet Housing 
Facts, Myths and Legends. 

 

Early Identification 

We want to make sure that as many people and agencies as possible are able to identify the 
risks of homelessness and make referrals to the Council, whether under the duty to refer for 
individual cases or for working at a strategic level. 

 

We shall continue to highlight the risks of specific groups who we know are more likely to 
become homelessness so that other agencies understand and recognize these risks. This 
includes: 

 Families in rented accommodation with rent arrears, 

 Single people living with relatives or friends 

 Those on low incomes renting from private landlords 

 People at risk of domestic abuse or other forms of harassment 

The process and system for referring to the Council will be clearly shown on the Council’s 
website and circulated, with updates, to local and strategic contacts. Wherever possible we 
want to make the arrangements for referral as consistent as possible with other local housing 
authorities in Essex, especially for those organisations which operate across district boundaries, 
such as prisons, hospitals and social care. We will therefore support attempts to develop a 
county-wide strategic response to homelessness for some groups. 

 

From experience, we know that too often people fall into a risk of homelessness partly due to 
not being aware of how difficult it can be to find housing that is suitable and affordable. 
Sometimes people aren’t aware that they are at risk of becoming homeless until they start 
looking for somewhere to move to – by which time it can be too late. To help people gain a 
better understanding and manage expectations, we will update and relaunch our booklet 
“Housing Fact, Figures and Myths” about local housing options. 

 

 

Page 97



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Pre-crisis Intervention 

There are a number of risks that we know will in some cases lead to homelessness and we 
therefore want to make sure we have the resources and agreements in place with others to 
intervene proactively in these situations. 

 

We will work with other districts to review existing protocols and agreements such as that for 
homeless families, care leavers and young people. We will also support further joint working 
between districts for new protocols with health and criminal justice. 

 

To reduce the risk of eviction or repossession, we shall also look to have better liaison with local 
landlords and housing associations to identify and respond sooner to those cases where there 
is a risk of debt. 

 

The Council has supported the work of the local CAB and we shall continue to work together to 
reduce delays and levels of debt, seeking to speed up the processes for referring and advising 
those at risk. This will include agreeing who should do what, avoiding duplication and sharing 

information and feedback as ‘one team’. 

 

We also need to make sure that we work closely and effectively between the different services 
within the Council, especially Customer Services, Environmental Health, Revenue and Benefits 
and Planning Enforcement. The Council’s Corporate Leadership Team has made the 
prevention and relief of homelessness a corporate priority and regular reports on issues and 
progress with this strategy will be provided for review. This will also become a standing agenda 
item for the Council’s Strategic Housing Board (a Member and Officer standing working group). 

 

Preventing recurring homelessness 

Analysis of past trends and cases shows the following groups to be at particular risk of recurrent 
homelessness: 

 

Single people with complex needs – often there has been prolonged periods of 
homelessness, sleeping rough and failing to maintain links with agencies offering or providing 
support. Floating support can help but some will need more intensive help, especially at the 
start of a tenancy, or in some cases in order for potential landlords to consider housing them. 
We have identified a need for more supported housing for those suffering with mental health, 
which could be a step down from existing provision and a step up for those who need more than 
floating support. We shall work with housing associations and other agencies to try and enable 
the provision of 4 to 8 independent units that provide support as well as accommodation. We 
shall also continue to develop links with CHESS, helping single homeless people move on from 
emergency accommodation into more settled housing with accompanying support top help 
them also access training and employment. 

Families with rent arrears – not only can arrears lead to eviction and homelessness, they can 
also make it less likely that other landlords or housing associations will consider offering 
another tenancy, even in cases where the Council is satisfied that there is no case of intentional 
homelessness. We shall therefore look into how we can identify and reduce the risk of rent 
arrears leading to eviction and also, where this has not been possible, seek to establish 
agreements with partners that allow families to be considered for re-housing subject to a 
repayment agreement being put in place. 

Page 98



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Young people – one of the most common examples of recurring homelessness is young 
people, especially where they have little previous experience of managing a tenancy and live 
independently without support. We will therefore seek to expand the access to local supported 
housing schemes to include local young people who are homeless but do not have the help and 
support of social care as a care leaver. We will also seek to re-establish links with local schools 
to see if it is possible to provide more information about preparing for a tenancy. 

 

Partnership arrangements 

There are a number of organisations involved with preventing homelessness and supporting 
those the Council’s Housing Options Team works with. In some cases there are already formal 
agreements or protocols in place, in which case we shall review them during the period covered 
by this strategy. In other cases, there may only be a joint understanding but nevertheless by 
working together we have achieved some excellent outcomes. As part of the development and 
implementation of this strategy we shall review and seek to improve our work with all of these 
organisations and look to see if there are others we should be working with as well. 

 

The new Act introduces a duty for some public bodies to identify and refer people they believe 
may be at risk of homelessness. This duty applies to prisons and other similar institutions, 
schools, hospitals, and social care. We shall work with these organisations to help them 
understand the circumstances under which people may be at risk of homelessness, for example 
if renting privately and on a low income, and how to make referrals. We will also share this with 
others who don’t have the same duty but may also be able to help prevent homelessness. 

 

In both cases, we will also seek to work with partners so that we can refer people to them as 
part of their Personal Housing Plans. This will mean that we will have to do more than just 
signpost to these other organisations, there will be a need to share information about the need 
for support as well as housing and for this sharing of information to be a two-way process, so 
we can monitor people’s plans and see how effective they are at preventing homelessness 
throughout the 56-day process. 

 

Temporary accommodation 

There are some homes allocated for this purpose by partner housing associations which we 
need to help retain as a valued part of our working partnerships. We have managed without the 
need to increase this supply since the last homelessness strategy but trends show this may not 
be enough for the next few years, until our supply of new affordable homes starts to increase. 
We will therefore look to see if we can increase the number of homes that can be used as 
temporary accommodation without the need to use existing affordable home as this only 
creates a shortfall in the existing supply, to avoid the need to rely on B&B. The number of 
additional units needed at the moment is only small (possibly and extra one or two each year) 
and ideally these would have the potential to be converted into affordable homes for use in the 
future if need subsides. This could be through helping partners to acquire additional properties 
and / or working with owners of privately owned properties such as empty homes or existing 
ones that could be adapted to make better use, through schemes such as our Empty to Decent 
Homes scheme. 

Housing Allocations 

With no housing stock of its own, the Council is wholly reliant on the support and cooperation 
of our partnering housing associations who play a vital role in ensuring we can meet our legal 
duties including those given preference because of the risk of becoming homeless. 

Page 99



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Table 3: Supply of Affordable Housing (2017/18) 

Provider Homes Allocated 

(2017/18) 

CHP 13 

Colne 11 

English Rural 5 

London & Quadrant 1 

Moat * 46 

Salvation Army Housing Association* 1 

Sanctuary 3 

South Anglia 1 

Total 81 

*Does not include properties provided as temporary accommodation. 
 

 
Of these homes provided: 

 

 Offered to prevent homelessness = 2 

 Offered to as accepted as homeless = 17 

 Eligible for sheltered (55+) = 25 

 
The very small number (2) of homes that were provided through Choice Based Lettings to 
prevent homelessness highlights the problem of finding the right type of home when needed by 
a particular household, bearing in mind that the average rate of supply is only one or two a 
week, including homes that are restricted for older people (sheltered). 

 
A much higher proportion were offered to those who had already become homeless and in 
many cases would have needed to spend some time in temporary accommodation, waiting for 
the right type of property to become available. 

 
Only 37 general needs affordable homes (81 less 44) could be offered to households in housing 
need who were not at risk of becoming homeless. This does illustrate how the Council’s policies 
for the allocation of housing is giving reasonable preference to those in greatest need but does 
also highlight the risk that for others, there could be a risk that they may have to face the 
prospect of being considered as being at risk of homelessness before having a reasonable 
prospect of being housed. This should be alleviated if plans for a better supply of new 
affordable homes is delivered. 

Page 100



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Previous Tenure of Those Nominated: 

Living in social housing in District = 8 Private renting = 19 

Living in social housing out of district = 4 Living with friends / family = 28 

Temporary accommodation = 14 Supported housing = 3 

Lodger = 1 No Fixed Abode = 1 

Owner-occupier = 1 Other = 1 

Tied accommodation = 1  

 
 
 

Banding (Priority) of Those Allocated (2017/18): 
 

The Council’s policy for allocating homes from its Housing Register places people into one of 
six bands from A to F. Band A is the highest priority and reserved for those who would like to 
downsize, reflecting the fact that this would make their existing home, which is a larger 
property, become available adding to the supply. Most households who are at risk of becoming 
homeless will be in Band B or Band C if they have a reduced need. 

 
Band A = 2 Band B = 39 Band C = 26 Band D = 1 Band E = 10 Band F = 3 

 
 

 
Effective Date (length of time within band): 

 
Of those housed through the Housing Register last year, more than half had only been 
registered since 2017, showing once again how effective the Council’s allocation policy is in 
meeting housing need from those who are in urgent situations. 

2017 = 47 2016 = 24 2015 = 7 2014 = 3 

Note: this does not necessarily mean total time registered only time within relevant band prior 
to being housed. Some may have been on the Register for much longer, assessed as being in 
a lower band to start with and then being awarded a higher priority as and when their needs 
become more urgent. 

Providing more homes 

 
There is a need for more homes, which is why we have merged our duty to review 
homelessness and produce a strategy with a broader housing strategy that helps to achieve a 
better supply. It isn’t just a matter of more homes, or even more homes that are affordable, our 
future supply has to be of the right type of homes, especially at a time when costs are so high 
and funding is so difficult. 

The new Code of Guidance for homelessness summarises these other strategic housing 
issues under the following headings: 

 Increasing the supply of new homes – linked to the National Planning Policy Framework 
and including the need for local housing authorities to have a clear understanding of the 
housing need for their area. 

 Accessing the private rented sector – including bringing empty homes back into use, 
working with local private landlords and schemes such as bonds and rent-in-advance. 

 Access to social housing – reviewing policies for allocating homes through the housing 
register, ensuring that this supports the prevention and relief of homelessness, working 
with housing associations making best use of the flexibility provided in law, linked to 

Page 101



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

monitoring of lettings, to ensure priorities are met as best as possible, including the use 
of temporary accommodation. 

 Temporary accommodation – increasing the supply of good quality temporary 
accommodation and where possible seeking to reduce or eliminate the use of B&B and 
avoidable higher costs to the public purse. 

 Supported housing and refuges – understanding the need for housing with support for 
some people, enabling the commissioning of services which meet these needs and 
where necessary working across local authority boundaries. 

 Empty homes – making use of the incentive of New Homes Bonus and powers to 
increase Council Tax as well as local schemes to incentivise owners to bring 
properties back into use, ideally to help meet the need for affordable and temporary 
accommodation. 

 Disabled Facilities Grants – to help people live independently, reducing the risk of 
homelessness or the need to move by administering grants as swiftly as possible 
and seeking the most cost-effective and sustainable solutions. 

 

This is a helpful checklist for all local housing authorities, ensuring that there is a balance 
between managing need and improving supply. We have sought to make sure that each of 
these issues have been taken into account as part of our wider strategic approach elsewhere in 
this strategy. 

 

Housing for an Ageing Population 

The Council began developing its first housing strategy for older people 10 years ago and since 
then there has been a growing recognition by government and others of the need to understand 
and respond to the implications that an ageing population has for housing issues. 

From our experience with previous strategies we can see that there are three broad themes 
associated with this area: 

 The need for support and assistance to help people retain their independence in their 
own home, ensuring that they can stay safe and healthy; 

 The need for a better supply of new homes, giving more choice to those who want to 
move and for those who will need to move because their existing home is no longer 
suitable; and 

 The need for better help and advice so more people are aware of their options and the 
help and support available to help them make informed decisions and put them into 
practice. 

 

Background and Policy 

The District currently has a higher than average proportion of older people and also attracts a 
greater proportion through inward migration as well. The age-group with the largest predicted 
growth is those aged above 65, with the greatest proportionate increase predicted to be those 
aged 90+. 

One of the most common problems associated with housing for older people is the range of 
housing types, differing descriptions, eligibility criteria and costs, making it hard for people to 
understand what is actually available – and what may be needed. Table 4 below gives a 
helpful outline of this and demonstrates the areas covered by this strategy. Most people will be 
in 
‘mainstream housing’ including properties that can be adapted to make them more suitable to 
their needs; ‘specialised housing’ includes a range of housing that all provide additional support 

Page 102



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

on site with homes designed to be more accessible for older people. Both types can combine 
affordable homes to rent, intermediate types of affordable housing and homes for sale or rent 
through the open market. In order to be sure of meeting locally identified need it is necessary 
that those homes that are affordable can be allocated to those most in need through the 
Council’s housing policies. 

Those under the heading of ‘care homes’ differ in that most will not be classified as 
conventional housing (Planning Class C2 rather than C3), there will not be any provision of 
affordable housing, and the main purpose is to provide care rather than housing. For these 
reasons, this category of accommodation is excluded from this strategy. 

Policies S4 and S6 of the Local Development Plan refer to the need for housing growth in the 
Maldon, Heybridge and Burnham areas to include “a significant proportion” of homes suitable to 
meet the need of older people including mainstream homes built to Lifetime Homes standards 
(or similar current equivalent) and bungalows, together with specialised housing such as private 
retirement homes, sheltered and extra-care housing. 

Policy H2 also requires a mix of homes on new developments that reflect the need identified in 
the current SHMA “particularly the need for an ageing population”. The requirement is not 
detailed in the Plan but since 2015, the Council has sought to achieve 20% of new affordable 
homes to be suitable for older people. Where there are larger developments proposed, this 
type of housing can be provided as part of the contribution to the affordable mainstream 
housing but there is a much lower level provision of similar new homes being provided for sale 
in the open market. 

Policy H3 applies to Specialist Needs Housing and supports proposals for new developments of 
a type which is required where there is support from other relevant stakeholders such as health 
and social care. Although the requirements for this type of housing have been identified, no 
allocation has been made in the Local Development Plan and the Council is therefore reliant on 
the cooperation of developers and landowners to bring forward development opportunities. 
These are unlikely to be on allocated strategic sites because of financial viability so the 
Council is currently considering the possibility of additional sites being developed as an 
exception to planning policy but in support of policy H3. 

We have considered whether to also include a requirement to provide a proportion of new 
mainstream homes to be built to higher standards so that they can meet future need but have 
decided against this; many people in need of this type of home may not be able to afford or 
want to move to the locations where the new homes are being built. The Council also helps 
fund and manage the adaptation of about 60 homes a year through its Disabled Facilities 
Grants (DFG) programme, this seems a more effective way of meeting need. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Types of Housing For Older People 

The range and variation in types of housing for older people can be confusing to many people 

and we have found it helpful to begin by setting out the three distinct main categories as 

‘mainstream housing’, ‘specialised housing’ and ‘care homes’ as shown below: 

 
Table 4: Types of Housing for Older People  

 
 

Mainstream Housing 

1. General Needs: conventional housing to buy or rent, open market or affordable 

(managed by local housing authority or Housing Association 

2. Adapted Homes: general needs homes that have been adapted, either by the occupant 

or by local authority. Maldon District Council adapts about 70 homes a year through its 

Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) programme. 

3. Wheelchair Homes: general needs homes built to accommodate wheelchair use. 

4. Lifetime Homes: general needs homes designed to be easily adapted from conventional 

use to wheelchair use as and when necessary. 

All of the above are classified as C3 Planning use and may be either open market homes for 

sale or rent, or affordable homes which the Council can nominate people to. As C3, there will be 

a requirement to provide or make contribution to affordable housing. Usual housing costs. 

Page 104



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Specialised Housing 

5. Sheltered / Retirement Homes: same as 1-4 above but with an age restriction, often over 

55. May provide a very basic level of support, e.g. a warden or someone to call if there 

are any problems. 

6. Very Sheltered: as above but with a higher level of support, often because homes are 

intended to have a higher proportion of older, more frail people needing more help with 

general day-to-day activities 

7. Co-housing: homes specially designed for older people or other groups, similar to 

general needs but includes some community areas with the intention of encouraging 

residents to provide support to each other, a form of community housing. Almshouses 

can be an example of cohousing. 

8. Extra-care (Independent Living): similar design to Sheltered Housing, often on a larger 

scale, with on-site facilities and support for some people with higher support needs, 24 

hour on-site support and may include treatment / re-ablement facilities. 

9. Retirement village: can be several hundred homes, with a range from retirement to 

extra-care. Often include retail and leisure facilities. 

10. Close-care: similar to extra-care but often provides more short-stay units, step-down 

from hospital. Common design feature is a central hub that provides high level care and 

support, with general needs / sheltered housing for those with lower needs close by. 

These types of housing (5 to 10) can be classified as either C2 (residents must have a need for 

care provided by the landlord or another organisation) or C3 (care and support can be provided 

but not a requirement for everyone). Homes in this group can often provide a strategic role in 

preventing the need for people to move directly from general needs housing to care homes or 

hospital. If C3, contribution for affordable housing would be required. Homes can be bought, 

sometimes at a premium compared to general needs, or rented from £120 to >£400 per week. 

 
 

Care Homes 

11. Care Home: usually room with communal facilities, for older people who require care, 

support and treatment, focus is on nursing rather than day-to-day support 

12. Residential Home: similar to care home, may not require continuous treatment but likely 

to be needed. Most facilities are communal with own room rather than their own self- 

contained home. 

These would be classified as C2, weekly cost between £650 to >£1,000. 

Page 105



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Our Requirements 

These are driven by: 

The demand from existing older residents wanting to move into homes better suited to their 
needs and aspirations -these are likely to be smaller than their existing homes and often closer 
to or within the main settlement areas of Maldon, Burnham and Heybridge. Their current 
homes are mainly ‘family housing’, i.e. two-, three- or four-bedroom housing, either home- 
owners or living in social housing and in both cases their main choice preference is for a 
bungalow. Although most are not in urgent need, meeting this demand would help increase the 
overall supply of homes as their existing properties become available for others to buy or rent. 

The need from a smaller number (about 1,000) who are living in homes that are already 
unsuitable to their needs - this may be due to location (risk of isolation and inability to access 
services without help), poor condition or problems maintaining their home. A larger proportion of 
this group will require some support, many will be home-owners but can be described as 
‘asset rich and cash poor’ – most of their wealth is tied up in their current home so they need to 
sell this in order to be able to move. The requirements from this group are a mix of mainstream 
housing (apartments or bungalows) and specialised housing. Meeting this need would also 
increase supply from the existing stock and could also reduce current and future demand on 
other services, especially health and social care. Many are likely to be aware of their options, 
some may even be unaware of current risks within their own home, and most would be likely to 
need practical help planning and making a move. 

Need and demand from older people wanting to move into the district to be closer to family – 
many on this group will be living in homes that are in good condition but are away from family 
and at risk of isolation, in need of regular visits, due to old age. Most will be older than those in 
the other two groups above. Help is likely to be available from friends and family and it is these 
people who will want to know about local options. A higher proportion of this group will want or 
need specialised housing because of their frailty, either in private retirement homes or sheltered 
or extra-care housing. Some may need to move into a care home. 

The table below is based upon the findings of the Council’s SHMA and further analysis of 
the need and demand of specialised housing, including work that was started as part of the 

development of the previous Older People’s Housing Strategy. 

 
 

Type of housing Current requirement Comment 

Mainstream housing for 
older people – at or below 
average house values to 
enable move, with lower 
running costs to be 
sustainable option, in or 

20% of new planned 
development should be 
suitable to meet need and 
demand from older people, 
built to at least Category 2 
Building Regulation 

This is difficult to quantify as 
supply and demand is 
largely hidden within current 
market activity. 

Page 106



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 

Type of housing Current requirement Comment 

close to main settlement 
areas. 

Standard, reflecting current 
requirements already in 
place for affordable housing. 

 
As new homes are provided, 
continuous monitoring will 
be required to identify 
demand and accompany 
this with further surveys of 
existing older households to 
update existing evidence. 

 

Building to Cat2 Building 
Regulations will enable 
adaptation of homes as 
required in the future. 

Sheltered and retirement 
housing without support 

To be assessed – for both 
market and affordable need. 

Surveys and analysis show 
a large proportion of existing 
home-owners in the district 
require bungalows but not 
flats or apartments. For 
affordable homes there is 
very low demand for flats 
outside of the main 
settlement areas, need to 
consider whether some 
existing stock remains viable 
but possible under-supply of 
both within the main 
settlement areas. 

Sheltered housing with low- 
level support, e.g. one or 
two hours per day on-site 

Demand for private sheltered 
housing with support is low 
within existing local 
households but a preferred 
choice of those moving into 
the District. 
Identified levels of demand 
suggest that this is in line 
with existing levels of supply. 

It would make sense to 
include the provision of 
both new market and 
affordable supported 
sheltered housing where 
possible, improving the 
viability of the affordable 
and reducing the service 
and support costs for the 
market units. 

Page 107



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 

Type of housing Current requirement Comment 

  

Demand and need for 

 
 
In order to meet need, 
additional affordable 
sheltered homes will need 
to be delivered through 
other ways as well, e.g. as 
exception to policy, 
Community Led Housing. 

affordable sheltered housing 

has increased due to a 

reduction in supply and 

there is an estimated need 

for an additional 150 to 200 

homes. 

Sheltered housing with high Between 130 to 170 homes, This requirement may 

level of support, e.g. 24 hour combining affordable, increase if some of the 

on site support intermediate and market market and intermediate 

 homes. affordable homes meet the 

  demand from those moving 

  into the district, possible 

  that 150 to 200 homes may 

  be necessary to meet the 

  affordable need. 

 

 

As mentioned above, the need for care-home provision is not considered as part of the 
Council’s strategic approach to housing. The Council’s Specialist Housing SPD provides 
more guidance on the locational requirements for specialist needs housing (Class C3) and 
also for those considering care homes (Class C2). 

 

If an additional 300 to 350 affordable supported homes can be provided to meet the need of 
older people currently under-occupying social housing, the overall supply would be at least 
doubled as their current homes become available for re-allocation, boosting the overall supply 
of affordable homes and helping to meet the identified shortfall. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 108



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Promoting Independence at Home 

We know that most older people intend to remain in their current home and helping them to 
achieve this is an important way of managing future housing need by avoiding problems that 
could lead to them having to move. 

 

The Council currently helps provide financial assistance and support to about 50 households a 
year through its DFG programme. Funding for this has been increased to meet growing demand 
and improve capacity so we would like to be able to set ourselves the aim of increasing the 
number of cases and reducing the waiting time as part of this strategy. Recent increases in the 
level of funding for DFGs have been accompanied by greater flexibility for local housing 
authorities over how some of this money can be used. 

 

The links between poor housing and the risks of even minor hazards for older people creating 
risks of trips and falls are well known but despite this, formal joint working between health, 
housing and social care on housing issues remains something that rarely happens in the 
area. We support the recommendation of the House of Commons Communities and Local 
Government Committee report into Housing for Older People that tackling housing issues for 
older people should be better integrated at a local level, with local housing authorities having 
equal status with health and social care in implementing joint working, involvement with 
Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships (STPs) and Accountable Care Systems 
(ACSs). This would make better use of resources, provide better outcomes and increase the 
ability to prevent more costly intervention. 

 

Examples of projects which could be part of this closer, more integrated approach are: 

 

Home from Hospital – providing help to make sure homes are safe and suitable for people 
returning from hospital, including providing adaptations, home-safety checks, and links to other 
services. In some cases this could include providing ‘step-down’ accommodation, for example in 
local sheltered schemes, where there is on-site support and purpose designed accommodation 
to help people recover outside of hospital, closer to home, giving time for improvements to be 
made to their home. 

Home Improvement Agencies (HIA) – there is no longer a local HIA to provide services such 
as help and advice on housing options, assistance with small repairs and support with more 
major improvements such as heating repairs and replacement. In the past, the local HIA 
provided an essential ink between many older people and other agencies, they also played a 
role in delivering a number of projects such as home security and safety checks. Some of their 
roles duplicated services provided by the Council and other local agencies but the need to 
provide help and advice with minor repairs, maintaining the home and garden, and assessing 
and rectifying risks in the home remains a gap in local services and something at we would 
want to explore the possibility of providing either directly through the Council or jointly 
commission with other partners. 

 Older People’s Housing Officer – there is a need to also integrate the range of housing 
options and housing related support into a single point of contact, for the benefit of residents 
and the agencies supporting them. Although there are some national websites available, 
inclusion of local options is patchy with no support to help explain how schemes can be 
accessed, no one to advocate on behalf of people, nor to help with liaison between agencies 
such as local housing associations, voluntary organisations and statutory bodies. This approach 
would in some ways reflect our local approach to the prevention of homelessness which is now 
reflected nationally through the Homelessness Reduction Act. 

Page 109



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 
 

Planning and Providing Homes for Older People 

Although national and local planning policy recognises the issue of housing for older people, 
there is still a lack of understanding between need, demand, existing supply and aspirations 
which is an issue more relevant to this group than others. A further complication is the large 
proportion who are home-owners, with equity but need to release this through the sale of 
their home or in other ways to fund the cost of other options, possibly including their care as 
well as their future housing need. 

 

Intermediate housing options may be more attractive to this group as it would help them have 
the benefit of knowing they have a stake in their new home but without the responsibility of 
being a home owner. Shared-ownership could be a solution but there would still be a need to 
release some equity to meet the cost of the partial share of ownership. Possibly a more 
attractive option could be conventional renting, if allocation policies allow this and people are 
not concerned by the possibility of not being able to meet this cost in the longer term, or a 
rent-to-buy model whereby people can move in immediately, meet the cost of the rent through 
savings or income in the short-term and use the receipt from the sale of their house to purchase 
in the medium to longer term. One of the actions of the strategy will be to explore and identify 
the most flexible and appropriate types of tenure which can be provided as an effective and 
viable option by partners. 
 

While it may be possible to assess the number of older people who may need alternate housing 
or housing related support, the detail as to what they may actually want or need can quickly 
break down into such a wide range of choice that matching future supply with identified need can 
quickly fall into speculation rather than objective assessment, deterring partners from bringing 
forward anything other than either the most essential provision or the most profitable. Identifying 
preferred types of tenure as outlined above would be an important step towards simplifying and 
streamlining future supply in line with identified need. 

 

We have been able to get an indication of the type and number for some groups of older 
people, despite this now being seen as an issue which is becoming a key aspect of housing, 
the process for assessing need and demand in an objective way is less developed than for 
more generic housing. To improve our knowledge and understanding during the lifetime of this 
strategy we will begin to monitor the following to help us build a better picture of need and 
demand: 

 

 Supply and demand for social housing for older people – based upon information from 
the Council’s housing register 

 Supply and demand for private retirement schemes – based upon marketing 
information 

 Need and interest from people currently receiving help in their home – based upon 
surveys from those being supported by our Council and Essex County Council as 
provider of social care. 

 Demographic and housing analysis – based upon updates to the SHMA and use 
of recognized toolkits. 

We are already progressing with plans to meet a range of housing for older people, from low- 
level support provided through smaller housing associations and alms house charities to larger 

Page 110



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

schemes which provide extra-care supported housing helping to reduce the need for people to 
access hospital and care homes. By carrying out more monitoring we will be able to assess 
whether the need for these type of homes is continuing to rise, if so is to what extent is this due 
to inward migration as well as existing local need, and what is the actual need and demand 
locally for open-market homes? This information will then help inform future policies including 
updates to the local plan. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 111



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Fixing Our Broken Housing Market 

 
In February 2017 the government published its white paper on housing which highlighted the 
problems of supply and affordability in the open market. In many cases, increasing supply 
means a reduction in cost to the consumer but this is not necessarily the case with housing as 
the ‘market’ is distinctly different to any other type. Firstly, the consumer is the portable item 
rather than the product so the market (or demand) moves to where they can afford to live 
rather than where they may want to be. Secondly, not everyone who buys a property does so 
to live in, many are bought to let as an investment, especially over the last decade when 
borrowing has been cheap especially for those who already have capital. 
 

The increase in private renting is not always a preferred option but may be the only option for 
some who want to remain in an area but are unable to match the purchase-power of some buy- 
to-let landlords. Thirdly, as land is finite, especially land with planning consent, there is no 
incentive in landowners or developers bringing forward products which, if cheaper, may attract 
even greater demand but cannot be reproduced ad infinitum. If the laws of supply and demand 
applied to housing as much as any other product, housing construction would be accelerating to 
match demand but we can see that this is not the case; supply may influence demand but 
demand does not influence supply to the same extent. 

 

There may be many reasons why higher housing costs are a concern to many people but there 
is no financial reason why someone should reduce values unless they are forced to – either by 
changes to the market or policy, hence the need for the Council to understand all aspects of the 
housing market in order to manage through its policies housing need. 

 

Sudden changes to the housing market are infrequent, for those buying or selling existing 
homes, this may create delays and maybe some loss but generally house price movement 
affects all homes to some extent so any change to a house being sold is proportional to the 
price of one being bought. The risk is much greater for those developing homes though, the 
cost of the build can only be recovered through the sale so if the value of the homes fall, the 
financial consequences for developers and housebuilders could be irrecoverable. This explains 
why rates of private housebuilding have remained fairly constant through the last two to three 
decades, in order to help manage this risk, irrespective of current levels of demand. It also 
gives some explanation as to why the number of larger housebuilders has decreased 
especially since the beginning of this century. No government can give assurance that there 
will not be another financial crisis to rectify this, diversifying the range of homes built and the 
way that they are delivered would help increase supply and choice without exposing larger 
developers to unacceptable levels of risk. 

 

It has been five years since the Council last undertook a detailed survey of local market-
housing costs as part of the Strategic Housing Market Assessment. A recent comparison shows 
how costs have risen during a period of fairly stable income levels and for some reliant on 
welfare, actual reductions in income. 

 

Table 5 below shows how the cost of buying a home in the District has increased over the last 
five years. Average house prices are an indicator and inevitably some properties will be cheaper 
but the cheapest of these are often priced to reflect the cost of essential repair and would not be 
suitable for some families. Even in these cases, as with the average cost of smaller homes, the 
cost of lower quartile homes has risen at a greater rate than some larger homes. There has also 

Page 112



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

been an increase in the number of smaller homes for sale at what can be described as a 
‘premium price’. Sometimes this is because of location, e.g. by a waterfront but it does reflect a 
combination of findings from the SHMA, the District is attractive to people choosing to migrate in 
from elsewhere with higher income levels than local wages and a number of these are smaller 
households, possibly older couples, competing against younger, resident local households. 
Entry level prices are of course the cheapest but will also inevitably be in much smaller supply 
than most homes of the same size so it can be misleading to see this as a realistic price for most 
homes. 

 

Table 5: District Wide Average House Prices – Five Year Comparison 

Property Size Entry (May 2013) Entry (May 2018) Change in Cost 

(%) 

1-bed flat £95,000 £130,000 +37 

2-bed flat £130,000 £190,000 +45 

2-bed terrace £157,000 £220,000 +40 

3-bed terrace £179,000 £225,000 +26 

2-bed semi £167,500 £232,000 +38 

3-bed semi £185,000 £255,000 +38 

Source: DCA / Hometrack 
 

 
Privately renting has been an alternate for many households unable to meet the rising cost of 
buying a home but a review of the cost of private rents in the District shows that these have 
broadly followed the same trends as house prices. The entry level is obviously more affordable 
but is in much shorter supply than those in the average price bracket. In the case of what may 
be seen as typical family accommodation (2- and 3-bed) the difference between entry level 
and average rent levels has shortened indicating demand is exceeding supply. There is a clear 
distinction though between the rents for 2-bed flats and the average cost of buying a similar 
size property, partly due to the difference in homes being let and sold but this may also 
indicate a very different market as well, i.e. more locally based and linked to local wages for 
the former and wider based on higher income levels elsewhere for the latter – or possibly local 
households downsizing? 

 
Table 6: District Wide Market Rents – Five Year Comparison 

Rent (pcm) May 2013 May 2018 Change 
in cost 
(%) 

Entry / 

Averag

e 

Entry Averag
e 

Entry Averag
e 

1-bed flat £445 £491 £600 £648 + 34 / 32 

2-bed flat £590 £670 £670 £804 + 14 / 20 

2-bed terrace £650 £698 £850 £898 + 31 / 29 

3-bed terrace £750 £856 £995 £997 + 33 / 18 

Page 113



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

2-bed semi £725 £789 £945 £955 + 30 / 20 

3-bed semi £750 £783 £1000 £1205 + 33 / 55 

Source: DCA / Hometrack 
 
 

For families needing a two-bedroom of larger home on an annual income of below £30,000, 
their most affordable option would now be renting from a local housing association where rents 
have been reduced by 1% per annum over this period but this places additional pressure on 
the Council and its duties to give priority to others who are at risk of becoming homeless or 
vulnerable for other reasons. This highlights the importance of addressing the supply of 
affordable homes as well as managing and preventing existing housing need. 

Page 114



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Our Response to the Government’s Proposals 

The white paper has four main proposals, some dealing specifically with the planning 
processes, others relating to more fundamental housing issues which are outlined below which 
we will be supporting through our plans and actions. 

 

Planning for the Right Homes in the Right Place 

Getting plans in place: 

The Council’s Local Development Plan was approved by the Secretary of State in 2017 and has 
set an ambitious target of nearly three times more homes over a 15-year period compared with 
the previous target from the Regional Spatial Strategy, an increase from 120 homes a year to 
more than 300. 

 

Assessing housing requirements: 

The assessment of housing need was tested at two Examinations in Public and has been 
accepted as being 310 homes a year with a requirement that between 25% - 40% should be 
affordable (depending on location) where financially viable. This is an increase on the basic 
demographic-based assessment and meets both existing guidance and proposals for 
revised housing assessments. Shortly after the publication of this strategy we plan to begin 
updating the evidence we have on housing need in preparation for the five-year review of 
the plan. 
Current and possibly future guidance have concentrated on identifying the right number of 
homes needed but the methodology often falls shorten it comes to being able to robustly 
assess more detailed aspects of local housing need, in particular requirements of size, tenure 
and need from different groups such as older people, local workers and those who can (and 
cannot) benefit from various intermediate types of affordable housing. We therefore support the 
government in recognizing the need in some cases to deviate from national guidance if this is 
necessary to provide information on local housing need that is required for future policies and 
strategies. 

 

Bringing brownfield land back into use: 

Brownfield sites are often in areas of commercial and business use and the Council needs to 
make sure it strikes the right balance between the need and demand from these sectors as well 
as housing, especially at a time when residential values are so much higher than commercial 
levels. We shall therefore ensure work is joined up between our plans for meeting housing need 
and economic development as both should be supporting and complementing each other. 
Where appropriate, mixed use development can help maximise the use of land, improve 
viability and in turn create opportunities for investment in the area to meet the need for 
infrastructure. The government recognizes that there are some restraints such as the risk of 
flooding and this is an issue for the Central Area Masterplan which includes the Causeway and 
Heybridge. We shall continue to work with partners such as the Environment Agency and 
homes England to see where it is possible to secure funding for infrastructure that can help 
unlock brownfield sites which could then come forward for development. 

More homes on public sector land: 

The Council does not have many sites in its ownership that are suitable for residential 
development, having transferred its housing stock in 1995. We are working with other agencies 
such as Essex County Council, the NHS and police and fire services to identify and explore the 
potential for development on public sector land through the One Public Estate programme. 

Page 115



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Support small and medium sized sites, and thriving rural communities: 

Until the adoption of the local plan, a large proportion of new development was on sites such as 
these, often brought forward and developed by smaller, local builders and developers. We have 
a good track record of supporting and enabling smaller sites, especially as an exception to 
policy where this helps meet our need for affordable housing and this has now been supported 
by our programme of Community Led Housing. As sites which are an exception to policy, they 
inevitably cannot be allocated through the local plan beforehand but where there is a clear 
need and it can be shown that the homes will meet this and be restricted or give priority to local 
people we shall work with local communities, landowners and other partners to support this 
type of development and monitor plans alongside the identified shortfall in affordable housing 
throughout the District. We shall also review national planning policy which sets a limit on sites 
below a certain size needing to make a contribution towards affordable housing, we know that it 
is financially viable in the district to have a lower level and that there is an unmet need. Allowing 
small-scale development in rural areas that consistently fails to make any contribution towards 
local housing need only perpetuates the current problem many local people face trying to 
remain living in these communities. 

 

Building Homes Faster 

Ensuring infrastructure is provided in the right place at the right time 

Through the development of the local plan we have identified the need for infrastructure to 
support planned growth and ways in which contributions can be secured so the two are 
delivered hand-in-hand wherever possible. Ideally we would want to avoid having to 
compromise one policy requirement, such as the need for affordable housing, against the need 
for essential infrastructure. Where the opportunities arise we shall work with other agencies 
such as Homes England as well as developers to secure investment to help improve the 
financial viability of planned development so that the planned benefits of growth can be realized 
and benefit all of our community. In return, we will expect partners to also cooperate, for 
example in cases where some elements of housing such as the proportion or type of affordable 
have to be reduced, we would expect there to be a transparent and objective mechanism for 
future review should additional investment become available, reflected in an increase in homes 
actually being provided on the site. 

Page 116



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Addressing skills shortages 

There is a real problem with resourcing the need for people to work in the construction 
industry to the level needed to meet the government’s target for house-building and it has 
conventionally been very reliant on workers sub-contracted on short terms to meet seasonal 
variations. Recent economic and political changes have created even more uncertainty about 
capacity in this sector and prompted thought as to how to manage this problem. Modern 
methods of construction can help reduce on-site build time and address some of the problems 
caused by a skills shortage but it requires the knowledge that there will be a steady future 
demand for the off-site construction from factories. Trades and skills will still be needed on-site 
as well, ideally supporting local businesses such as smaller builders and construction workers. 
There have been a series of national initiatives over the last twenty years or so to support these 
aims to varying degrees of success but it does feel that now, as local authorities are having to 
become more involved with development to meet the widening gaps in housing supply, that 
there are opportunities to work in new ways. Initiatives such as Community Led Housing and 
enabling smaller developments with partner housing associations and organisations such as 
SELEP (South East Local Enterprise Partnership) and local training centres and universities 
create the potential for new frameworks. It is too early yet to be prescriptive about these and 
maybe it would be better to take each case as it comes but a general aim for this strategy is to 
encourage greater engagement with smaller, local business and create more opportunities for 
people to benefit from opportunities to work and train in the construction sector. 

 

Diversifying the Market 

Attracting institutional investment: building more homes for private rent 

The government sees the growth in private rent and rising rent levels as evidence of demand 
for this type of housing, although in many cases it is likely to be from people who would actually 
want to own their own home but can no longer afford to do so. This makes assessing actual 
demand more complex and it may be an option that is more aligned to investment as an 
alternate to conventional development for sale, especially in areas of very high values, than 
meeting local housing need. There is certainly a need for a more stable option for those seeking 
to rent privately, we have seen from our review of homelessness in the area that the main 
cause is the ending of tenancies, longer-term agreements such as the government’s proposal 
for a minimum of three years for homes built for private rent would help those who want to rent 
with greater certainty about their medium-term plans. Councils can only hope to meet identified 
need if there is also some control, through the allocation of homes, to local people in need. We 
would not want to see our ability to secure homes that are affordable through policies to 
allocate to local people replaced by homes that are set at open market levels and open to 
anyone, irrespective of their need or local connection. We therefore see this as a helpful 
supplement to the supply of homes. 

Page 117



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Housing associations 

As a local housing authority without any housing stock of its own, the Council is completely 
reliant on partnership working with housing associations. In the white paper the government 
sets out its vision of expecting them all, regardless of size, to explore every possible opportunity 
to develop to meet local need. This is a challenge for many smaller ones who are still having to 
work with annual rent reductions until 2020 and others such as alms house charities, both of 
which have not found it so easy over the last decade to access funding and support for 
development compared to larger housing associations. Often smaller organisations lack 
capacity and experience of development as well as financial resources, supporting them to build 
partnerships, whether with other housing associations, local builders or others who can help 
links very well to our Community Led Housing approach. We will also continue to maintain 
liaison with larger housing associations with a track record of development, looking to see if 
there are new opportunities for working in partnership to bring forward additional homes that 
meet our needs. 

 

Backing local authorities to build 

Like many other councils, we have not been involved with building homes as a council for 
nearly 50 years and with no housing stock, options for funding are more restrictive and there is 
no existing capacity for the management of homes. About one-third of the districts in Essex 
including our Council have no housing stock of their own and we will therefore consult with 
these to see if there are ways that we can work together to build capacity and expertise. We 
know that our local plan falls short in meeting all of the identified need for affordable housing 
and some other types of specialist housing so we shall have to look at ways of delivering some 
of these homes outside of existing plans and policies. We have begun to look at new ways of 
working in partnership with housing associations, landowners, investors and others and will 
continue to do so to find out what the options are and the resources that are needed. 

 

Homes England 

Previously known as the Homes and Communities Agency, Homes England oversees the work 
of housing associations, assists in providing government funding to enable development and 
can give support to local housing authorities. The Council has built up a good working 
relationship with Homes England and as we begin to look at new ways of working, it makes 
sense to see how we can work together in the future to meet both the national and our local 
agenda for housing. We shall also build on links with SELEP to strengthen our strategic 
approach in linking housing development with economic development, creating opportunities for 
investment and business growth throughout the district. 

Page 118



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Helping People Now 

Starter Homes 

We are still awaiting some more detail about the government’s proposals for Starter Homes but 
already understand that these are intended to be new homes, restricted for sale to first-time 
buyers, with a 20% reduction in the value. From our existing knowledge, we know that this 
would help a small number of existing concealed households, i.e. those that are unable to move 
into a home of their own. The number is reducing as house prices continue to rise, leading to a 
diminishing group for whom this discount would actually mean that they could afford to buy 
rather than rent, assuming that is that they can also save for a deposit. Some may also find that 
the discount is to some extent offset by the additional premium of a new home and that it is 
cheaper to purchase an older property elsewhere. We do however support the government’s 
attempts to help people who have reasonable aspirations for owning their own home and would 
support other options if it appears these could be more effective for local people as part of the 
proposal to require 10% of future developments to provide homes that meet this demand. One 
possible alternative may be rent-to-but if, as with some models such as Rentplus, there is 
financial assistance to meet the cost of the deposit and an open-ended agreement as to when 
the tenant can exercise their right to buy, avoiding the risk that some may not be in a position to 
do so at the end of a pre-set fixed term period. Some of these alternatives also allow the Council 
to exercise influence and control over the allocation of the homes, helping to make sure that 
they are contributing to identified need and not just providing a cheaper option for others. 

 

A fair deal for renters and leaseholders 

There have been a number of changes made to the duties of landlords and letting agencies, 
with additional powers for enforcement by local authorities. From our experience working with 
tenants and leaseholders and engagement with landlords through our Private Landlords Forum, 
we know that many are unaware of some of their rights and obligations. This is now the second 
most common form of tenure and we want to work with others to ensure standards are 
understood and maintained and the need for enforcement is kept to a minimum. To achieve this 
we plan to improve the way that we provide information to landlords and their customers, 
reviewing and updating our information packs, and publicizing them through our website in the 
future. 

 

Empty homes 

Over the last 10 years we have considerable reduced the number and proportion of long-term 
empty homes in the district. Through previous strategies and actions we have reduced this 
number by half, to a level that compares well with other local housing authorities. As a result 
we now monitor this as a proportion as well as a number making it easier to benchmark this 
against other areas. We have found that although the number does not vary much, this is 
because there are always homes that are empty for good reasons, e.g. undergoing renovation 
or going through probate; the number continues to remain at about 200 a year but in most 
cases the properties are changing all the time. There does remain a small number of about 40 
to 50 properties that have been empty for a very long time and in some cases have fallen into 
disrepair. We have therefore decided that we should now move our resources from attempting 
to deal initially with all homes that have been empty for more than six months (knowing that 
most will be brought back into use within 12 to 18 months) and begin to focus on those that are 
in very poor condition and at risk of becoming a nuisance, even a risk, to local residents. 

 

 

Page 119



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Homes for older people and preventing homelessness 

These have been dealt with as key elements of this strategy, anticipating the government’s 
intention to require local housing and planning authorities to be more proactive in understanding 
and responding to the housing needs of an ageing population. We have also worked 
successfully with Essex County Council and others in securing funding for the homelessness 
Trailblazer scheme from government and will be exploring the potential to develop or work with 
Social Lettings Agencies. 

 
Managing Supply 

 
The government’s white paper on housing makes clear its commitment to ensuring that local 
authorities make plans, based upon sound evidence of local need and that these are then 
delivered so that the outcome is an improved supply of homes that relate to what people need. 
Producing the right number of homes does not mean that there will automatically be the right 
type of homes, it could even mean that existing need is compounded if the local housing market 
becomes more influenced by demand from elsewhere and this is especially so in areas such as 
this where the ratio between local wages and housing costs is so high. 

The National Housing Federation have summed up below the level of need, the importance of 
tenure and the challenge that local housing authorities face: 

 

“To both meet this backlog and provide for future demand, the country needs to build 340,000 
homes per year until 2031. This is significantly higher than current estimates (including the 
Government’s target of 300,000 homes annually), which have never before taken into account 
the true scale of housing need created by both homelessness and high house prices. However, 
simply building a total of 340,000 homes each year will not meet this need – they will need to be 
the right type of homes. 145,000 of these new homes must be affordable homes, compared to 
previous estimates of the annual affordable housing need of around 78,000. This means that 
around two-fifths of all new homes built every year must be affordable homes – in 2016/17, only 
around 23% of the total built were affordable homes.” www.housing.org.uk/press/press-
releases/england-short-of-four-million-homes/? 

 

The Council has produced Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) to give further clarity 
and guidance on its policies for the development of new homes, including the preferred mix of 
affordable housing by size and tenure. Although the SHMA suggests that 80% of affordable 
homes should be either social rent or Affordable Rent, this has been reduced slightly to 70% to 
help improve financial viability and to take into account the existing small number of 
intermediate affordable homes in the area. This has been effective as most developments to 
date have been shown to be financially viable in meeting these requirements without the need 
for any public subsidy. 

 

In previous years the supply of homes has been lower than now planned for and the number of 
new affordable homes as a proportion of this has also been lower. Frequently the Council was 
more reliant on delivering or enabling affordable homes through strategic initiatives such as 
rural exception schemes to help boost supply. The approval of the Council’s Local 
Development Plan has helped address this and there is now an increase in planned supply of 
new affordable homes being delivered. 

 

 

Page 120

http://www.housing.org.uk/press/press-releases/england-short-of-four-million-homes/
http://www.housing.org.uk/press/press-releases/england-short-of-four-million-homes/


APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Table 7: Affordable Housing (New development) in District 2015-2019 

Tenure Year 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19* 

Affordable Rent 27 8 40 143 

Intermediate 12 4 18 80 

Total 39 12 58 223 

*Currently under construction May 2018 
 

As national housing policy introduces new requirements and options for affordable housing, it 
can become harder for developers to understand if there is difference or consistency between 
what the government is proposing and what the Council requires. The recent consultation on 
revising the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) proposed that local authorities should 
consider “including sites dedicated for first time buyers, build to rent homes with family friendly 
tenancies, guaranteed affordable homes for key workers and adapted homes for older people”. 
It is clearly impractical to consider covering all these options as well as meeting pre- existing 
need on each and every site. We will therefore seek to develop and maintain information on a 
range of housing need in the future and seek to meet this as and when suitable sites become 
available. The baseline has to be the principle of affordable housing as defined in the current 
NPPF: 

 

Affordable housing: housing for sale or rent, for those whose needs are not met by the market 
(including housing that provides a subsidised route to home ownership and/or is for essential 
local workers); and which complies with one or more of the following definitions: 

a) Affordable housing for rent: meets all of the following conditions: (a) the rent is set in 
accordance with the Government’s rent policy for Social Rent or Affordable Rent, or is at least 
20% below local market rents (including service charges where applicable); (b) the landlord is a 
registered provider, except where it is included as part of a Build to Rent scheme (in which case 
the landlord need not be a registered provider); and (c) it includes provisions to remain at an 
affordable price for future eligible households, or for the subsidy to be recycled for alternative 
affordable housing provision. For Build to Rent schemes affordable housing for rent is expected 
to be the normal form of affordable housing provision (and, in this context, is known as 
Affordable Private Rent). 
 

b) Starter homes: is as specified in Sections 2 and 3 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 
and any secondary legislation made under these sections. The definition of a starter home 
should reflect the meaning set out in statute and any such secondary legislation at the time of 
plan-preparation or decision-making. Where secondary legislation has the effect of limiting a 
household’s eligibility to purchase a starter home to those with a particular maximum level of 
household income, those restrictions should be used. 

 

c) Discounted market sales housing: is that sold at a discount of at least 20% below local 
market value. Eligibility is determined with regard to local incomes and local house prices. 
Provisions should be in place to ensure housing remains at a discount for future eligible 
households. 

 

 

Page 121



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

d) Other affordable routes to home ownership: is housing provided for sale that provides a 
route to ownership for those who could not achieve home ownership through the market. It 
includes shared ownership, relevant equity loans, other low cost homes for sale (at a price 
equivalent to at least 20% below local market value) and rent to buy (which includes a period of 
intermediate rent). Where public grant funding is provided, there should be provisions for the 
homes to remain at an affordable price for future eligible households, or for any receipts to be 
recycled for alternative affordable housing provision, or refunded to Government or the relevant 
authority specified in the funding agreement. 

 

The definition of eligibility in this case ensures there is a link between the cost of affordable 
housing, the earnings of local people and their inability to access homes on the open market, 
whether they are for sale, lease or rent. We would also like to add to this as an inherent 
requirement to make sure that this works in practice, is the need that the allocation of homes is 
through the Council, whether directly in nominating people on the housing register, or indirectly 
through agreements with those that may be providing specialised housing for particular groups 
of people, for example supported housing. 

 

Other types of intermediate affordable housing may be helpful in meeting some need that is a 
lesser priority or helps improve the financial viability of a development that may not otherwise 
be possible, but it should not compromise the Council’s need to ensure that as a minimum there 
is an adequate supply of the right type of homes to meet its statutory duties. Compared with the 
national average of 23% of new homes being affordable, we are currently managing to exceed 
this with schemes that are currently under construction. 

 

Table 8: Current Planned Supply of Affordable Homes 

Site Market Homes Affordable 

Homes 

% Affordable 

Mathew Homes – Burnham-on- 

Crouch 

75 23 30 

Persimmon – Burnham-on- 

Crouch 

180 72 40 

Persimmon - Heybridge 145 58 40 

Bellway - Heybridge 84 25 30 

Linden - Maldon 108 32 30 

SJ Warrant - Latchingdon 44 13 30 

Overall Total 636 223 35 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 122



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Addressing the Gap 

Despite achieving above the national average on existing sites currently under development, 
there remains a gap between the need for affordable homes and current and planned supply so 
we can not be complacent, nor rely solely on planned growth to meet our housing needs. 

The current local plan takes the evidence of local housing need as a starting point but then has 
to consider whether the policies that seek to achieve this for new developments will be 
financially viable. In carrying out this test, a number of sites and areas had the requirement for 
40% affordable as the starting point reduced, either because house values at the time would 
not have made this possible in some parts of the District, or because some sites had other 
requirements such as design or infrastructure. 

This meant that there is a shortfall of about 650 between the identified need for affordable 
housing and planned supply, which has to be limited due to the impact too great a number 
would have on infrastructure. We believe that it is possible to manage this in a strategic way. 

 

i). Financial Viability 

We have to make sure that we are achieving the optimum level of contributions from new 
housing developments. In 2014 we set up a framework of independent consultants to assist and 
if necessary help arbitrate between the Council and developers. As a result of this our overall 
supply of affordable homes, across all planned sites, is currently above 30% (May 2018). This 
does not mean that there is no longer a shortfall in the planned supply but we are working well 
to prevent this becoming any greater. To improve understanding and transparency, we intend to 
follow the lead set by some other local authorities and publish viability reports in the future. The 
basis for calculating viability is quite straightforward, deducting the costs from the value of a 
scheme but assessing and agreeing all the different elements, including the possible variations 
to costs and values in the future can make this quite complex. To make it easier to understand 
the key elements and compare one scheme against another, we shall also look to identify and 
select a system that can be used by all of our partners so that reports will be presented in a 
clear and consistent way. 

 

The assessment of viability in principle is a straightforward process, deducting the cost of 
construction from the overall value to show (hopefully) a positive surplus which means a 
scheme is viable. This includes agreed profit margins for developers and contractors, sometime 
adjusted to reflect the level of risk, and a reasonable return for the land owner. Whilst some 
costs can be accurately assessed and agreed, there often remains uncertainty and therefore 
debate around the extent to which developers need to manage risk by having higher than 
expected margins for profit, and the reasonable level of uplift that an owner can expect from 
land that may not otherwise have been granted permission to develop. Whilst it may always be 
difficult to plan with any certainty what the housing market may do from one year to the next, it 
is always possible to review afterwards what has happened and the Council should therefore 
continue to look at ways of fairly accounting for risk, especially where the uplift in value is 
marginal, together with ways of sharing this fairly when risks have been avoided but the outputs 
of new development have therefore been unnecessarily compromised. 

ii). Additional supply 

To meet the gap in affordable housing there will be a need to enable the development of an 
additional number of homes but we can reduce the cost and impact by developing homes that 
not only meet need but also encourage better use from the existing housing stock, or reduce 
longer term need. For example, providing homes that meet the need of people who are 
currently living in affordable housing means that for each new home provided another one also 
becomes available. Examples of the type of homes that can generate this additional supply 

Page 123



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

include intermediate affordable housing for existing tenants who would like to have an 
opportunity to buy but can’t afford the full cost or the deposit and homes, according to the last 
SHMA this accounts for about a quarter of all current residents in social housing who are 
planning to move but rising house prices are making this difficult to afford, even as shared- 
ownership. We estimate that there may be both need and demand from about 100 intermediate 
affordable homes, prioritized for existing tenants of social housing, ideally as a rent-to-buy 
option that includes the ‘gift’ of a deposit. There is also a need for supported housing for older 
people who would like to move from their existing housing association homes, and a number 
who will need to move eventually because their homes will no longer be suitable. The estimated 
requirement for this group is about 150 supported homes. These two initiatives together could 
generate a net additional supply of 500 affordable homes – half as new-build and half as homes 
that would not otherwise become available. This still leaves a shortfall of about 100 to 150 
affordable homes. 
 

Over the last 10 years we have enabled the development of about 100 affordable homes as an 
exception to policy and outside of the local plan. In most case these were either ‘rural 
exception schemes’ or developments led by local housing associations. By continuing to 
work with partners, linked to our programme of Community Led Development, we believe that 
we can meet this outstanding shortfall of 100 to 150 homes over the lifetime of the current 
plan. 

 

Table 9: Shortfall in Affordable Housing Supply 

Meeting the shortfall in affordable housing 

New Extra-care / Independent Living homes 150 

Existing homes released by extra-care / Independent Living 150 

New intermediate homes for existing tenants 100 

Homes released by intermediate housing for existing tenants 100 

Community Led Housing programme for affordable homes 150 

Total 650 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 124



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

iii). Existing stock 

The majority of housing supply will always come from the turnover of existing housing stock. 
There is very little any local authority can do to directly influence the level of transactions in the 
open market but there may be opportunities to improve the way social and private rented 
housing responds to local need. The private rented sector has grown significantly over the last 
decade, mainly in response to meeting the need from a growing number who are unable to 
afford to buy. Working more closely with local landlords, through our Landlords’ Forum, and 
understanding ways that we may be able to help them grow their businesses and manage 
tenancies, could help us gain more influence to work with them to provide homes for local 
people. Reductions in benefits for single people under the age of 35 means that they can now 
only afford a bedsit rather than a one-bedroom apartment. There is very limited supply of this 
type of accommodation in the District, and there is also a much higher proportion of larger 
homes; helping landlords, including owners of commercial properties, convert some buildings 
into smaller ones, may help them improve their business and balance the supply of homes. 

 

We can also work with local housing associations to see where it is possible to make better use 
of existing housing stock; recent examples include making better use of sites where the cost of 
maintain older homes is no longer viable and there is potential to rebuild to a higher density, or 
replace some larger homes with a greater number of smaller ones. We will also work with Moat 
Homes Limited to see if it is possible to re-launch their Community Development Initiative which 
sought to bring forward a number of small sites which may not have been viable on their own 
but could be feasible if delivered as a package of planned development. 

 

iv). Allocations Policy and Strategic Tenancy Strategy 

 

The Localism Act (s. 150) requires all local housing authorities to produce a tenancy strategy 
that explains what it requires from housing associations in terms of the type of tenancies it 
expects and how these relate to its policies. These strategies are also required to review and 
amend it “from time to time”. The Council’s current strategy has been in place since it was first 
produced in 2012 and is therefore due to be reviewed. It makes sense to combine this with a 

review of the Council’s policy for allocating social housing. 

 

As a result of the same Act, local authorities can now also set their own requirements for a local 
connection, potentially reducing the number of people who are entitled to apply by virtue of 
them needing to be able to show that they have lived in the area for a minimum period of time. 
The Act also allows councils to introduce additional groups who could be considered as having 
additional priority for housing, such as key workers. These may be options that we can 
consider, along with how well the existing policy, which is shared with six other districts in Essex 
and Suffolk, is working to meet local need and make best use of the homes that become 
available for letting. 

 

We shall carry out a review of both the Tenancy Strategy and our allocations policy as soon 
as this strategy is adopted. 

Page 125



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Community Led Housing 

 
The Council was granted funding in late 2016 by the government to develop a programme of 
Community Led Housing. This is an exciting opportunity to help local community groups play a 
greater role in meeting the need for homes that are affordable, including homes for older 
people. 

The criteria for a Community Led Housing scheme are: 

 It must be led by a local community group – this can either be a group associated with a 
particular location, such as a parish council or residents association, or it may be a group 
of people with similar needs such as a Local Action Group for disabilities, ex-armed 
services charities, or alms house associations; 

 The proposed development must be supported by the evidence of housing need – the 
group must be able to show that some or all of its members or beneficiaries are in need 
of affordable housing; 

 The proposed development should be for homes that are not already planned to be 
delivered - although they could be provided on a site as additional homes; and 

 There must be arrangements to make sure that the homes will remain affordable into 
the future so they can continue to meet the needs planned for. 

 

There are a number of different ways that a scheme could be brought forward, including as a 
Community Land Trust, a rural exception scheme or self-build. Local groups can also decide 
what level of influence and control they may want over the development process – whether 
working directly with builders, landowners and other technical trades or working through a 
housing association that has experience and knowledge of the development process. 

In consultation with some local groups who are interested in the possibility of Community Led 
Housing we have seen that the following topics are quite common and may be issues that we 
can consider given more support to in the future: 

 Help assessing housing need 

 Help understanding and accessing finance for development 

 Help understanding and accessing technical expertise to help with development 

 Help understanding and planning for the management and allocation of the homes 
 

We have already begun to look at the possibility of building up a more formal network of locally 
based organisations who share an interest in supporting local community groups and providing 
affordable housing, including: 

 The Rural Community Council for Essex (RCCE) 

 Anglia Ruskin University 

 Local housing associations 

Page 126



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 Essex County Council 

 Legacy East Almshouse Partnership (LEAP) 

 Local Almshouse charities 

 Local landowners 

 Parish Councils 
 

As part of our strategy we shall continue to build upon these links and also seek to get the 
support and guidance from Homes England and SELEP. We shall also continue to provide 
grants to groups who have identified both a potential site and potential need to help them 
developing their plans and will also look into the possibility of providing grants to help meet the 
capital cost of development where necessary. 

We shall also continue to promote the concept of Community Led Housing through local 
seminars and other events with our partners. 

Page 127



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Action Plan 
 

 

Action Outcome Timescale Resources 

Homelessness 

Maintain constant 
monitoring of the 
use of temporary 
accommodation 

Ability to identify 
trends and the need 
to take action to 
increase or reduce 
provision as 
required 

Ongoing Staff resource 

Explore potential for 
increasing supply of 
temporary 
accommodation that 
is sustainable, 
flexible 
and affordable 

Agreed plans to 
expand or replace 
supply as and 
when needed. 

2018/19 Staff resource 
Cooperation from 
landlords and 
housing 
associations. 

Identify options and 
cost for securing 
accommodation 
from private 
landlords for those 
at risk of becoming 
homeless 

Ensuring resources 
are identified to 
secure additional 
accommodation 
when required and if 
necessary the need 
to consider 
placements 
outside of the District 

Ongoing Flexible 
Homelessness 
Grant 
DHP 

Review existing use 
of Discretionary 
Housing Payments 
to prevent 
homelessness 

Achieve best value 
by considering use 
to prevent rather 
than relieve 
homelessness, 
including the 
possibility of 
avoiding additional 
costs for temporary 
accommodation 
and 

other 

subsidy 

payments 

2018 Staff 
resource 
DHP 

Page 128



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Provide a dedicated 
contact point in the 
Housing Options 
team for private 
landlords. 

Consistent 
communication to 
build understanding 
and cooperation 
between private 
landlords and the 
Council, helping to 
develop potential for 
joint working to 
reduce the risk of 
homelessness / 
tenancy failure 
and associated 
costs for both 

2019 Staff resource 
Homelessness 
Grant DHP 

 

Action Outcome Timescale Resources 

Provide through the 
website clear 
summary of local 
housing options and 
the 

Council’s duties and 

processes. 

Management of 
expectations for 
customers, 
encouraging them 
to be more 
independent and 
have greater control 
and responsibility in 
managing their 
housing problems 

2018 Staff resource 

Develop and 
maintain links with 
those working with 
domestic abuse at 
both operational and 
strategic levels 
including specialized 
training. 

Better understanding 
throughout the 
service of options 
and procedures for 
those at risk of 
homelessness due 
to domestic abuse 

Ongoing Staff resource 
Cooperation 
from other 
agencies 
Training budget 

Enable the 
development of 6 to 
8 homes with 
access to support 
for low level mental 
health, for single 
homeless and 
young people 

Meeting the need to 
discharge duty and 
prevent 
homelessness for 
those who may be 
at risk of being 
unable to maintain a 
tenancy without 
adequate 
support. 

By 2021/22 Possible need for 
capital investment. 
Clarification as to 
level of revenue 
required 
Cooperation from 
developing housing 
associations and 
supporting agencies. 

Develop working 
links with providers 
of training to help 
those at risk of 
homelessness 
access opportunities 
for employment 

Reduction in the risk 
of homelessness and 
the potential to 
relieve this through 
restrictions to welfare 
payments 

2019/20  

Page 129



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Seek to adopt a 
standard system for 
referring people to 
be used by other 
agencies in 
conjunction with 
other local housing 
authorities in Essex. 

Consistency in 
sharing information 
and referring clients 
at risk of 
homelessness to 
support effective 
working between 
partner agencies 

October 2018  

Continue to work 
with CHESS on 
options for street 
homeless and those 
difficult to engage 
with 

Adequate options 
and support for 
those at 
greatest risk of 
exclusion or 
engagement 
with existing 
housing options 

Ongoing Staff resource 
Council funding 

Other 

opportunities for 

grants 

 

Action Outcome Timescale Resources 

Introduce an 
arrears repayment 
loan 

Helps overcome 
barriers to housing 
for those with rent 
arrears, encourages 
responsibility and 
helps to discharge 
legal duty to secure 
accommodation. 

2018 Homelessness 
Grant (most 
should be 
recovered through 
repayments) 
Staff resource 

Work with local 
schools to provide 
information on 
housing options 
and managing a 
tenancy 

Increasing 
awareness and 
understanding of 
Council’s duties, 
managing 
expectations and 
promoting 
understanding of 
rights 
and responsibilities. 
 

 
 

2019/20 Staff resource 

Providing adequate pathways for housing and support for the following groups 

Young people – 18-
21, 21 – 25 and 25-
35. 

Range of options for 
seeking additional 
support to help 
prevent 
homelessness and 
ways of accessing 
accommodation to 
relieve homelessness 

2018  

Mental health As above   

Criminal justice As above   

Domestic abuse As above   

Ex-armed services As above   

Page 130



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Housing for an Ageing Population 

Enable the 
development of 
150 units of 
Independent Living 
(extra care) 
housing. 

Addressing 
identified shortfall 
in local provision 
for older people – 
currently no 
existing provision 

Delivery of schemes 
by 2021/22 

Capital 
investment from 
partners. 

Cooperation from 

landowners and 

housing 

associations 

Enable the provision 
of 150+ units of low-
level support / 
sheltered housing 

Addressing 
identified shortfall in 
local provision for 
older people in 
response to 
growing demand 

By 2025 Capital 
investment from 
partners. 
Cooperation 
from 
landowners and 
housing associations 

Identify the 
requirements for 
market housing in 
response to local 
need 
and demand 

Better understanding 

to inform future 

policies for housing 

and planning, 

including information 

on feasibility and 

viability 

2019/20 Staff resource 

 

Action Outcome Timescale Resources 

To re-provide a 
handyman / home 
maintenance 
service 

Help improve options 
and reduce the risk 
for older people 
remaining in their 
homes. 

2019/20 Staff resource 
Better Care 
Funding 
Cooperation and 
funding from other 
agencies 

To provide a home 
from hospital 
scheme 

Reduce delayed 
discharge from 
hospital / reduce 
need for hospital 
admission 

2019/20 Capital investment in 
adaptation / new 
build Revenue 
funding for housing 
related support costs 
Cooperation from 
other agencies 

Consult on creation 
of Older People’s 
Housing Officer 

Clarification on 
costs, benefits, 
savings and 
investment 
opportunities for 
business case 

2018/19 Staff resource 

Review and 
update DFG 
policy 

Best use of 
resources including 
housing options as 
well as 
Funding 
 
 
 

April 2019 Staff resource 

Page 131



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Fixing Our Broken Housing Market 

Update 
Strategic 
Housing 
Market 
Assessment 

Up to date 
evidence and 
understanding of 

housing need 

and demand 

By Dec 2019 TBC 

Maintain work 
with partners to 
identify 
infrastructure 
requirements 

Consistent 
information for 
partners on 
requirements and 
costs to inform 
viability and future 
opportunities for 
funding 

Ongoing Staff resource 

Engage with One 
Public Estate 
project 

Identify opportunities 
for development of 
public owned land 
that can help meet 
strategic requirements 

Review biannually – 

from 2019 

Staff resource 

Review feasibility of 
reducing threshold 
to gain financial 
contributions 

Potential to realise 
additional 
contributions to 
meet 

outstanding need 

for affordable 

housing. 

2019/20 Staff resource 

Page 132



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 

Action Outcome Timescale Resources 

Work with SELEP, 
Homes England and 
other partners to 
identify 
opportunities for 
training and use of 
local SMEs in future 
construction projects 

Improve 
opportunities for 
local people and 
businesses to 
benefit from future 
development of new 
homes 

Ongoing Staff resource 

Survey local 
employers to identify 
the extent to which 
housing is affecting 
their ability to recruit 
and retain 
staff 

Better understanding 
of the links between 
Housing and 
Economic 
Development 

2019/20 Staff resource 

Retain twice yearly 
review meetings 
with housing 
associations 
developing homes 
in 
the district. 

Maximise 
opportunities for joint 
working and 
investment in the 
supply of housing 

Ongoing Staff resource 

Consult with other 
LSVT LAs in Essex 
to find out more 
about options for 
investing in housing 
development 

Improved 
understanding of 
options for non-
stock holding 
Councils and 
possibility of 
pooling skills, 
capacity and 
other resources 

Ongoing Staff resource 

Continue to work 
with Private 
Landlords through 
the local forum 

Improve 
understanding 
between the 
Council and private 
landlords to 
encourage best 
practice 

Ongoing Staff resource 

Direct focus on 
empty homes to 
those at greatest 
risk of nuisance, 
abandonment and 
complaints 

Best use of 
resources to meet 
statutory 
responsibilities. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ongoing Capital grants from 
regional 
government Staff 
resource 

Page 133



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Managing Supply 

Adopt a standard 
proprietary system 
for use by applicants 
when assessing 
financial viability of 
new 
developments 

Consistency in 
assessing viability 
and presenting 
summaries to others 

2019/20 License fee 
(recoverable 
through charges) 

Enable development 

of 
100 intermediate 

Better supply and 
choice of homes that 

By 2025 Cooperation of 
partners 

Page 134



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 

Action Outcome Timescale Resources 

homes to meet 
need and demand 
from existing 
tenants in social 
housing 

meet local need, 
financially 
effective way of 
increasing supply 
of rented 
homes. 

  

Explore potential 
to encourage a 
better supply of 
smaller 
homes for private rent 

More sustainable 
and settled housing 
supply to meet local 
need 

2020/21 Staff resource 

Explore potential of 
relaunching Moat 
Homes Community 
Development 
Initiative 

Increased supply 
of homes to meet 
need and better 
use of existing 
land and 
property 

2018/19 Staff 
resource 
Cooperation 
of partners 

Review the Council’s 

Tenancy Strategy 

and Allocations 

Policy 

Best use through 
policy of existing 
supply of 
social housing 

2019/20 Staff 
resource 
Cooperation 
of 
partners 

Work with partners 
to provide a 
framework for 
delivering 
Community Led 
Housing projects 

Reduction in delay 
and increase in 
resources to enable 
development of 
homes to meet need 
from local community 
groups 

Ongoing Staff 
resource 
Cooperation 
of partners 
CLH / MHCLG grant 

Annual seminar / 
event for Community 
Led Housing 

Maintain 
awareness and 
development of 
CLH for local 
community and 
partners 

Ongoing Staff 
resource 
Cooperation 
of partners 

CLH / MHCLG grant 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 135



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Our wider aims - Homelessness 

Encourage people to help themselves: the Homelessness Reduction Act encourages people 
to work with local housing authorities to prevent homelessness, we would be interested ways 
that can help people take more control over their circumstances, giving them more choice, for 
example help finding work, finding alternative accommodation or managing their finances. 

 

Support for vulnerable groups: some people face additional challenges which need to be 
taken into account when trying to solve their housing problems, often help as floating support or 
referring to other agencies can make the difference between success or failure in preventing 
homelessness or managing to live independently. Particular groups who may be in need of 
more support than we can offer as a local housing authority include domestic abuse, mental 
health, young people, and ex-forces. 

 

Housing for single people: there is a lack of smaller, affordable accommodation in the 
district, especially for those on lower incomes who may not have had a tenancy before. 
Lodgings, shared-housing and house-shares can be a helpful option but is not something that 
either the Council or its current partners provide. 

 

Older People 

Practical help: we know that some people are interested in moving but delay or even postpone 
plans because they have no one to help them with the practical problems of moving. Services 
which could help may also be able to work with partners to provide other assistance as well, 
such as routine maintenance and general help and advice. 

 

Options for home owners: a number of older people who own their home may want to move, 
have the capital that would meet the cost of another home, but need to be able to sell and 
complete transaction for their home in order to move on to the next. This seems to be an area 
where rent-to-buy could work well, allowing people to move first and pay later. This would sit 
outside of the conventional scope of affordable housing but it would provide a number of 
benefits. 

 

Stronger strategic links between health, housing and social care: there are plenty of 
overlaps between these services and examples of good practice in joint working in some other 
parts of the country. This is more complicated in two-tier authority areas such as Essex but we 
would like to improve the planning and delivery of services where we share common issues to 
improve the outcomes for customers and make better use of resources. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 136



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Fixing Our Broken Housing Market 

Home-ownership for local people: we welcome the government’s commitment to help people 
own their own homes but we would like to understand ways in which we can achieve this in 
ways that give priority for local people. 

 

Modern Methods of Construction: we understand that this could be a way of helping to 
reduce delays in delivering new homes and diversify ways in which new homes could be 
provided. It could also help local people acquire new skills, suited to the possible longer-term 
future of construction and would want to help build links between this new approach to 
construction and the changing role of SMEs who could be involved. 

 

Social Lettings Agencies: this exist in some parts of the country, providing an alternative 
option for landlords and possibly an option for other property owner such as smaller housing 
associations, to help with the management of their homes. Social Lettings Agencies often 
operate on a not-for-profit basis and can therefore consider helping to provide tenancies for 
people on lower incomes who may not otherwise be able to access the private rented sector. 

 

Release brownfield sites: this may not be a large area bit some sites are in prominent 
locations and require infrastructure or other investment to make them viable. If these sites 
could be 
‘unlocked’ for redevelopment they may be able repay the cost of remediation whereas it is not 
viable to meet this cost up front. We would therefore like to consider with other partners ways of 
funding and investing in the longer-term potential of sites which currently may be blighted. 

 

Housing Associations: this sector has wide experience of innovation in the development of 
homes and supporting local communities, we would like to understand the potential from those 
interested in developing in the District ways that we could support them to work with us and our 
partners to diversify the supply of housing and choice in the future. 

 

Managing Supply 

Investment in housing: the Council has to become more commercial and follow the lead of 
others investing in services such as housing. There are a number of options and different levels 
of risk which we need to understand, and different partners we may need to involve. 

Page 137



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Appendix – Housing Data 
 

House Values (England and Wales) 2017 

 

Page 138



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Office for National Statistics 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/housepricestatisticsforsmallareas/
ye arendingseptember2017 

 
 

Entry / Average Private Rent Costs pcm (district-wide) 

Rent May 2013 May 2018 % Change in 
cost 
entry/average Entry Average Entry Average 

1 bed flat 445 491 600 648 34 / 32 

2 bed flat 590 670 670 804 14 / 20 

2 bed terrace 650 698 850 898 31 / 29 

3 bed terrace 750 856 995 997 33 / 18 

2 bed semi 725 789 945 955 30 / 20 

3 bed semi 750 783 1000 1205 33 / 55 

Source: DCA / Rightmove 
 

 
Entry House Prices (district-wide) 

 

Sale Entry (May 2013) Entry (May 2018) Change in value 

1 bed flat 95,000 130,000 37% 

2 bed flat 130,000 190,000 45% 

2 bed terrace 157,000 220,000 40% 

3 bed terrace 179,000 225,000 26% 

2 bed semi 167,500 232,000 38% 

3 bed semi 185,000 255,000 38% 

Source: DCA / Rightmove 

Page 139

http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/housepricestatisticsforsmallareas/ye
http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/housepricestatisticsforsmallareas/ye
http://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/housing/bulletins/housepricestatisticsforsmallareas/ye


APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

 

Homelessness (2017/18) 

 
Housing Enquiries: 502 (not including repeat visits from same applicant) 

 
Homeless Preventions 82 achieved from the 502 above 

 
Per 1,000 household 3.46 (Essex average = 4.5 per 1,000 hh) 

 
Homeless approaches 34 of 502 above 

 
Homeless acceptances 30 (0.93 per 1,000 hh, Essex average = 2.42) 

Number placed into temp. acc. 32 

Essex average 164 

Number placed into B&B 14 
 

Trends in homelessness 2008-17 
Year: 08-

09 
09-
10 

10-
11 

11-
12 

12-
13 

13-
14 

14-
15 

15-
16 

16-
17 

Accepted 
as 
homeless 

40 37 28 19 18 19 24 31 25 

Placed into Temp 
Accom 

24 15 13 13 8 11 13 15 15 

Prevention Nd 239 510 407 381 557 263 120 87 
Relief Nd 50 108 40 28 63 32 17 6 

 

 

 
Housing Allocations 

Housing Associations Allocating Housing in the District (2017/18) 

 

Housing Association Number of Homes Allocated 

CHP 13 

Colne 11 

English Rural 5 

London & Quadrant 1 

Moat 46 

Salvation Army 1 

Sanctuary 3 

South Anglia 1 

Total 81 

 

Offered to prevent homelessness = 2 

Offered to as accepted as homeless 

= 17 Eligible for sheltered (55+) = 25 

Page 140



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Previous Tenure For Those Housed 

 

Social Housing (in area) 8 

Social Housing (out of area) 4 

Temporary accommodation 14 

Friends / Family 28 

Lodger 1 

No Fixed Abode 1 

Owner Occupier 1 

Other 1 

Private Rent 19 

Supported Housing 3 

Tied Accommodation 1 

Total 81 

 

Band 

(Priority) 

Band A = 2 

Band B = 39 

Band C = 26 

Band D = 1 

Band E = 10 

Band F = 3 

Effective Date (length of time within band) 

2017 = 47 

2016 = 24 

2015 = 7 

2014 = 3 

Note: this does not necessarily mean time registered 

Development of new homes 

New-build: Affordable Housing Start on Site 
 

Tenure  Yea
r 

2015/1
6 

2016/1
7 

2017/1
8 

2018/19* 

Rented 27 8 40 143 

Intermediate 12 4 18 80 

Total 39 12 58 223 

*Currently under construction (May 2018) 

Page 141



APPENDIX 1 

 

 

 

Current Sites Under Construction Open market / Affordable / % Affordable 

Mathew Homes - 
Burnham 

75 23  

Persimmon - Burnham 180 72  

Persimmon - 
Heybridge 

145 58  

Bellway - Heybridge 84 25  

Linden - Maldon 108 32  

SJ Warren - 
Latchingdon 

44 13  

Total    

 

Page 142



Document is Restricted

Page 143

Agenda Item 15
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 147

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 167

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Last meeting
	Minutes

	6 Treasury Outturn 2021 / 22
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	7 Budgetary Control 2022 / 23
	8 Fees and Charges Policy 2023 - 24
	Appendix A

	9 Supplementary Estimates, Virements, Procurement Exemptions and Use of Reserves
	10 Discretionary Council Tax Rebate Scheme
	Appendix 1

	11 Street Naming and Numbering Policy
	Appendix A

	12 Maldon District Council Homelessness and Housing Strategy Extension
	MDC Homelessness & Housing Strategy Extension - Appendix 1

	15 Community Led Housing in Maldon
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2




Accessibility Report



		Filename: 

		Maldon Council Tax Rebate Discretionary Scheme.pdf






		Report created by: 

		ACS (c), ACS Consultancy , admin@acssupport.co.uk


		Organization: 

		ACS (c) 2022





 [Personal and organization information from the Preferences > Identity dialog.]


Summary


The checker found no problems in this document.



		Needs manual check: 0


		Passed manually: 2


		Failed manually: 0


		Skipped: 0


		Passed: 30


		Failed: 0





Detailed Report



		Document




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Accessibility permission flag		Passed		Accessibility permission flag must be set


		Image-only PDF		Passed		Document is not image-only PDF


		Tagged PDF		Passed		Document is tagged PDF


		Logical Reading Order		Passed manually		Document structure provides a logical reading order


		Primary language		Passed		Text language is specified


		Title		Passed		Document title is showing in title bar


		Bookmarks		Passed		Bookmarks are present in large documents


		Color contrast		Passed manually		Document has appropriate color contrast


		Page Content




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged content		Passed		All page content is tagged


		Tagged annotations		Passed		All annotations are tagged


		Tab order		Passed		Tab order is consistent with structure order


		Character encoding		Passed		Reliable character encoding is provided


		Tagged multimedia		Passed		All multimedia objects are tagged


		Screen flicker		Passed		Page will not cause screen flicker


		Scripts		Passed		No inaccessible scripts


		Timed responses		Passed		Page does not require timed responses


		Navigation links		Passed		Navigation links are not repetitive


		Forms




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Tagged form fields		Passed		All form fields are tagged


		Field descriptions		Passed		All form fields have description


		Alternate Text




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Figures alternate text		Passed		Figures require alternate text


		Nested alternate text		Passed		Alternate text that will never be read


		Associated with content		Passed		Alternate text must be associated with some content


		Hides annotation		Passed		Alternate text should not hide annotation


		Other elements alternate text		Passed		Other elements that require alternate text


		Tables




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Rows		Passed		TR must be a child of Table, THead, TBody, or TFoot


		TH and TD		Passed		TH and TD must be children of TR


		Headers		Passed		Tables should have headers


		Regularity		Passed		Tables must contain the same number of columns in each row and rows in each column


		Summary		Passed		Tables must have a summary


		Lists




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		List items		Passed		LI must be a child of L


		Lbl and LBody		Passed		Lbl and LBody must be children of LI


		Headings




		Rule Name		Status		Description


		Appropriate nesting		Passed		Appropriate nesting







Back to Top


